Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Corporate Governance Committee
Friday, 28 January 2022 at 10.00 am
Sparkenhoe Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Mrs L Walton (tel: 0116 305 2583)
lauren.walton@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. T. Barkley CC (Chairman)
Mr. N. D. Bannister CC Mr. J. G. Coxon CC
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC Mr. T. J. Richardson CC

AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 5 November
2021.

(Pages 3 - 10)

2.

Minutes of the meeting held on 3 December
2021.

(Pages 11 - 14)

3.

Question Time.

4.

Questions asked by members under Standing
Order 7(3) and 7(5).

5.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

6.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

7.

Presentation of Petitions under Standing Order
35.

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leicestershire.gov.uk

8.

Resilience and Business Continuity Update.

Chief Executive

(Pages 15 - 20)

There will also be a presentation for this item.
9.

Auditor's Annual Report 2020/21.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 21 - 62)

10.

External Audit - Progress Report and Sector
Update.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 63 - 90)

11.

Risk Management Update.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 91 150)

12.

Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000
and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016.

Director of Law
and Governance

(Pages 151 158)

13.

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and
Annual Investment Strategy 2022/23.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 159 186)

14.

Quarterly Treasury Management Report.

Director of
Corporate
Resources

(Pages 187 196)

15.

Date of next meeting.
The next meeting is scheduled to take place on Friday 13th May at
10.00am.

16.

Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

3

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee held at County Hall,
Glenfield on Friday, 5 November 2021.
PRESENT
Mr. T. Barkley CC (in the Chair)
Mr. D. C. Bill MBE CC
Mr. G. A. Boulter CC
Mr. J. G. Coxon CC

32.

Mr. K. Merrie MBE CC
Mrs. R. Page CC

Minutes.
The minutes of the meeting held on 23 July 2021 were taken as read, confirmed and
signed.

33.

Question Time.
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
34.

34.

Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
7(3) and 7(5).

35.

Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.

36.

Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No declarations were made.

37.

Appointment of External Auditor.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which
summarised the arrangements for appointing an External Auditor for Leicestershire
County Council and the Leicestershire County Council Local Government Pension
Scheme. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 6’, is filed with these minutes.
In introducing the report, the Director reminded Members that the Council had agreed a
more realistic timeline with Grant Thornton UK LLP, the County Council’s current
auditors, for the audit to be completed. This was to take into account the increased level
of work required due to changes made to national regulations and the Council replacing
its accountancy software. Members noted that as the adjusted timeline would go beyond

4
the statutory publication deadline of 30 September 2021, the Council was required to
publish a notice of the delay on its website. It was confirmed that the notice was already
in place and would remain so until the audit had fully concluded.
The Director advised that unfortunately it was not possible to report the full outcomes of
the external audit of the statement of accounts 2020/21 for the County Council and its
pension fund at this meeting as originally intended as the audit being undertaken by
Grant Thornton UK LLP was still underway. Members noted that, so far, there were no
significant issues to report and that officers would look to arrange an extraordinary
meeting in due course for the Committee to separately consider this item once the audit
had concluded.
Arising from discussion about Option 3 set out in the report (to opt-in to the sector led
body national scheme for local auditor appointments) the following points were noted:
(i) The duration of the potential procurement contract with the auditor provider that
would eventually be appointed would likely follow the same pattern as the previous
procurement i.e. a five-year period. In response to a question it was confirmed that
there would be an option to terminate early (at the agreement of both parties).
Members confirmed their support for this approach.
(ii) Following consideration of the options set out in the report, the Committee
confirmed its support for Option 3. The Director confirmed that the Committee
would be kept informed of the progress with appointing an External Auditor for the
County Council and, subject to the full County Council approving Option 3 at its
meeting on 1st December 2021, be notified of the outcome of the procurement in
accordance with the procurement framework regulations.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the proposed options for the Local Appointment of External Auditors be
noted.
(b) That the County Council be recommended to approve Option 3 (to opt-in to the
sector led body national scheme for local auditor appointments) set out in the
report.
38.

Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman Annual Review 2020/21 and Update on
Complaints and Freedom of Information Requests.
The Committee considered a joint report of the Chief Executive and the Director of
Corporate Resources regarding the outcome of the Local Government and Social Care
Ombudsman (LGO) Annual Review for the Authority for 2020/21 and which also provided
an update on the handling of complaints, Freedom of Information (FOI) requests and
Environmental Information Regulations. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 7’, is
filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points arose:
(i) Members were reminded of the great lengths the Council would go to in dealing
with FOI requests against the permissible time period to deal with them. Often
much work was undertaken in order for meaningful responses to be formulated
which could have an impact on response times. For example, advice from Legal

5
Services’ necessitating records kept offsite to be brought in to enable investigatory
work to be carried out.
(ii) In terms of the actions being taken to reduce the number of complaints the Council
received, it was confirmed that whilst the information considered by this
Committee was high level, the Council’s Scrutiny Commission and a number of its
sub-committees considered more detailed reports around specific complaint areas.
Additionally, the Council’s Corporate Complaints and Information Services
Manager worked closely with the relevant departments and Senior Leaders around
emerging themes in order for action plans to be developed and any necessary
improvements to be made. Although not relevant to complaints relating to a oneoff error, effort was also made by the Corporate Complaints Team to track the
responses made by departments to complaints to ensure good progress was
being made and that lessons were being learnt. Members noted that where
complaints relating to a policy decision were concerned, it was sometimes
necessary to consider whether the issue related to how policy or staff guidance
was being applied.
(iii) A member expressed concern about the complaint marked as Case 9 in the
report, that a care provider contracted by the Council to deliver home care had
failed to deliver consistent and timely care. In response to the comments raised,
the Director confirmed that the Adults and Communities Department had a specific
team in place that worked with and monitored care providers around compliance
and care quality. Assurance was also provided that a number of actions had been
taken in response to this complaint including monitoring measures being increased
around the care provider in question’s general performance and due diligence
checks being carried out in respect to other cases receiving care from the same
provider.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the Local Government and Social Care Ombudsman annual review letter for
the County Council for 2020/21 be noted;
(b) That the update on improvements to the County Council’s Complaints procedures
and handling of the Freedom of Information Action and Environmental Information
Regulations be noted.
39.

Revised Members' Code of Conduct and Protocol on Member/Officer Relations.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Law and Governance, the purpose
of which was to present a revised Members’ Code of Conduct and Protocol on
Member/Officer Relations prior to these being submitted to full Council on 1st December
2021 for approval. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 8’, is filed with these
minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:
(i) In other parts of the country a number of significant member conduct related
issues had arisen in relation to parish councils. Many of these were a result of
frustration felt by Parish Councillors in relation to the processes involved in local
decision making. Whilst there were not as many issues in Leicestershire some
standards issues had arisen in relation to local parish councils. The Director

6
confirmed that in terms of the Local Code the District Councils had the
responsibility of providing support and encouragement to parish councils on
conduct related issues. However, members were also reminded that it was
incumbent on all of those working in local government to encourage good practice
across all levels of local government.
(ii) The Committee welcomed the revised Member Code of Conduct and Protocol on
Member/Officer Relations set out in appendices A and B to the report. However,
some members commented that they felt the powers the Council had to deal with
members that failed to comply with the Code were limited and that greater
sanctions needed putting in place. Though it was recognised these would only
come as a result of the National Government bringing in the appropriate primary
legislation. The Director advised that despite the ongoing requests being made to
the National Government there was still no sign of the aforementioned primary
legislation being brought forward. It was confirmed, however, that the Local Code
had been revised to reflect the overall concerns and feedback shared by members
and officers which it was hoped provided a level of assurance. The Director added
that standards issues becoming publicised was a form of sanction as there was
potential for the member the issue related to and their political parties’ reputation
being negatively affected.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the County Council be recommended to approve the adoption of the revised
Code of Conduct for Members as set out in Appendix A to the report.
(b) That the County Council be recommended to approve the adoption of the revised
Protocol on Member/Officer Relations as set out in Appendix B to the report.
40.

Risk Management Update.
The Committee considered a joint report of the Director of Corporate Resources which
was to provide an overview of key risk areas and the measures being taken to address
them and updates on emerging risks and issues, insurance renewals and Counter Fraud
Initiatives. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 9’, is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points arose:
(i) Regarding the potential risks of care provider failure if local care home workers
refused to get fully vaccinated against Covid-19, assurance was provided that the
immediate risk of there being insufficient capacity due to the national regulations
coming into force on 11 November 2021, was low. Members also noted that
although recruitment and retention of the workforce continued to be an issue for
the overall care market there was currently no evidence to suggest that the local
social care market would be severely impacted by the enforcement of these
regulations. A great deal of work had been undertaken by the Adults and
Communities Department to encourage the relevant workers to get vaccinated and
the Department had also been supporting local care providers to put in place any
necessary mitigations. In response to comments raised by a member, officers
undertook to provide Committee members with further information to confirm the
local situation in respect of vaccination uptake outside of the meeting.

7
(ii) An outcome of National Fraud Initiative investigations carried out for Leicestershire
for the year 2020/21 was the identification of four cases where pensions were
continuing to be paid to deceased persons, the payments of which had been
immediately suspended. It was confirmed that the outcome of the further
investigation work being carried out by the Council’s Pensions Service would be
reported to a future meeting.
(iii) It was clarified that in terms of how the risk scores in the Corporate Risk Register
(CRR) were arrived at, all Council departments were required to follow the risk
scoring matrix set out in the Risk Management Policy Framework, which was due
to be updated and presented to the Committee at its meeting in January 2022. It
was confirmed that if a Department’s assessment of a risk reached a score of 15
or above, the risk would be debated to determine if it should be added to the CRR.
In response to comments raised by a member, it was agreed that a reminder of
the risk scoring matrix details would be useful to include in the Committee’s next
Risk Management Update.
(iv) Regarding the risk of capital schemes such as HS2 not being progressed as
expected, the Director confirmed that although HS2 had featured in an earlier
report to the Committee as an emerging risk, currently the risk was not considered
to be high enough to go through the full risk management process; the risk around
Freeport designation not being achieved had been identified and recorded on the
CRR (risk 1.11); and in respect to road and rail improvements a separate risk
around local infrastructure (risk 1.12) now featured on the CRR.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the current status of the strategic risks facing the County Council be
approved;
(b) That the outcomes of the further investigatory work being undertaken by the
Council’s Pension Service into four cases where pensions had continued to be
paid to deceased persons be reported to a future meeting;
(c) That further details to confirm the local situation in respect of Covid-19 vaccination
uptake for care workers be provided to Committee members outside of the
meeting;
(d) That the Director be requested to include in the next Risk Management Update
Report to the Committee, further details on how risk scores within the Council’s
Corporate Risk Register are calculated;
(e) That the updates regarding emerging risks and issues, insurance renewals and
Counter Fraud Initiatives be noted.
41.

Clinical Governance Annual Report.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Public Health which provided an
update on the process of assuring clinical governance and key issues dealt with as part
of the County Council’s clinical governance monitoring arrangements, roles, and
responsibilities since November 2019. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’, is
filed with these minutes.

8
Arising from discussion, the following points arose:
(i) The Director provided assurance that the substantial level of details on Serious
Incidents (SIs) in the report was not a sign of poor-quality services but rather a
reflection of the nature of the cohort of service users and the serious alcohol and
drug related issues the SIs related to.
(ii) All specific processes and treatments detailed in the report such as the patient
group direction (PGD) for Levonorgestrel (emergency contraception) had been
identified to provide the Council’s Public Health Department with assurance that
the processes being followed by the relevant service were in line with best clinical
governance practice.
(iii) In response to comments raised by a member relating to past care home closures
where the Care Quality Commission (CQC) had visited and made prior
recommendations, the Director clarified that the Clinical Governance Annual
Report only made reference to the CQC in relation to its activities with the
Council’s Public health commissioned clinical services . It was suggested that
there was a specific team in the Adults and Communities Department that worked
with care service providers on quality compliance and that the matter being raised
would be best directed to that particular team or to the Director of Adults and
Communities.
RESOLVED:
That the Clinical Governance Annual Report be noted.
42.

Internal Audit Plan and Progress Report.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which
provided a list of planned work for the six months to the end of March 2022, summarised
the work conducted during the period 19 June to 22 October 2021, highlighted audits
where high importance recommendations had been made and provided information on
projects that the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) was
undertaking that related to internal audit and audit committees. A copy of the report
marked ‘Agenda Item 11’, is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion, the following points arose:
(i) Members were pleased to note that sufficient action had now been taken to close
off the high importance recommendations relating to Direct Payments. Members
further noted that the outcomes of the work the Council’s Internal Audit Service
(IAS) was planning to carry out to test the refreshed processes relating to Direct
Payment annual reviews would be reported to a future meeting.
(ii) Concern was raised that a ‘request to move’ a previously requested audit around
climate change and carbon emissions had been received from the Environment
and Transport Department. Assurance was provided that this area of audit was a
priority to move forward and the request from the Department had been deemed
as sensible, as some of the necessary governance arrangements for certain
aspects needed to be progressed by the Council’s Chief Executive’s Department.
It was anticipated that the Committee would be kept informed of future
developments in line with its responsibilities.

9

(iii) Some disappointment was expressed that two experienced auditors had left the
Council’s IAS over the summer period. Members noted that the audit market could
be particularly difficult in terms of recruiting experienced people and a previous
attempt to recruit had unfortunately attracted a low number of unsuitable
applicants. A further advert was currently live and due to close in the next few
weeks. It was hoped that the recruitment process would be a success this time
around to enable staffing levels to return to normal in the next few months.
RESOLVED:
That the contents of the Internal Audit Plan and Progress Report be noted.
43.

Quarterly Treasury Management Report.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources, the purpose
of which was to update the Committee on the actions taken in respect of treasury
management for the quarter ending 30 September 2021. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 12’, is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That the actions taken in respect of treasury management for the quarter ending 30
September 2021 be noted.

44.

Dates of Future Meetings.
RESOLVED:
That the meeting dates proposed below for 2022 be noted:
•
•
•
•

Friday 28th January at 10.00am
Friday 13th May at 10.00am
Friday 23rd September at 2.00pm
Monday 21st November at 10.00am

10.00 – 11.38am
5 November 2021

CHAIRMAN

This page is intentionally left blank

11

Agenda Item 2

Minutes of a meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee held at County Hall,
Glenfield on Friday, 3 December 2021.
PRESENT
Mr. T. Barkley CC (in the Chair)
Mr. N. D. Bannister CC
Mr. J. G. Coxon CC

45.

Mr. J. T. Orson JP CC
Mr T. Parton CC

Question Time.
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
34.

46.

Questions asked by members under Standing Order 7(3) and 7(5).
The Chief Executive reported that no questions had been received under Standing Order
7(3) and 7(5).

47.

Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.

48.

Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
No declarations were made.

49.

External Audit of the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and
Pension Fund Accounts.
The Committee considered a report of the Director of Corporate Resources which set out
the key findings from the external audit of the 2020/21 financial statements and sought
approval of the draft letters of representation to Grant Thornton UK LLP, the County
Council’s external auditors. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 5’, is filed with
these minutes.
The Chairman welcomed Barrie Morris, Auditor Director, and Andy Reid, Senior Manager
(Audit) of Grant Thornton UK LLP, the County Council’s external auditors, to the meeting.
In presenting Grant Thornton UK LLP’s audit findings, Barrie Morris and Andy Reid
further reported that:

12
(i) Some final testing was still required in order to conclude the audit. However, no
significant issues were expected to arise from this work and it was therefore
anticipated that the Council would receive an ‘unqualified’ audit opinion overall.
(ii) Conducting the audit had been particularly challenging this year due to the impacts
of Covid-19 on normal working practices, the introduction of the Council’s new
accounting system, and the increased level of audit testing required by national
auditing standards. Increased requirements on External Auditors from the National
Audit Office (NAO), also meant a new approach to examining journals had been
required to be introduced and the undertaking of a technical ‘hot review’ of the
Council’s accounts to ensure they were fully compliant with the NAO Code of Audit
Practice.
(iii) The audit of the accounts required two adjustments to be made. Details of these
had been included in the final financial statements, as follows:
a. Additional information had been included in ‘Note 2’ (the presentation of the
expenditure and funding analysis), to show how this reconciled back to the MTFS
outturn position previously reported to the Cabinet to ensure consistency.
b. Amendments were required to ‘Note 20’ (financial instruments note) for the year
2019/20 and 2020/21. It was confirmed that Grant Thornton was satisfied that the
restated figures were now correct.
The Director advised the Committee that as the issue outlined in (b) above had warranted
a ‘prior period adjustment’ to be made, it had been necessary for the Council to include
an additional representation in its letter to Grant Thornton which was attached (Appendix
B to the report) as follows:
‘xiv. The prior period adjustments disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements are
accurate and complete. There are no other prior period errors to bring to your attention.’
(iv) Due to the challenges outlined above, the work to enable a VfM opinion to be made
had been delayed (now expected by the end of January). This had been
recognised by the NAO.
(v) In line with the Audit Plan the level of materiality in respect to the County Council’s
accounts had reduced slightly since 2019/20. This reflected the impact of the
implementation of the new Oracle Fusion general ledger and enhanced risk arising
from that. Whilst one significant control deficiency relating to the segregation of
access in the new Oracle Fusion Finance System had been identified as part of the
audit, Grant Thornton had been satisfied overall that the transition to the new
system had been a well-controlled process with no adverse impacts on the
accounts.
(vi) Some ‘must do’ requirements as set out in the new CIPFA guidance for local
government pension scheme funds to prepare their annual report had been
identified as not being included in the 2020/21 Pension Fund Annual Report
(PFAR). Whilst the missing disclosures did not impact on Grant Thornton’s opinion
of the PFAR, it was necessary to bring them to the attention of this Committee and
the Local Pension Committee and recommend that the appropriate action be taken
going forward.
(vii) The Director provided assurance that the appropriate action was being taken in
respect to all four recommendations for improvements made by the auditor and that

13
the matter relating to the PFAR had been reported to the Local Pension Committee
on 26th November 2021.
(viii) There had been no changes to Grant Thornton’s risk assessment as reported in
the External Audit Plan for 2020/21 that the Committee had previously considered.
With regard to the risk identified around ‘Improper Revenue Recognition’, it was
confirmed that the detailed testing of a sample of grants (underway at the time of
reporting), to provide assurance that the significant levels of Covid related funding
received in 2020/21 had been accounted for and spent correctly, had now been
completed with no issues identified.
(ix) Work relating to risks around the valuation of land and buildings, (ongoing at the
time the report was issued) had now been substantially completed with no issues to
report.
(x) Barrie Morris and Andy Reid specifically thanked the Council’s Finance Team for all
the support they had given to Grant Thornton; officers had responded exceptionally
well and promptly to the queries made. The Director also thanked officers and staff
at Grant Thornton whom it was acknowledged had worked closely together to
deliver the audit.
Arising from discussion and questions to the external auditors the following points arose:
(i) Members noted that the National Government’s Department for Levelling Up,
Housing and Communities had recently launched a consultation regarding proposed
changes to the regulations around how local authorities calculate Minimum
Revenue Provision (MRP). Under the current regulations’ authorities were required
to put aside money each year, which was referred to as MRP, from their revenue
account to enable them to afford to repay principal debt where they had borrowed to
finance capital spend. However, a number of local authorities had been calculating
their MRP incorrectly either by not applying this to the relevant assets or loans
repaid to third parties, or by applying receipts to MRP when this had not been
necessary. A key risk that had been highlighted to the County Council as part of the
audit was that if an authority was consistently undercharging for investment
properties, the matter could become a material issue over time.
(ii) It was highlighted that although there were currently no concerns with the County
Council’s management of MRP, due to increased attention on this nationally and in
the interests of prudence, Grant Thornton had undertaken some checks in this area
as part its audit. The Council had changed the basis of calculation of its MRP in
2019/20 and the audit work confirmed that the Council’s estimated level of provision
was reasonable and in line with statutory guidance.
(iii) In response to a question regarding how MRP would be calculated if an asset
purchased using a third party loan was subsequently revalued to a lesser amount, it
was confirmed that if, for example, the Council had purchased an asset for £100m
which was subsequently revalued at £80m, then the revalued amount would need to
be reflected throughout the accounts to show the impairment of the value of the
asset. However, the Council would still be required to repay the full amount it had
borrowed (e.g. £100m) and could potentially use its MRP to make the repayments
over the term of the loan.

14
(iv) Acknowledging the challenges that had occurred throughout the auditing period, the
Committee noted the report and expressed its thanks to the auditors and to Council
officers for all the work that had been undertaken. The anticipated overall
‘unqualified’ audit opinion was welcomed.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the key findings from the external audit of the 2020/21 financial statements
carried out by Grant Thornton UK LLP be noted;
(b) That the letters of representation attached as Appendix B and C to this report be
approved subject to the addition of the following to Appendix B:
xiv. The prior period adjustments disclosed in Note 20 to the financial statements
are accurate and complete. There are no other prior period errors to bring to your
attention.
50.

Date of next meeting.
RESOLVED:
That the next meeting of the Corporate Governance Committee be held on Friday 28th
January 2022 at 10.00am.
10.00 – 10.36am
3 December 2021

CHAIRMAN

15

Agenda Item 8

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 28th JANUARY 2022
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE
RESILIENCE AND BUSINESS CONTINUITY UPDATE
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Corporate Governance Committee
with an annual update on the Council’s Resilience and Business Continuity
activities, work undertaken with other Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
local authorities, and wider multi-agency resilience activities.

Background
2.

As a “Category 1 Responder” as defined by the Civil Contingencies Act 2004
(the Act) Leicestershire County Council fulfils its obligations stipulated in the Act
through both membership of the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland
Resilience Partnership and Local Resilience Forum (LLR (Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland) Prepared) as well as its Business Continuity Policy
and structure.

3.

The Council’s Resilience Partnership team provides representation within the
Multi-Agency arena of the Local Resilience Forum (LRF) by a number of
professional Resilience Officers and the formulation of both incident response
and framework plans. This team also provides a 24-hour response capability
and the establishment of Emergency Centres and Humanitarian Assistance.

4.

The Council’s Incident Management Plan and Business Continuity Policy are
the strategic documents which describe the core principles by which the
Council maintains its ability to respond to internal and external Major Incidents
that impact on ‘business as usual’. On an annual basis, there is a requirement
to review, update and exercise these plans to ensure they are appropriate and
fit for purpose within the wider multi-agency framework.

Progress Summary
5.

The previous annual report was presented to this Committee in November
2020, and a summary of progress achieved on the Council’s Resilience and
Business Continuity activities since the previous annual report is set out below.

6. On-Call Arrangements
The On-Call Senior Manager (OCSM) rota was established in October 2017 to
act as the first point of contact for any incident that affects the Council.
Mandatory training sessions are held for all managers on the OCSM rota to
ensure that the OCSM role provides the ability to provide a consistent and

16

effective response at a senior level to incidents both in and out of working
hours.
7. Incident Management and Business Continuity Plans
To manage incidents and business continuity provision within the Council, three
plan structures operate at different levels to ensure resilience and business
continuity is fit for purpose:
(i)

Leicestershire County Council Incident Management Plan

Incident Management Plan: A single purpose plan for the structured response
to a major incident that lays out the Council’s response to both internal and
external incidents that impact to such a degree that normal day to day
operations are affected. As well as general guidance and identified roles and
responsibilities for departments and areas of the Council, itemised ‘Action
Cards’ give an aide-memoire of pre-agreed actions for key personnel in order to
facilitate a more strategically led process.
(ii)

Business Continuity Plans at Three Levels of Provision

Corporate Business Continuity Plan: A new Corporate Business Continuity
Plan is in development which takes direction from the Council’s Corporate
Business Continuity Strategy and, information collated from Departmental
Management Team (DMT) plans (see below), that will provide the Council’s
Corporate Management Team (CMT) with clear reference material on the
prioritised critical services and suppliers within the corporate structure. This
will then enable strategic oversight of business continuity, and enable CMT to
provide pre-determined, clear strategic guidance to Council staff in order to
assist in impact mitigation following an incident.
DMT Business Continuity Plans: New DMT Business Continuity Plans have
been developed which combine the information captured from the refreshed
team level plans to allow DMT managers to effectively assess risk and plan
contingency measures to ensure continuity of service during an incident that
impacts on business continuity. These plans are supervised by the Resilience
Planning Group (RPG). These have been updated to include learning from the
Covid-19 pandemic such as scenario planning based on staff shortages.
Team Business Continuity Plans: Operational Business Continuity Plans
have been completed for all critical services or services that are underpinned
by a critical supplier. These refreshed plans take into account new ways of
working and the experiences of the past 24 months. These plans source all
relevant information which has been collated to enable completion of the DMT
Business Continuity plan (see above). A shorter, less detailed plan is provided
for non-critical services and teams that have been assessed as not using a
critical supplier. Importantly, this approach allows for the identification of all
critical services and suppliers within the Council, to allow departments to
assess the impact on services during and following an incident. This enables a
more effective and robust examination of single points of failure and areas
where back-up processes need to be considered. These plans are supervised
at departmental level.

17

(iii) Flood and Severe Weather Planning
Flood and Severe Weather Plan: The Council’s Flood and Severe Weather
Plan has been constructed in partnership with the Council’s Highways
Operations Team, Croft Operations Room, the Environment Agency, Flood
Wardens, and the Resilience Partnership. This plan identifies flood specific
roles and responsibilities to provide structure and direction to the Council during
a flooding or severe weather event within the Leicestershire area. This plan
also sits within the wider LLR Prepared Flood Framework structure to clearly
define the support available to Districts affected by a flood or severe weather
event. The Flood Management Board has been re- established as one of the
lessons learnt from last series of severe weather incidents. The role of the
Board is to oversee multi-agency flood risk management across Leicestershire.
8.

Community Response Plans
The Community Response Plan scheme continues to encourage communities
across LLR in the production of plans that encourage and support the concept
of resilience and community. There are 55 completed community plans.

Training
9.

During this reporting period a continuous programme of training and
development has taken place including:
(a)

Emergency Rest Centre Volunteers – Ten training sessions were
hosted and organised, involving 52 participants. The Council continues
to maintain a healthy number of Emergency Rest Centre Volunteers
that are trained in the necessary skills to staff Emergency Rest Centres
established in the response to a major incident. Typically, volunteers
would be mobilised to run rest centres if residents were asked to leave
their homes due to severe weather, loss of utilities, or other major
incidents. These volunteers are trained to cover the relevant roles at
Emergency Rest Centres, Survivor Reception Centres, Friends and
Family Centres or Humanitarian Assistance Centres when a response
is needed to major incident.

(b)

Flood Warden Training – Two events were hosted and organised
adding a further 14 flood wardens to bring the current total to 111
across Leicestershire.

Covid Response and Recovery
10. Over this reporting period, the requirements of responding to the Covid 19
pandemic has dominated work and resources amongst the Council’s Resilience
and Business Continuity Team at both an LRF and local authority level.
Throughout the period, the Resilience and Business Continuity Team and the
wider Resilience Partnership have been in both ‘response’ and ‘recovery’
modes supporting the multi-agency working structure across all levels of
operational, tactical, and strategic working.
11. During the first half of the year the focus was on undertaking the considerable
work required to establish and maintain both Tactical (TCG) and Strategic

18

(SCG) Coordinating Groups and sub-cells required to inform and support
communities, with an emphasis on reaching more vulnerable groups. This
reporting period also saw a change in central government requirements on
reporting and monitoring routes with the LRF taking on a much greater role in
the coordination of the response and reporting to both regional and Central
Government offices.
12. During June and July the main focus and effort shifted to a more ‘recovery’
orientated approach and the establishment of the Recovery Coordinating Group
taking over from TCG/SCG, but due to the onset of the Omicron variant of
Covid taking hold nationally and locally, LLR Prepared was required to return to
a response footing and re-establish many of the previous structures. This
situation is ongoing, and at time of reporting, no de-escalation date has been
set.
Resilience Planning Group (RPG)
13. The RPG, chaired by the Assistant Chief Executive, has focussed almost
exclusively on managing the implications of Covid. The RPG has met 182 times
since 4th March 2020. The Group initiated workstreams to manage and
coordinate staffing issues, Personal Protective Equipment, critical sites,
communications, and critical services.
14. There were no incidents affecting the County Hall campus requiring action by
RPG.
LLR Prepared and Resilience Partnership Multi-Agency Working
15. As part of the Multi-Agency response to Major Incidents, the Council’s
Resilience Partnership team was involved in response to the following
incidents:
January:
o Localised flooding.
o Burst water pipe affecting 500 properties (Snarestone).
o Severe cold weather and snow.
February:
o Localised flooding.
May:
o
Community tensions
June:
o High rise fire and evacuation, Leicester City
o Second high-rise fire and evacuation, Leicester City.
o Gas leak and evacuation of 32 properties
o Fire and gas leak with evacuation of 18 properties
July:
o Hailstorm and flooding.
August:
o Suspect Improvised Explosive Device, Leicester City.
October:
o Flooding
November:

19

o Huncote Leisure Centre evacuation work.
o Hotel fire and evacuation of residents, Leicester City.
December:
o Avian Influenza outbreak (five confirmed cases).

Looking Forward - 2021/22
16. There is a number of significant national and local developments on the horizon
and early planning in anticipation of any implications is being considered.
These include:















Ongoing implementation of learning from the Kerslake Report on the
Manchester Arena attack, emerging learning from the Grenfell Inquiry and
learning from local incidents.
Ongoing response and recovery to the pandemic including supporting NHS
partners with vaccination rollout, public health messaging, and connecting
with communities.
Managing further “Avian Flu” outbreaks.
Planning for climate change and severe weather incidents.
Responding to the National Resilience Strategy Review (NRSR) which is
expected to report in Spring 2022
Review of the Civil Contingencies Act which will report back with the NRSR.
Review of National Security Risk Review.
Pilot funding of Local Resilience Forums.
Training provision – possibility of stronger or mandatory minimum
standards for those in primary response leadership roles, including local
authorities.
Business Continuity Supplier Assurance: Continue to review key and critical
supplier business continuity arrangements to ensure maximum resilience in
the provision of service.
Business Continuity training and exercising: to test and integrate new
Business Continuity structure throughout the Council at Operational,
Tactical and Strategic level. Emphasis on assisting DMT managers on the
implementation of the new Business Continuity structure and data
gathering from operational team plans in order to ensure production of
high-quality Business Continuity reporting to CMT and Strategic Business
Continuity planning.
Annual Refresher Training for all On Call Senior Managers.
Joint CMT and RPG major incident exercise to prove new Major Incident
Plan, Flood and Severe Weather Plan and Business Continuity Plans.

Resource Implications
17. The implementation of the Business Continuity Schedule of Work will continue
to be undertaken as part of ‘business as usual’, working with the Council’s RPG
and Business Continuity and Resilience Working Party.
Conclusion and Recommendations

20

18. Throughout 2021, the requirements of resourcing the response to the Covid-19
pandemic and recovery phases has impacted heavily on the Resilience and
Business Continuity Team, however, a continuing programme of work and
development has been undertaken to develop and establish a dynamic and
structured provision of resilience and business continuity across the Council.
Recommendations
19. The Committee is asked to note and comment on the issues raised in the
report.

Officer(s) to Contact
Zafar Saleem
Head of Communities, Policy & Resilience
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executives Office
Tel: 0116 305 4952
Email: zafar.saleem@leics.gov.uk
Andrew Murr
LLR Prepared and Resilience Partnership Manager
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executives Office
Tel: 0116 305 6105
Email: andrew.murr@leics.gov.uk
Mark Warden
Resilience and Business Continuity Manager
Strategy and Business Intelligence
Chief Executives Office
Tel: 0116 3056 145
Email: mark.warden@leics.gov.uk

21

Agenda Item 9

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 28 JANUARY 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
AUDITOR’S ANNUAL REPORT 2020/21

Purpose of Report
1.

To present a copy of Grant Thornton UK LLP’s (the County Council’s External
Auditor) Auditor’s Annual Report on the County Council for 2020/21 for consideration
and comment.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Committee noted and commented on the 2020/21 External Audit Plan and Risk
Assessment for the Council and its Pension Fund at its meeting on 4 June 2021.

3.

At its meeting on 3 December 2021, the Committee considered a report which set out
the key findings from the External Audit of the 2020/21 financial statements,
conducted by Grant Thornton, and presented draft letters of representation for
approval.

Background
4.

The Auditor’s Annual Report (AAR) (attached as an Appendix to this report) is a new
report that replaces the previous Annual Audit Letter and includes a more detailed
review of Value for Money (VfM) arrangements. This follows a revision to the Code of
Audit Practice by the National Audit Office in 2020, which was effective for audits
from the 2020/21 financial year.

5.

The External Auditor is required by the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to
satisfy itself that the Council has made proper arrangements for securing economy,
efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources. The Code of Audit Practice,
issued by the National Audit Office (NAO), requires the external auditor to report their
findings to the Council.

6.

The report also confirms the audit opinion on the Council’s financial statements.

7.

Officers have reviewed the report and their responses are included against the
recommendations made.

22

Auditor’s Annual Report
8.

The report covers four areas. These are financial sustainability; governance;
improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness; and the opinion on the financial
statements. It also reports on the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Executive Summary
9.

Overall, the auditor’s report is very positive with no significant weaknesses in the
arrangements identified. The auditor has concluded that the Council has a good
track record of sound financial management, understands and manages the financial
risks, has a clear and documented governance framework and a well-developed
performance management framework. In addition, the auditor has confirmed that they
issued an ‘unqualified’ opinion on the 2020/21 financial statements of the County
Council and its Pension Fund on 13 December 2021. This is in line with the report
considered by the Committee at its meeting on 3 December 2021.

Financial Sustainability
10. This section covers the financial outturn position for 2020/21, financial planning as
part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for the four years 2021-25 and
the delivery of MTFS savings. The review reported that the Council has: managed its
2020/21 outturn within the approved budget, understands the financial risks which it
faces and managed these risks by maintaining an appropriate level of reserves and
sound financial management, has a well-established Risk Management strategy and
has a robust development and monitoring of savings process in place.
11. Overall, the auditor reported that the Council has appropriate arrangements in place
to ensure it manages risks to its financial sustainability. However, one
recommendation for improvement was made.
12. Improvement recommendation 1: The Council should consider making a clear
distinction between statutory and discretionary spending in the budgetary information
provided to members and published online.
Management response: This can be difficult to complete accurately due to the range
and complexity of services provided and, in some cases, where the legislative
requirements are not completely prescriptive. However, the Council will look to
include an indicator as part of the compilation of the next MTFS, 2023-27.
Governance
13. The main sections covered regarding Governance include: arrangements around risk
management, internal audit and counter fraud, financial planning and monitoring
compliance with regulatory requirements and required standards of behaviour.
14. The report states that the Council’s Risk Management Strategy is a coherent and
structured methodology to identify, assess and manage risks and that it has an
embedded management strategy in place with evident elements of good practice,

23

such as clear engagement from members of the Corporate Governance Committee
(abbreviated to CGC in the AAR).
15. The report noted that the Council’s internal audit service (IAS) staff regularly attend
training and development events at both Midlands and national internal audit network
events. It further noted that IAS staff regularly provide further information on risks to
CGC members and the IAS and the Council’s directorates focus on the high-risk
recommendations identified as a result of the work of the IAS. The report also
mentions the extent of services provided by the IAS, including internal audit, counter
fraud, risk management and audit services to other bodies.
16. Regarding monitoring compliance with regulatory requirements and required
standards of behaviour, the auditor reported that ‘our review of the Council’s Internal
Audit reports, committee meeting minutes and discussions with staff did not identify
any significant governance issues or breaches of standards in 2020/21’.
17. Overall there were no significant weaknesses reported in the Council’s governance
arrangements for ensuring that it made informed decisions and properly managed its
risks. However, two recommendations for improvement were made:
18. Improvement recommendation 2: Follow up all Internal Audit recommendations,
including lower priority recommendations, through the use of the recommendation
tracker.
Management response: Agreed that the IAS case management system
recommendation tracker will be developed and implemented for 2022/23 audits.
19. Improvement recommendation 3: Review the level of resource dedicated to Internal
Audit to ensure that sufficient capacity is available to deliver all areas of
responsibility.
Management response: The auditor’s review occurred before a decision was finalised
to withdraw from academies provision which will return more resource to the Internal
Audit service. Additionally, approval was given for replacements to vacant posts and
a new apprentice post. The service has used (and will continue to use) agency and
other resource and retains a small ‘specialist’s’ budget some of which was used to
commission specific procurement fraud training across the Council. Nevertheless,
overall resource, working practices and relative pressures are under constant review.
The recommendation specifically mentioned Counter Fraud, which is recognised as a
key area to be mindful of.
Improving Economy, Efficiency and Effectiveness
20. This section covers performance measurement, partnership working, procurement
and contract management, and pension fund arrangements.
21. The report noted the Council’s Annual Delivery Report and Annual Performance
Compendium, and also the quarterly themed dashboards added to the Council’s
website which enabled the auditors to confirm that performance and progress
remains transparent to the Cabinet and local residents and businesses. It also
recognised that performance reporting was an area that the Council excels at. No

24

issues were reported in respect of performance measurement, partnership working
and pension fund arrangements.
22. A total of five recommendations were raised in relation to Procurement and Contract
Management.
23. Improvement recommendation 4: Consider whether the Template Business Cases
are aligned with best practice Treasury Better Business Case templates and are
supported by a prescribed corporate approach for risk and reward analysis.
Management response: The Procurement approach is a consideration of the current
business case, but we will go back to the Treasury Business Case Template and
review as recommended.
24. Improvement recommendation 5: Consider introducing the triage approach operated
by the Commissioning Support Unit (CSU) for Property Contract Awards to other
departments.
Management response: Agree that the introduction of a triage approach has been
successful within property contracts and consideration is being given to other areas
of the organisation that would benefit from this approach such as contracts that are
high value, high risk or business critical.
25. Improvement recommendation 6: Embed a corporate approach to procurement and
contract management within each department structure.
Management response: There is already a corporate approach to procurement and
contract management, further work is being completed to refresh and re-promote
guidance and updated documentation in the form of a Procurement Strategy and
Toolkit.
26. Improvement recommendation 7: Provide annual refresher training for all staff
charged with management and monitoring of contracts.
Management response: Refresher training is planned for Q2 2022 for Contract
Managers, with the added element of a checklist for compliance.
27. Improvement recommendation 8: Update the list of business critical suppliers on a
regular basis.
Management response: The Council recognises there is development required.
Business Continuity, Contract Managers and the CSU are working together to
develop and keep updated the list of business-critical suppliers.
Covid 19 Arrangements
28. The auditor undertook a review of the Council’s response to the Covid-19 pandemic
and how the Council’s arrangements have adapted to respond to the new risks it is
facing. The report covers the key actions taken by the Council and found no issues
with the arrangements that were put into place.

25

29. The auditor reports that “in our view effective governance arrangements, an
understanding of the financial risks, and clear adoption of a multi-agency approach
allowed Leicestershire County Council to monitor the strategic and operational impact
of Covid-19 on services, businesses and residents and these arrangements have
enabled timely and responsive actions to be taken”.
Opinion on the Financial Statements
30. The auditor gave an ‘unqualified’ opinion on the 2020/21 financial statements for the
County Council and its Pension Fund on 13th December 2021. The draft accounts
were prepared on time and included a “good set of supporting working papers”.
Summary
31. This is the first year of the AAR which included a detailed review of the VfM
arrangements at the County Council for 2020/21. Overall the conclusion is very
positive with no significant weaknesses in arrangements identified. There were some
recommendations for improvement made as described with the report.
32. Representatives from Grant Thornton will attend the meeting to present the report
and answer any questions.
Recommendation
33. The Committee is asked to note the attached report and to provide any comments.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
34. None.
Circulation Under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
35. None.
Background Papers
Report to the Corporate Governance Committee on 4 June 2021 – External Audit Plan and
Risk Assessment 2020/21:
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6493&Ver=4
Report to the Corporate Governance Committee on 3 December 2021 – External Audit of
the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and Pension Fund
Accounts:
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6825&Ver=4
Officers to Contact
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,
Corporate Resources Department,
0116 305 6199 E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk

26

Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning)
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk

Appendices
Appendix – Auditor’s Annual Report on Leicestershire County Council 2020-21

27

Public

28

Public

29

Public

•

•
•

30

•
•
•
•
•

Public

31

Public

•
•
•

32

•

•

Public

33

Public

34

Public

35

Public

•

•

•

•

36

•

Public

37

Public

38

Public

39

Public

40

Public

41

Public

42

Public

•

•

•

43

•

Public

44

Public

45

Public

46

Public

47

Public

48

Public

49

Public

50

Public

51

Public

52

Public

53

Public

54

Public

55

•
•
•

56

Public

•

57

•

Public

58

Public

59

•
•
•

Public

60

61

This page is intentionally left blank

63

Agenda Item 10

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 28 JANUARY 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
EXTERNAL AUDIT - PROGRESS REPORT AND SECTOR UPDATE

Purpose of Report
1.

To present a copy of a progress report and sector update from the Council’s External
Auditors (Grant Thornton UK LLP) for consideration and comment.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Committee noted and commented on the 2020/21 External Audit Plan and Risk
Assessment for the Council and its Pension Fund at its meeting on 4 June 2021.

3.

At its meeting on 3rd December 2021, the Committee considered a report which set
out the key findings from the External Audit of the 2020/21 financial statements,
conducted by Grant Thornton, and presented draft letters of representation for
approval.

4.

The Committee has considered a number of reports (in November 2019; January and
November 2020; and January and June 2021) which provided updates on
developments in local (external) audit arrangements, such as outcomes from the
Redmond Review, in association with its responsibilities.

Background
5.

This report is intended to provide a general update on external audit work undertaken
by Grant Thornton in respect of the County Council’s accounts along with those of its
Pension Fund, and an update on current sector issues for information.

6.

The sector updates are available quarterly. In future these will be included as part of
the Risk Management reports to the Committee.

Audit Progress Report
7.

The Council’s External Auditors, Grant Thornton UK LLP, have prepared a report
‘Leicestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report and Sector
Update’, a copy of which is attached as an Appendix to this report.

64

8.

The report provides the Committee with an update on Grant Thornton UK LLPs
progress in delivering against its responsibilities. The report includes:







9.

Audit progress at January 2022 – confirms the approval of the 2020/21 financial
statements on 13 December 2021.
Value for Money update – the National Audit Office (NAO) extended the
deadline that reports are to be no more than three months after the approval of
the accounts. A copy has now been received, as part of the Auditor’s Annual
Report, which will be reported as a separate item on this agenda.
Audit Deliverables – a summary of key audit deliverables. These have all been
completed during the reporting period, except the Auditor’s Annual Report that
has subsequently been completed.
Financial Reporting Council (FRC) – outcome of the FRC’s review of Grant
Thornton’s audits which shows no significant improvements are required.
Final audit fees for 2020/21 – confirmation that the final audit fees are the same
as the planned audit fees.

The report also includes various public sector updates including:







‘What can be learned from Public Interest Reports’
A summary of Local Authority Covid-19 pressures as published by the Ministry
of Housing, Communities and Local Government (MHCLG) (now known as the
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities).
Central Government’s response to the MHCLG on Local Authority sustainability
and the section 114 regime.
Central Government’s response to the Redmond Review
The Public Accounts Committee’s inquiry into local auditor reporting on local
authorities.
Updates from Public Sector Auditor Appointments (PSAA) on audits for 2020/21
and the PSAA’s arrangements for appointing external auditors from 2023/24.

10. Representatives from Grant Thornton will attend the meeting to present the report
and answer any questions.
Recommendation
11. The Committee is asked to note the attached report and to provide any comments.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
12. None.
Circulation Under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
13. None.
Background Papers
Report to the Corporate Governance Committee on 4 June 2021 – External Audit Plan and
Risk Assessment 2020/21:

65

https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6493&Ver=4
Report to the Corporate Governance Committee on 3 December 2021 – External Audit of
the 2020/21 Statement of Accounts, Annual Governance Statement and Pension Fund
Accounts:
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6825&Ver=4
Report to the Corporate Governance Committee on 1 November 2019; 31 January and 25
November 2020; 29 January and 4 June 2021 – Audit and Governance
Update/Developments in Audit and Governance/Update on Developments in Local
(External) Audit Arrangements:
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6053&Ver=4
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6053&Ver=4
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6361&Ver=4
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6493&Ver=4

Officers to Contact
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 6199 E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning)
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk

Appendices
Appendix – Leicestershire County Council and Pension Fund Audit Progress Report and
Sector Update

This page is intentionally left blank

Leicestershire County Council and Pension Fund
Audit Progress Report and Sector Update
Year ending 31 March 2021
7 January 2022

67

Commercial in confidence

Contents
Section
Introduction
Progress at January 2022
Audit Deliverables
FRC report on Local Audit November 2021
Final Fees 2020/21
Sector Update

Page
3
4
6
7
9
10

Grant Thornton UK LLP is a limited liability
partnership registered in England and Wales:
No.OC307742. Registered office: 30 Finsbury
Square, London, EC2A 1AG. A list of members is
available from our registered office. Grant
Thornton UK LLP is authorised and regulated by
the Financial Conduct Authority. Grant Thornton
UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton
International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member
firms are not a worldwide partnership. Services
are delivered by the member firms. GTIL and its
member firms are not agents of, and do not
obligate, one another and are not liable for one
another’s acts or omissions.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

2

68

The contents of this report relate only
to the matters which have come to our
attention, which we believe need to be
reported to you as part of our audit
planning process. It is not a
comprehensive record of all the
relevant matters, which may be
subject to change, and in particular we
cannot be held responsible to you for
reporting all of the risks which may
affect the Council or all weaknesses in
your internal controls. This report has
been prepared solely for your benefit
and should not be quoted in whole or
in part without our prior written
consent. We do not accept any
responsibility for any loss occasioned
to any third party acting, or refraining
from acting on the basis of the content
of this report, as this report was not
prepared for, nor intended for, any
other purpose.

Commercial in confidence

Introduction
This paper provides the Corporate Governance Committee with a report on progress in delivering our responsibilities as your
external auditors.
The paper also includes:
• a summary of emerging national issues and developments that may be relevant to you as a local authority; and

69

• includes a number of challenge questions in respect of these emerging issues which the Committee may wish to consider (these are a tool to use, if helpful,
rather than formal questions requiring responses for audit purposes)
Members of the Corporate Governance Committee can find further useful material on our website, where we have a section dedicated to our work in the public
sector. Here you can download copies of our publications www.grantthornton.co.uk ..
If you would like further information on any items in this briefing, or would like to register with Grant Thornton to receive regular email updates on issues that are
of interest to you, please contact either your Engagement Lead or Engagement Manager./

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

3

Commercial in confidence

Progress at January 2022
Financial Statements Audit
We undertook our initial planning and interim audit work for the 2020/21
audit in January to March 2021 to inform the Audit Plan.
In May 2021 we issued a detailed audit plan, setting out our proposed
approach to the audit of the Council and Pension Fund's 2020/21 financial
statements.
The Accounts and Audit (Amendment) Regulations 2021 pushed back the
date by which principal authorities needed to publish their draft financial
statements to the first working day of August. In 2020 this date was
pushed back to 31 August. The Council published their accounts on 31
July 2021.

We began our work on your draft financial statements in August 2021.
We reported our initial findings from our work in the Audit Findings
Report (AFR) to the Committee in December 2021 and then completed
the outstanding work in the following week. The accounts were approved
and we provided an unqualified opinion on the financial statements on
13th December 2021.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

The new Code of Audit Practice (the “Code”) came into force on 1 April 2020
for audit years 2020/21 and onwards. The most significant change under the
new Code is the introduction of an Auditor’s Annual Report, containing a
commentary on arrangements to secure value for money and any associated
recommendations, if required.
The new approach is more complex, more involved and is planned to make
more impact.
Under the 2020 Code of Audit Practice, for relevant authorities other than
local NHS bodies auditors are required to issue our Auditor’s Annual Report
no later than 30 September or, where this is not possible, issue an audit
letter setting out the reasons for delay.
As a result of the ongoing pandemic, and the impact it has had on both
preparers and auditors of accounts to complete their work as quickly as
would normally be expected, the National Audit Office (NAO) has updated
its guidance to auditors to allow us to postpone completion of our work on
arrangements to secure value for money and focus our resources firstly on
the delivery of our opinions on the financial statements. This is intended to
help ensure as many as possible could be issued in line with national
timetables and legislation. The extended deadline for the issue of the
Auditor's Annual Report is now no more than three months after the date of
the opinion on the financial statements.

70

The date by which authorities were required to publish audited financial
statements was 30 September. In 2020 this date was pushed back to 30
November.

Value for Money

4

Commercial in confidence

Progress at January 2022 (cont.)
Other areas
Certification of claims and returns
We also certify the Authority’s Teachers Pensions’ Return in accordance
with procedures agreed with the Teachers’ Pension Agency. The
certification work for the 2020/21 return was reported on 7th December
2021.
IAS19 Assurance Letters to Admitted Bodies auditors
We have provided written assurances to the auditors of admitted bodies to
the Pension Fund in accordance with the agreed timescales.

Further details of the publications that may be of interest to the Council are set out
in our Sector Update section of this report.

Audit Fees
During 2017, PSAA awarded contracts for audit for a five year period beginning on 1
April 2018. 2020/21 is the third year of that contract. Since that time, there have
been a number of developments within the accounting and audit profession. Across
all sectors and firms, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) has set out its
expectation of improved financial reporting from organisations and the need for
auditors to demonstrate increased scepticism and challenge and to undertake
additional and more robust testing.

71

Meetings
We continue to meet regularly with senior Finance Officers as part of our
regular liaison meetings and continue to be in discussions with finance staff
regarding emerging developments and to ensure the audit process is
smooth and effective.

Events
We provide a range of workshops, along with network events for members and
publications to support the Council. Your officers will be invited to attend our
Financial Reporting Workshop in January and February 2022, which will help to
ensure that members of your Finance Team are up to date with the latest financial
reporting requirements for local authority accounts.

Our work in the Local Government sector in 2018/19 and 2019/20 has highlighted
areas where financial reporting, in particular, property, plant and equipment and
pensions, needs to improve. There is also an increase in the complexity of Local
Government financial transactions and financial reporting. This combined with the
FRC requirement that all Local Government audits are at or above the “few
improvements needed” (2A) rating means that additional audit work is required.

We have reviewed the impact of these changes on both the cost and timing of
audits. We have discussed this with your s151 Officer including any proposed
variations to the Scale Fee set by PSAA Limited, and have communicated fully with
the Corporate Governance Committee. The final proposed fees for the 2020/21
audit are included within the Progress Report.
As a firm, we are absolutely committed to meeting the expectations of the FRC with
regard to audit quality and local government financial reporting.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

5

Commercial in confidence

Audit Deliverables
2020/21 Deliverables
Audit Plan

Planned Date

Status

June 2021

Complete

December 2021

Complete

December 2021

Complete

January 2022

In Progress

We are required to issue a detailed audit plan to the Corporate Governance Committee setting out our proposed
approach in order to give an opinion on the Council’s 2020/21 financial statements and the Auditor’s Annual Report on
the Council’s Value for Money arrangements.
Audit Findings Report
The Audit Findings Report was reported to the December Committee.
Auditors Report
This includes the opinion on your financial statements.

Auditor’s Annual Report
This Report communicates the key issues arising from our Value for Money work.

72

2020/21 Audit-related Deliverables
Teachers’ Pension Return – certification
This is the report we submit to the Teachers’ Pension Agency based upon the mandated agreed upon procedures we are
required to perform.
IAS19 Assurance Letters to Admitted Body Auditors
These are the letters that we provide to the auditors of admitted bodies to the Pension Fund, on request, to provide
assurance over the controls in place with the administration of the Pension Fund and the valuations of investments.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Planned Date

Status

31 December 2021

Complete

Various – depending
on specific requests

Complete

6

Commercial in confidence

Financial Reporting Council annual report

On 29 October, the Financial Reporting Council (FRC) published its annual report setting
out the findings of its review of the work of local auditors. The report summarises the
results of the FRC’s inspections of twenty audit files for the last financial year. A link to the
report is here:
FRC AQR Major Local Audits October 2021

Our file review results
The FRC reviewed nine of our audits this year. It graded six files (67%) as ‘Good’ and
requiring no more than limited improvements. No files were graded as requiring significant
improvement, representing an impressive year-on-year improvement. The FRC described
the improvement in our audit quality as an ‘encouraging response by the firm to the
quality findings reported in the prior year.’ Our Value for Money work continues to be
delivered to a high standard, with all of the files reviewed requiring no more than limited
improvement. We welcome the FRC findings and conclusions which demonstrate the
impressive improvement we have made in audit quality over the past year.
The FRC also identified a number of good practices including effective challenge of
management’s valuer, use of an auditor’s expert to assist with the audit of a highly
specialised property valuation, and the extent and timing of involvement by the audit
partner on the VFM conclusion.

© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Number
2020/21

Number
2019/20

Number
2018/19

Good with limited improvements
(Grade 1 or 2)

6

1

1

Improvements required
(Grade 3)

3

5

2

Significant improvements required (Grade 4)

0

0

1

Total

9

6

4

Grade

73

Grant Thornton are one of seven firms which currently delivers local audit work. Of our
330 local government and NHS audits, 87 are currently defined as ‘major audits’ which fall
within the scope of the AQR. This year, the FRC looked at nine of our audits.

Our “Opinion” results over the past three years are shown in the table below:

Our “VFM” results over the past two years are shown in the table below. The FRC did not
review VFM in 2018/19:
Number
2020/21

Number
2019/20

Good with limited improvements
(Grade 1 or 2)

6

6

Improvements required
(Grade 3)

0

0

Significant improvements required (Grade 4)

0

0

Total

6

6

Grade

7

Commercial in confidence

Financial Reporting Council annual report (cont.)

Quality Assurance Department (QAD) Reviews
In addition to the reviews undertaken by the FRC on major local audits, the QAD team
from the ICAEW undertake annual reviews of non-major local audits as well as reviews of
Foundation Trusts on behalf of NHSE&I.
The QAD reviewed five of our audits this year and graded all of them (100%) as
‘Satisfactory / generally acceptable’ for both the financial statements and VFM elements
of the audit, which is the highest grading.
Number
2019/20

Number
2018/19

Satisfactory / generally acceptable

5

6

2

Improvement required

0

1

Significant improvement required

0

Total

5

•

Enhanced training for local auditors on key assumptions within property valuations,
and how to demonstrate an increased level of challenge

•
0

Formalising our arrangements for the consideration of complex technical issues by
Partner Panels.

0

0

As part of our enhanced Value for Money programme, we will focus on identifying the
scope for better use of public money, as well as highlighting weaknesses in governance or
financial stewardship where we see them.

7

2

Our continued commitment to Audit quality and continuous improvement
Our work over the past year has been undertaken during the backdrop of COVID-19, when
the public sector has faced the huge challenge of providing essential services and
helping safeguard the public during the pandemic. Local government, in particular,
have been at the forefront of supporting local communities and businesses.

© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Over the coming year we will make further investments in audit quality including
strengthening our quality and technical support functions, and increasing the level of
training, support and guidance for our audit teams. We will address the specific
improvement recommendations raised by the FRC, including:

Conclusion
Local audit plays a critical role in the way public sector audits and society interact, and it
depends on the trust and confidence of all those who rely on it. As a firm we’re proud to
be doing our part to promote good governance, effective stewardship and appropriate
use of public funds.

8

74

Number
2020/21

Grade

As auditors we have had to recognise the competing priorities and challenges facing the
finance teams and the whole local government sector whilst staying focused on the
principles of good governance and financial management, things which are more
important than ever. We are very proud of the way we have worked effectively with
audited bodies, demonstrating empathy in our work whilst still upholding the highest
audit quality.

Commercial in confidence

Final Audit Fees for 2020-21
We confirm below our final fees charged for the audit and provision of non-audit services.
Audit fees for Leicestershire County Council Audit
Scale Fee published by PSAA

2019-20 Final 2020-21 Planned fee
Fee

* 2020-21 Final fee

Non-audit fees for other services

Proposed fee

Final fee

Certification of Teachers’ Pension
Fund return

5,000

5,000

IAS 19 Procedures for admitted
bodies

6,000

6,000

Total non-audit fees (excluding
VAT)

£11,000

£11,000

59,252

59,252

-

5,000

5,000

Enhanced audit procedures for Property, Plant and
Equipment

9,350

9,350

9,350

Enhanced audit procedures for Pensions

2,500

3,500

3,500

-

11,500

11,500

19,000

19,000

10,665

-

-

£81,767

£107,602

£107,602

2019-20 Final Fee 2020-21 Planned fee

* 2020-21 Final fee

Raising the bar / regulatory factors

Increased audit requirements of revised ISA’s (540 / 240
/ 700)
Additional work on Value for Money (VFM) under new
NAO Code
Additional work due to Covid-19 and client delays
Total audit fees (excluding VAT)

Audit fees for Leicestershire Pension Fund Audit
Scale Fee published by PSAA

21,280

21,280

21,280

Raising the bar / regulatory factors

2,500

2,500

2,500

Enhanced audit procedures for Level 3 Investment
Valuations

1,750

1,750

1,750

-

9,000

9,000

3,830

-

-

£29,360

£34,530

£34,530

Increased audit requirements of revised ISA’s (540 /
240 / 700)
Additional work due to Covid-19 and client delays
Total audit fees (excluding VAT)

© 2022 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

75

59,252

* The final fee variation is subject to approval by PSAA.

9

Commercial in confidence

Sector Update

Authorities continue to try to achieve greater efficiency in the
delivery of public services, whilst facing the challenges to address
rising demand, ongoing budget pressures and social inequality.

Our public sector team at Grant Thornton also undertake
research on service and technical issues. We will bring you the
latest research publications in this update. We also include areas
of potential interest to start conversations within the
organisation and with audit committee members, as well as any
accounting and regulatory updates.

Grant Thornton Publications

•

Insights from local government sector
specialists

•

Reports of interest

•

Accounting and regulatory updates

76

Our sector update provides you with an up to date summary of
emerging national issues and developments to support you. We
cover areas which may have an impact on your organisation, the
wider local government sector and the public sector as a whole.
Links are provided to the detailed report/briefing to allow you to
delve further and find out more.

•

More information can be found on our dedicated public sector and local
government sections on the Grant Thornton website by clicking on the
logos below:

Public Sector

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Local government

10

Commercial in confidence

What can be learned from Public Interest Reports?–
Grant Thornton
2020 will be remembered as a tumultuous year in local government, with the
pandemic creating unprecedented pressure on the sector. It also saw the
appearance of two Public Interest Reports (PIRs), followed by another in January
this year – the first to be issued in the sector since 2016. PIR’s can be issued by
local auditors if there are significant concerns around council activity, such as
major failings in finance and governance.

The COVID-19 pandemic highlighted four essential factors we probably always
knew about local government, have often said, but which are now much better
evidenced:
1) Local government has provided fantastic support to its communities in
working with the NHS and other partners to deal with the multifaceted
challenges of the pandemic.
2) Britain’s long centralised approach to government has been exposed to some
degree in terms of its agility to tailor pandemic responses to regional and local
bodies. This is recognised by the current government who continue to pursue
the options for devolution of powers to local bodies. Track and Trace delivered
centrally has not been as successful as anticipated and, according to
government figures, local interventions have had more impact.

4) Not all authorities exercise appropriate care with public money; not all
authorities exercise appropriate governance; and not all authorities have the
capability of managing risk, both short and long term. Optimism bias has been
baked into too many councils’ medium-term plans.
The PIRs at Nottingham City Council (August 2020), the London Borough of
Croydon (October 2020), and Northampton Borough Council (January 2021) are
clear illustrations of some of the local government issues identified above. The
audit reports are comprehensive and wide-ranging and a lesson for all local
authorities. Local authorities have a variety of different governance models. These
range from elected mayor to the cabinet and a scrutiny system approach, while
others have moved back to committee systems. Arguments can be made both for
and against all of these models. However, in the recent PIR cases, and for many
other local authorities, it’s less about the system of governance and more about
how it operates, who operates it and how willing they are to accept scrutiny and
challenge.
There are a number of lessons to be learned from the recent PIR reports and these
can be broken down into three key areas which are explored further in our report:
1) The context of local government in a COVID-19 world
2) Governance, scrutiny, and culture
3) Local authority leadership.

The full report is available here:
https://www.grantthornton.co.uk/en/insights/lessons-from-recent-public-interest-reports/
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

11

77

The recent PIRs have made headlines because, up to this point, very few have ever
been issued. But, as our latest report “Lessons from recent Public Interest
Reports” explores, all three illustrate some of the fundamental issues facing the
wider sector and provide a lesson for all local authorities around: weaknesses in
financial management; governance and scrutiny practices; and council culture and
leadership; which, when combined, can provide fertile ground for the kind of
significant issues we might see in a PIR.

3) Years of reduced funding from central government have exposed the
underlying flaws in the local authority business model, with too much reliance
on generating additional income.

Commercial in confidence

Annual Transparency Report – Grant Thornton

As auditors of several listed entities as well as nearly one hundred major local
audits, we are required as a firm to publish an annual transparency report.
The report contains a variety of information which we believe is helpful to audit
committees as well as wider stakeholders. The Financial Reporting Council (FRC) in
their thematic review of transparency reporting noted that they are keen to see
more Audit Committee Chairs actively engaging and challenging their auditors on
audit quality based on the information produced in Transparency reports on a
regular basis. We agree with the FRC and are keen to share our transparency
report and discuss audit quality with you more widely.

78

The transparency report provides details of our:
• Leadership and governance structures
• Principal risks and Key Performance Indicators
• Quality, risk management and internal control structure
• Independence and ethics processes

• People and culture
• Compliance with the Audit Firm Governance code and EU Audit directive
requirements
We have made significant developments in the year as part of our Local Audit
Investment Plan to improve our audit quality. We welcome an opportunity to
discuss these developments and our transparency report should you wish.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

The full report is available here:
Transparency report 2020 (grantthornton.co.uk)

12

Commercial in confidence

Local authority Covid-19 pressures – MHCLG
Outturn figures from the Ministry of Housing, Communities & Local Government (MHCLG) show that local authorities in England reported additional cost pressures of
£12.8bn relating to COVID-19 in 2020-21. Overall, local authorities spent £7.2bn responding to the pandemic last year, with the largest share of additional expenditure
going on adult social care services at £3.2bn.
Additional expenditure due to COVID-19 by class and service area (£ millions) (2020-21)
Shire
District
Adult Social Care – total

Shire
County

Unitary
Authority

Metropolitan
District

London
Borough

Total

848.656

663.404

413.842

3,181.254

0.000

94.933

131.127

89.799

62.987

378.846

63.129

5.254

74.949

42.281

112.971

298.584

Environmental and regulatory services - total

33.564

68.097

67.512

66.704

63.556

299.433

Finance & corporate services - total

48.222

53.445

83.984

76.923

78.284

340.858

All other service areas not listed in rows
above

184.550

634.578

584.924

564.737

395.137

2,363.926

Total

329.937 2,111.187

1,791.153

1,503.848 1,126.777

6,862.902

Income losses due to COVID-19 by class and source of income (£ millions) (2020-21)

Business rates

276.498

0.000

194.192

Metropolitan
District
207.351

Council tax
Sales fees and
charges
Commercial
income
Other

399.037

0.000

217.633

191.219

232.727

1,040.616

516.426

194.923

553.907

396.745

475.728

2,137.728

82.448

24.159

120.629

204.211

52.154

483.600

33.494

39.947

27.163

53.664

45.166

199.435

1,307.903

259.029

1,113.524

1,053.190

1,343.441

5,077.087

Shire District

Total
© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

Shire County

Unitary Authority

London
Borough
537.667

1,215.708

79

0.473 1,254.880

Children's social care - total (excluding
SEND)
Housing - total (including homelessness
services) excluding HRA

The figures are available in full here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/publi
cations/local-authority-covid-19financial-impact-monitoringinformation

Total

13

Commercial in confidence

Government response to MHCLG Select Committee
report on Local Authority financial sustainability & the
section 114 regime – MHCLG
Government has published a response to the Housing, Communities & Local
Government (HCLG) Committee report on local authority financial sustainability
and the section 114 regime, published in July.

The report includes sections on:
• Social Care
• Funding
• COVID-19

80

The HCLG report states “In recent years, the financial sustainability of local
government has faced successive challenges, including increased demand for
services, especially social care, changes to the level of funding equalisation
between councils and, most recently, the COVID-19 pandemic. In some instances,
councils have been in such acute financial trouble that they have approached the
Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government for financial assistance;
three of these—Northamptonshire in 2018, Croydon in late 2020 and Slough in
July 2021—issued section 114 notices, essentially declaring they had run out of
money. Our inquiry has sought to identify the most serious threats facing local
councils’ finances. In light of the various factors we consider in the report,
including the somewhat delayed Fairer Funding Review, renewed discussion about
property taxes and the need to reform funding for social care, the time is right to
consider a more radical review of local government finances—and our report
makes various recommendations about how this should be done. We also consider
what happened at Croydon—which prompted us to look at the section 114
regime—in the annex to our report.”

The report made 13 recommendations, and the Government response to
these was published in October. The response notes “Moving forward,
we will work to provide the sector with a sustainable financial footing,
enabling it to deliver vital frontline service and support other government
priorities. We will also take stock, including of the impact of the
pandemic on local authority resources and service pressures, to
determine any future reforms.”

The initial report can be found here:
https://committees.parliament.uk/pu
blications/6777/documents/72117/de
fault

/

Government response can be
found here:
https://www.gov.uk/government/p
ublications/local-authorityfinancial-sustainability-and-thesection-114-regime

• Local authority commercial investment
• Audit and control

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

14

Commercial in confidence

Government response to Redmond review – MHCLG
The press release goes on to state the “measures finalise the
government’s response to Sir Tony Redmond’s independent
review into local audit, carried out last year.

The MHCLG press release states “The Audit, Reporting and Governance Authority
(ARGA) – the new regulator being established to replace the Financial Reporting
Council (FRC) – will be strengthened with new powers over local government
audit, protecting public funds and ensuring councils are best serving taxpayers.

The government has already announced £15 million to support
councils with additional costs in audit fees, and recently
consulted on the distribution of this funding. Government is also
consulting on improving flexibility on audit fee setting and has
extended the deadline for when councils must publish their
audited accounts.

The new regulator, which will contain a standalone local audit unit, will bring all
regulatory functions into one place, to better coordinate a new, simplified local
audit framework.

81

Government has published an update on the Ministry of Housing, Communities &
Local Government response to Sir Tony Redmond’s independent review into the
effectiveness of external audit and transparency of financial reporting in local
authorities.

ARGA will continue to act as regulator and carry out audit quality reviews as the
FRC does now. It will now also provide annual reports on the state of local audit
and take over responsibility for the updated Code of Local Audit Practice – the
guidelines councils are required to follow.
The government has confirmed that the Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA)
will continue as the appointing body for local audit, in charge of procurement and
contract management for local government auditors.
In the immediate term, MHCLG will set up and chair a Liaison Committee, which
will comprise senior stakeholders across the sector that will oversee the
governance of the new audit arrangements and ensure they are operating
effectively.”

The press release can be found here:
Government publishes update to audit review response GOV.UK (www.gov.uk)

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

15

Commercial in confidence

Public Accounts Committee (PAC) – Local auditor
reporting on local government in England & government
response
The PAC inquiry examined the timeliness of auditor reporting on English local
public bodies’ financial statements covering 2019-20. The National Audit Office
(NAO) report, on which this inquiry is based, found that “delays in the delivery of
audit opinions beyond the deadlines for publishing local authority accounts,
alongside concerns about audit quality and doubts over audit firms’ willingness to
continue to audit local public bodies, highlight that the situation needs urgent
attention.”

Key conclusions were:

The report made recommendations in each of these areas. The government
response was published on 28 October.

82

The PAC report found “Without urgent action from government, the audit system
for local authorities in England may soon reach breaking point. With approximately
£100 billion of local government spending requiring audit each year, the Ministry
of Housing, Communities & Local Government (the Department) has become
increasingly complacent in its oversight of a local audit market now entirely reliant
upon only eight firms, two of which are responsible for up to 70% of local
authority audits. This has not been helped by the growing complexity of local
authority accounts, with audit firms now asked to carry out more work in each
audit, comply with new regulatory demands and adapt to the new multifaceted
landscape in which local authorities operate, while also struggling to hire and
retain experienced auditors.”

• The rapidly diminishing pool of suitably qualified and experienced staff
increases the risks to the timely completion of quality audits.
• We are not convinced that the recently announced new local audit
arrangements will meet the pressing need for effective system leadership
now.
• Unless local authority accounts are useful, relevant and understandable
they will not aid accountability.

The PAC report and response
can be found here:
Timeliness of local auditor
reporting on local government
in England - Committees - UK
Parliament

• The marked decline in the timeliness of external audit undermines
accountability and hampers effective decision-making.
• There is a pressing risk of market collapse due to an over reliance on a small
number of audit firms and significant barriers to entry.
• The commercial attractiveness to audit firms of auditing local authorities has
declined.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

16

Commercial in confidence

2020/21 audited accounts – Public Sector Audit
Appointments
Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) has reported that only 9% of local
government audits for 2020/21 were completed by the end of September. This is a
sharp contraction on the 45% filed on time for 2019-20, and is the third successive
year where the number of accounts produced on schedule has reduced.

Grant Thornton commented “Audit quality remains a priority for our firm and we
continue to work hard with local audit stakeholders to ensure the delivery of high
quality audits in as timely a fashion as is practicable. Unfortunately, much of this
work will be delivered past the 30 September target date, owing to ongoing
constraints posed by the COVID-19 pandemic and the backlog this has caused. We
remain committed to public sector audit and are now focused on delivering the
majority of our local audits by December 2021.”

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

83

PSAA state “The challenges posed by COVID-19 have contributed to the current
position. However, a range of further pressures documented in the Redmond
Report are also continuing to impact performance. In particular there is a shortage
of auditors with the knowledge and experience to deliver the required higher
quality audits of statements of accounts, which increasingly reflect complex
structures and transactions, within the timeframe expected. The growing backlog
of audits is also a concern, with 70 of the 2019/20 audits still incomplete.”
The news article can be found here:
https://www.psaa.co.uk/2021/10/news-release-2020-21audited-accounts-psaa/

17

Commercial in confidence

2023-24 audit appointments – Public Sector Audit
Appointments
Following a consultation exercise Public Sector Audit Appointments (PSAA) has
invited all principal local government including police and fire bodies to become
opted-in authorities. At the same time it published its procurement strategy and
prospectus for the national scheme from April 2023. Both documents have
evolved in response to the feedback provided by the market engagement exercise
and consultation on the draft prospectus undertaken during June 2021.

• establishing arrangements that are able to evolve in response to changes to the
local audit framework.
PSAA set out the proposed timeline, which anticipates contracts being awarded in
August 2022.

PSAA state “Our primary aim is to secure the delivery of an audit service of the
required quality for every opted-in body at a realistic market price and to support
the drive towards a long term competitive and more sustainable market for local
public audit services.

84

The objectives of the procurement are to maximise value for local public bodies
by:
• securing the delivery of independent audit services of the required quality;
• awarding long term contracts to a sufficient number of firms to enable the
deployment of an appropriately qualified auditing team to every participating
body;
• encouraging existing suppliers to remain active participants in local audit and
creating opportunities for new suppliers to enter the market;
• encouraging audit suppliers to submit prices which are realistic in the context of
the current market;

The news article can be found here:
https://www.psaa.co.uk/2021/09/psaa-publishes-its-prospectusand-procurement-strategy-and-invites-eligible-bodies-to-opt-infrom-april-2023/

• enabling auditor appointments which facilitate the efficient use of audit
resources;

The procurement strategy can be found here:

• supporting and contributing to the efforts of audited bodies and auditors to
improve the timeliness of audit opinion delivery; and

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

https://www.psaa.co.uk/about-us/appointing-personinformation/appointing-period-2023-24-2027-28/procurementstrategy/

18

Commercial in confidence

Guide to support Value for Money (VfM) analysis
for public managers – CIPFA
The Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) has published
this guide which complements a VfM toolkit which has been published separately.
Both were developed under a collaborative project between Government
Outcomes Lab (GO Lab) and CIPFA.

85

CIPFA state “The guide is aimed at public managers planning to assess Value for
Money (VfM) of outcomes-based contract (OBC) programmes, or any other type of
programme with an outcome-focus, using prospective information. This involves
assessing economic validity of the programme with respect to ‘doing nothing’ as
well as the closest comparator.”
CIPFA explain that the guide:
• Describes what VfM represents in public provision of social services with a
special focus on outcome-based contracts (OBCs). In particular the guide
emphasises the link between economy and effectiveness criteria.
• Promotes thinking about longer-term effects of interventions, such as
outcomes and impact, at the design/ planning stage of programmes. This
means that having a good appreciation for efficiency is helpful but not
necessary, especially when outcomes are both identifiable and measurable.
• Explain how it could be used to appraise public programmes with respect to
anticipated costs and value of them using prospective information.
The guide is available to CIPFA members through the website.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

19

Commercial in confidence

Climate change risk: A good practice guide for Audit and
Risk Assurance Committees – NAO
The National Audit Office (NAO) has published this guide to help Audit Committees
recognise how climate change risks could manifest themselves and support them
in challenging senior management on their approach to managing climate change
risks.
The NAO comment “Audit and Risk Assurance Committees (ARACs) play a key role
in supporting and advising the board and Accounting Officer in their
responsibilities over risk management.

86

This guide will help ARACs recognise how climate change risks could manifest
themselves and support them in challenging senior management on their
approach to managing climate change risks. We have outlined specific reporting
requirements that currently apply.
Our primary audience is ARAC chairs of bodies that we audit, but the principles of
the guide will be relevant for bodies across the wider public sector. It promotes
good practice and should not be viewed as mandatory guidance.
Climate change and the nature of its impacts on organisations globally is changing
rapidly. This guide acknowledges the evolving nature of climate change and its
associated risks and opportunities and will be refreshed in the future to reflect
those changes.”
The guide includes sections on “How to support and challenge management”. This
includes sections on governance and leadership; collaboration; risk identification
and assessment; risk treatment, monitoring and reporting and continual
improvement. There is also a “Complete list of questions that Audit and Risk
Assurance Committees can ask” for each of these areas. The guide also includes
“Key guidance and good practice materials” with links.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

The report can be found here:
Climate change risk: A good practice guide for Audit and
Risk Assurance Committees - National Audit Office (NAO)
Report

20

Commercial in confidence

Local government and net zero in England – NAO
The National Audit Office (NAO) report responds to a request from the
Environmental Audit Committee to examine local government and net zero. It
considers how effectively central government and local authorities in England are
collaborating on net zero, in particular to:
• clarify the role of local authorities in contributing to the UK’s statutory net zero
target; and
• ensure local authorities have the right resources and skills for net zero.

MHCLG, BEIS and other departments recognise these challenges and are taking
steps to improve their approach. Their progress has understandably been slowed
by the COVID-19 pandemic, but there is now great urgency to the development of
a more coherent approach.”

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

• Central government has not yet developed with local authorities any overall
expectations about their roles in achieving the national net zero target.
• There is little consistency in local authorities’ reporting on net zero, which
makes it difficult to get an overall picture of what local authorities have
achieved.
• Neither MHCLG nor HM Treasury has assessed the totality of funding that
central government provides to local government that is linked with net zero.

87

The NAO comment “While the exact scale and nature of local authorities’ roles
and responsibilities in reaching the UK’s national net zero target are to be decided,
it is already clear that they have an important part to play, as a result of the
sector’s powers and responsibilities for waste, local transport and social housing,
and through their influence in local communities. Government departments have
supported local authority work related to net zero through targeted support and
funding. However, there are serious weaknesses in central government’s approach
to working with local authorities on decarbonisation, stemming from a lack of
clarity over local authorities’ overall roles, piecemeal funding, and diffuse
accountabilities. This hampers local authorities’ ability to plan effectively for the
long-term, build skills and capacity, and prioritise effort. It creates significant risks
to value for money as spending is likely to increase quickly.

Key findings include:

The report can be found
here:
https://www.nao.org.uk
/report/localgovernment-and-netzero-in-england/

21

Commercial in confidence

Cyber and information security: Good practice guide –
NAO
The National Audit Office (NAO) has published this guide to help Audit Committees
scrutinise cyber security arrangements. To aid them, this guidance complements
government advice by setting out high-level questions and issues for audit
committees to consider.

The guide provides a checklist of questions and issues covering:

The NAO state “Audit committees should gain the appropriate assurance for the
critical management and control of cyber security and information risk.

• Specific aspects, such as information risk management, engagement and training,
asset management, architecture and configuration, vulnerability management,
identity and access management, data security, logging and monitoring and
incident management.”

Cyber security is the activity required to protect an organisation’s data, devices,
networks and software from unintended or unauthorised access, change or
destruction via the internet or other communications systems or technologies.
Effective cyber security relies on people and management of processes as well as
technical controls.

• The overall approach to cyber security and risk management
• Capability needed to manage cyber security

It takes into account several changes which affect the way in which we interact
with and manage our information and can drive increased risk. These include
changes to the way we work and live due to the COVID-19 pandemic and the
ongoing demand to digitise and move to cloud-based services.
The strategic advice, guidance and support provided by government has also been
updated to keep pace with these changes, detailing the impact and risks on the
management of cyber security and information risk.

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.

88

Our guide supports audit committees to work through this complexity, being able
to understand and question the management of cyber security and information
risk.

The report can be found here:
https://www.nao.org.uk/report/cy
ber-security-and-information-riskguidance/

22

89

© 2021 Grant Thornton UK LLP.
‘Grant Thornton’ refers to the brand under which the Grant Thornton member firms provide assurance, tax and advisory services to their clients and/or refers to one or more member firms, as the context
requires. Grant Thornton UK LLP is a member firm of Grant Thornton International Ltd (GTIL). GTIL and the member firms are not a worldwide partnership. GTIL and each member firm is a separate legal
entity. Services are delivered by the member firms. GTIL does not provide services to clients. GTIL and its member firms are not agents of, and do not obligate, one another and are not liable for one
another’s acts or omissions.

grantthornton.co.uk

This page is intentionally left blank

91

Agenda Item 11

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 28 JANUARY 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
RISK MANAGEMENT UPDATE
Purpose of the Report
1.

One of the roles of the Corporate Governance Committee is to ensure that the
Council has effective risk management arrangements in place. This report
assists the Committee in fulfilling that role by providing a regular overview of
key risk areas and the measures being taken to address them. This is to
enable the Committee to review or challenge progress, as necessary, as well
as highlight risks that may need to be given further consideration. This report
covers:






The Corporate Risk Register (CRR) – summary of risks
Emerging risks and issues
Mitigating the risk of fraud
Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy
Insurance Policy

Corporate Risk Register (CRR)
2.

Within the County Council’s Constitution, Article 9.03 ‘Role and Function of the
Corporate Governance Committee’ states that the Committee shall have
responsibility for the promotion and maintenance within the Authority of high
standards in relation to the operation of the Council’s Code of Corporate
Governance with an emphasis on ensuring that an adequate risk management
framework and associated control environment is in place.

3.

The Council maintains Departmental Risk Registers and a Corporate Risk
Register (CRR). These registers contain the most significant risks which the
Council is managing, and which are ‘owned’ by Directors and Assistant
Directors.

4.

The CRR is designed to capture strategic risk that applies either corporately or
to specific departments, which by its nature usually has a longer time span.
The CRR is a working document and therefore assurance can be provided that,
through timetabled review, high/red risks will be added to the CRR as
necessary. Equally, as further mitigation actions come to fruition and current
controls are embedded, the risk scores will be reassessed, and this will result in
some risks being removed from the CRR and managed within the relevant
departmental risk register.

92
5.

The current risks on the CRR (last presented to the Committee on 5 November
2021), risks removed, and a brief reminder of risk scoring are shown in
Appendix A attached to this report. The impact and likelihood are shown below
each current risk score.
Movements since the CRR was last presented are detailed below: Risk descriptions amended
Environment and Transport
Risk 4.2 – from - If Arriva is successful in its concessionary travel appeals and
the method of apportioning between the City and the County is changed then
reimbursement costs for the total scheme could increase.
To - If Arriva is successful in its concessionary travel appeal, or the City in its
challenge on the methodology of reimbursing operators, then
reimbursement costs for the scheme could increase.
Risk 9.4 – from - If climate change impacts happen more frequently or at a
greater intensity than anticipated, then there is the risk that County Council
services will be negatively affected.
To - If services do not take into account current and future climate change in
their planning, they may be unable to respond adequately to the predicted
impacts, leading to significantly higher financial implications and service
disruption, as well as making future adaptation more costly.

Emerging Risks and Issues
Pay dispute
6.

On 14 January, UNISON (local government's biggest trade union) announced
the outcome of its recent national ballot for industrial action. The Trade Union
Act 2016 requires that for any strike action to be lawful, at least 50% of the
members entitled to cast a vote must do so. The result of the ballot (England
and Wales only) was that for those employees who voted, just over 70% voted
‘yes’ to strike action. However, the turnout was only 14.5% and having failed to
reach the 50% threshold, UNISON cannot now proceed with industrial action
related to the 2021 NJC pay offer. Among the other unions representing council
staff, Unite began a formal strike ballot on 14 January which is expected to
continue until 17 February. Some of its ballot papers also include questions
about existing or potential local disputes. GMB held a consultative ballot on
strike action which closed on 13 December, and its national local government
committee will meet before the end of January to decide next steps. The overall
risk of industrial action is considered low.
Inflation increases

7.

The rate of inflation is increasing and currently stands at 5.4%. Many
commentators expect this could increase to nearly 7% in April when national
insurance and energy price rises impact. This will result in a squeeze on the

93
cost of living for many residents. There is a risk that this particularly impacts on
people who use the Council’s social care services, with a resulting impact on
both the demand and cost of services.
Additionally, there is increased risk of cost escalation on major capital projects
due to the current rate of inflation, and in particular construction inflation,
combined with challenges around resources. Tender prices are expected to rise
due to increases in the cost of energy and the focus for inflation has moved
away from price increases in materials, which have affected the industry for so
long, to the impact of rising energy costs. Due to the high energy intensity
involved in their manufacture, products such as bricks, glass, cement and
concrete (i.e. highways construction materials) are particularly exposed. This is
expected to have a much wider impact on prices than the raw materials boom,
which mostly affected metals and timber.
Avian Influenza ‘Bird flu’
8.

The UK has recently seen a large number of outbreaks and incidents of the
H5N1 strain of avian influenza (bird flu) in birds across the country. The current
situation is unprecedented, with 58 confirmed cases across 26 local authorities
in England and Wales. Whilst several outbreaks of bird flu have been confirmed
in Leicestershire, some local authorities are managing multiple outbreaks (9-12
in some areas) and within the first few days of January over 1 million birds were
humanely culled.
The UK Health Security Agency (UKHSA) has said that bird flu is primarily a
disease of birds and the risk to the general public’s health is very low; however
on 6 January, UK officials confirmed that a person living in the south-west of
England had caught bird flu following very close, regular contact with a large
number of infected birds, over a prolonged period of time. Currently there is no
evidence that this strain detected in the UK can spread from person to person.
The workload in terms of visits, tracing etc is significant for Trading Standards
officers and has been flagged at Government level and is recognised by The
Animal and Plant Health Agency (APHA) and The Department for Environment
Food and Rural Affairs (Defra). APHA likewise is managing the demands on its
services in trying to support the outbreak. Demands on APHA/DEFRA services
sometimes leads to delays in getting maps to colleagues and the availability of
culling and disposal contractors and teams had to be brought in from Holland.
The Council’s enforcement is about reducing the spread of the disease for
animal health purposes and to minimise the overall impact on the food chain
and protect the market. Intelligence suggests officers will be dealing with
annual multiple outbreaks as bird flu becomes more dominant in wild birds,
essentially placing the commercial poultry sector at greater risk as migrating
birds arrive in the UK during the autumn and winter periods.
As with many other notifiable diseases (e.g. Foot and Mouth) the local
resilience forum (LLR Prepared) has incident response plans in place.
However, with all notifiable diseases the Trading Standards Service has no
means in which to call on additional financial resources to deal with outbreaks

94
and to backfill other statutory work that will need to continue. Government has
acknowledged that overall there is a funding and skills gap across local
government regulators, but this has not been prioritised.
Mitigating the risk of fraud
National Fraud Initiative
9.

At the 5 November Committee, members were informed that the output from
the 2020/21 National Fraud Initiative (NFI) had identified four cases where
pensions were continuing to be paid to deceased persons. For each of the four,
monthly payments were immediately suspended, and the cases were passed
over to the Pensions Service for further investigation. The Pensions Service
has recently confirmed that, whilst not high in value (just over £18,000 in total),
staff are continuing to chase and seek repayment, but this has been hindered
by deaths occurring overseas and the impact of covid-19 on General Register
Office services. The Local Pension Board will be updated on progressing and
closing off these cases.

10. As a result of the four overpayments identified, two process changes have been
introduced to prevent recurrence. Firstly, the Pensions Service is undertaking a
full review of any current pension payments where “care of” addresses are held
for the individual, e.g. c/o a firm of solicitors. Secondly, a decision has been
taken to subscribe to the NFI Mortality Screening Service which, for an
additional nominal fee, will see data on overseas pensioners matched against
the DWP’s Deceased Persons database on a twice-yearly basis in an attempt
to identify deaths earlier in the process, thus facilitating earlier suspension of
payment and investigation/recovery of any amounts overpaid. The first data
matching took place in November 2021 and no issues of concern arose from
the output received.
11. Additionally, the Internal Audit Service (IAS) subscribes to the National AntiFraud Network (NAFN) and in conjunction with the Pensions Service is
exploring what additional (call off) products are available that could be utilised
in recovery situations.
Procurement Fraud Training
12. Procurement fraud is regularly cited as one of the major fraud risks to the public
sector. Procurement fraud can take many forms, including corruption in the
award of contracts, for example internal collusion with suppliers, bid rigging,
cartels, etc. Fraud can be prevalent at all stages of the procurement cycle,
including post-contract award stage, e.g. overcharging, false invoicing,
substitution of materials to those of a poorer quality, etc.
13. Along with an accredited external provider, the IAS has developed a
procurement fraud awareness raising video and associated knowledge check
which is now available on the Council’s Learning Hub. This is in the process of
being rolled out to those staff who have procurement activity of one form or
another in their job descriptions and duties. This includes procurement officers,
contract managers, contract monitoring officers and those staff involved in the
ordering and payment of goods.

95
14. The raising of fraud awareness in key areas such as procurement fraud
remains a key defence to fraud and corruption.

Supplier Bank Account Validation
15. Invalid change requests to bank accounts, also known as mandate fraud,
remain a major fraud risk. Whilst historically these have affected creditors,
there are signs that fraudsters are moving into new areas as organisations
tighten controls regarding changes to bank accounts. These new areas include
adult social care payments, pensions, and salaries.
16. The Transformation Unit recently concluded some work analysing the various
processes within the Council for validating bank account change requests. The
IAS provided some critique to this work in the form of a SWOT analysis
(Strengths, Weaknesses, Opportunities and Threats). This analysis, in
conjunction with the work of the Transformation Unit, can be used proactively to
introduce further process changes to fraud-proof systems yet further.
17. East Midlands Shared Services (EMSS) is about to introduce automatic
supplier validation software to its business as usual procedures. The
effectiveness of this product will be assessed in due course with view to rolling
it out wider across the organisation where it is considered beneficial and costeffective to do so.
Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy
18. The Council’s Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy has been
reviewed and revised and will be submitted as an appendix to the report on the
Medium-Term Financial Strategy to the Cabinet on 11 February and full County
Council at the Budget Meeting on 23 February.
19. Within its Terms of Reference, this Committee has a responsibility to monitor
the arrangements for the identification monitoring and management of strategic
and operational risk within the Council. Therefore, the recommendation to
Cabinet is to approve the Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy
subject to consideration by the Corporate Governance Committee with
delegation to the Director of Corporate Resources to amend it if necessary. A
copy of the revised Policy and Strategy in included in Appendix B.
Insurance Policy
20. The Insurance Policy has also been reviewed and revised and will be submitted
as an appendix to the report on the Medium-Term Financial Strategy to the
Cabinet on 11 February and full County Council at the Budget Meeting on 23
February. A copy of the revised Policy is included in Appendix C.

96
Recommendations
It is recommended that the Committee:
a) Approves the current status of the strategic risks facing the County Council.
b) Makes recommendations on any areas which might benefit from further
examination.
c) Notes the updates regarding: i.
ii.
iii.
iv.

Emerging risks and issues
Mitigating the risk of fraud
The Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy
The Insurance Policy

Resources Implications
None.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
None.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Background Papers
Report of the Director of Corporate Resources – ‘Risk Management Update’ –
Corporate Governance Committee, 31 January 2020, 12 June 2020, 24 July 2020,
25 November 2020, 29 January 2021, 3 June 2021, 23 July 2021 and 5 November
2021.
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListMeetings.aspx?CommitteeId=434
Officers to Contact
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources
Tel : 0116 305 6199
E-mail : chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk

Neil Jones, Head of Internal Audit and Assurance Service
Tel: 0116 305 7629
Email: neil.jones@leics.gov.uk

97

Appendices
Appendix A - Corporate Risk Register Update (December 2021)
Appendix B - The Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy (2022)
Appendix C - The Insurance Policy (2022)

This page is intentionally left blank

CORPORATE RISK REGISTER – UPDATE ON RISKS

Dept./
Function

CRR
Risk
No

APPENDIX A

Risk Description

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during
December 2021

If the Council does not on an
ongoing basis plan for, prepare
and respond to current and
future consequences of the
COVID 19 pandemic, the
Council and its communities
could suffer long lasting
economic, environmental,
societal, technological
challenges and missed
opportunities.

20

The level of risk is continually monitored by the Resilience
Planning Group (RPG) and Corporate Resources to assess risk to
staff and customers and reported to the Council’s Crisis
Management Group (CMG).

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12 months)

Coronavirus – COVID-19
All

1

I5/L4

Through the LLR Strategic Coordinating Group the impact of new
variants is assessed and where appropriate multi-agency
collaboration has occurred in order to identify mitigating actions
The proposals to make COVID-19 vaccination mandatory for the
wider frontline health and social care sector has now passed
through parliament and will be a requirement from 1 April. Workers
in scope are obliged to have their first vaccination by 3 February.
The national guidance with detail on scope and application is
awaited. Risk thresholds for the new requirement are being
determined across LLR, taking into account wider factors such as
provider leadership, package hours held, intention of staff to be
vaccinated, as well as vaccination take up. RAG ratings will
prioritise oversight and support to higher risk providers

Expected to
remain
red/high

99

New variants have elevated sickness and isolation absences,
services are asked to provide regular updates on staffing levels
and where required the response to this is addressed through
business continuity plans and reviewed regularly at RPG meetings.
The Council provides regular service updates on its website but at
the time of this report two waste sites were closed until further
notice due to staffing and driver shortages, some home to school
and special educational needs transport services were unavailable
and staff absence in the customer service centre led to delays in
answering queries.

Dept./
Function

1.

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during
December 2021

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12 months)

Medium Term Financial Strategy
All

1.1

Risk around the MTFS including
the ability to deliver savings
through service redesign and
Transformation as required in
the MTFS, impact of the living
wage, legal challenges, and
importantly demand/cost
pressures especially those
arising in Adults and Children’s
Social Care.

25
I5/L5

Work on developing additional savings will continue
High level assumptions agreed for the MTFS 2022-26
Resources for on-going impact to services affected by withdrawal
of Covid-19 funding allocated through the MTFS
Capital Programme Improvements - Growth allocated to E&T,
Finance and Procurement. Formal programme to be established
with external support.

Expected to
remain
high/red

F20 Group has been formed to campaign for improvements to the
distribution of local government funding.
Adult Social Care has received £5m in-year funding support
allocation from NHS and is presenting a business case for
recurrent funding.

C&FS

1.5

1.6

Social Care:
If the number of high cost social
care placements (e.g. external
fostering, residential and 16+
supported accommodation)
increases (especially in relation
to behavioural and CSE issues)
then there may be significant
pressures on the children’s
social care placement budget,
which funds the care of
vulnerable children.
Education
If demand for Education Health
and Care Plans (EHCP)
continues to rise, and corrective
action is not taken, there is a

25
I5/L5

Children in care figures remain volatile having increased to 689
(+14 since last reported 5 November).
Current work in relation to Defining Children Services has a focus
on a placement stream to reduce numbers in residential care and
increase both mainstream and specialist carers, which will in the
long term have a positive impact on MTFS spend.
It also needs to be recognised that the complexity of
Leicestershire’s children is increasing requiring more specialisms
which is more expensive

25

100

C&FS

Full scale programme review workshops with key internal
stakeholders have taken place to re-set programme scope so that
activity is tightly aligned to financial benefits.
The first Benefits Board has taken place; this was the first Board

Expected to
remain
high/red

Dept./
Function

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

risk that the high needs deficit
will continue to increase.

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during
December 2021

where a balanced score card and high level key performance
indicators to better understand the High Needs Block
(HNB) system and its performance was presented as one holistic
picture – baselines have been set and targets will be presented
back for approval at the next meeting which will allow the
programme to tightly track whether associated activity is having
the desired effect.

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12 months)

Expected to
remain
high/red

Consultants will be supporting a diagnostic starting early January
(for the full month) to provide a forensic look at the existing activity
and way in which the HNB service is operating in terms of
pathways, processes and practice so that the next phase of the
plan is focussed on better outcomes for service users and financial
sustainability for the directorate.

C&FS

1.7

1.9

If the Council is not compliant
with the HRMC IR35
regulations regarding the
employment of self-employed
personnel, then there is a risk of
large financial penalties

If the immigration status of
unaccompanied asylumseeking children (UASC) who
arrive in the County is not
resolved, then the Council will
have to meet additional longterm funding in relation to its
housing and care duties.

20
I5/L4

A contract is now in place for public sector tax specialists to review
the Council’s processes. The Government is planning to consult in
the New Year on supply chain ‘umbrella companies’ regarding how
they act with the tax system and employment rights systems.
The Council has declared an error to HMRC and made payment
on account but HMRC could charge interest and this is where the
tax specialists will help.

16
I4/L4

101

CR

Expected to
remain
high/red

Leicestershire had agreed to take 5 children as per the National
Transfer Service (NTS). There are additional pressures on Local
Authorities to take more UASC children who arrive in the southern
counties.
The emerging risk is around the hotels that the Government book,
used by Asylum Seekers (adults) and supported by the Council
whilst the Home Office undertake checks. However, upon arrival at
the hotel, those young adults are declaring that they are under 18,
which means the Council has to undertake assessments to verify
this, this involves two members of staff and there is a growing
number of those adults then being identified as under 16 by

Expected to
move to
Medium/Amber

Dept./
Function

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during
December 2021

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12 months)

Leicestershire, whereupon we do not get the same NTS funding.
Backdated funding cannot be applied for as they are classed as
spontaneous arrivals.

CE

1.11

CE

If the Council fails to maximise
developer contributions by
shaping local plan policies,
negotiating S106 agreements
and pro-active site monitoring,
then there could be a failure to
secure funding for County
Council infrastructure projects
(such as transport and schools).

16
I4/L4

The Treasury has shown commitment to freeports by issuing
regulations which designate freeport tax sites within the Humber,
Teesside, and Thames Freeports.
For the East Midlands Freeport, the Full Business Case (FBC) is
on target to be submitted in early spring 2022 (following a revised
deadline set by Government). Full designation, including tax site
designation, is expected thereafter.

16
I4/L4

The Head of Planning, Historic & Natural Environment provided a
significant list of new developments and improvements that are
either already in place or are planned to be in phases for February,
April, and the autumn.

Expected to
move to
Medium/Amber

Expected to
remain
high/red

Health & Social Care Integration

C&FS
A&C
PH

2.4

If the Council and its partners
do not deliver a sustainable
health and social care system
(adults, children and public
health) which results in
vulnerable people not having
their health and social care
needs met, there is a potential
that increased demand on
social care services will lead to

16
I4/L4

A&C
System Flow Board and Executive governance is in place.
Consultation under way on new draft Health & Wellbeing Strategy.
Development of 3 Conversations Model working with Partnership
in Care has begun. Some success in recruiting to the Crisis
Response Service and Homecare Assessment and Reablement
Team (HART) to increase capacity for Home First

Expected to
remain
high/red

102

2.

1.12

If Freeport designation is not
achieved there will be serious
reputational consequences for
the East Midlands region and
partners in the Freeport
proposal.

Dept./
Function

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during
December 2021

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12 months)

C&FS

the escalation of vulnerable
people’s needs.

No further update
PH
The structure to support the development of an Integrated Care
System (ICS) has expanded. The position will be monitored
leading up to the summer when the ICS is fully established.

3.

ICT, Information Security
CR

3.7

16
I4/L4

Contract agreed with 3rd party specialist in cyber incident
response services on a retainer basis. On-boarding process
underway.
Procurement activity underway to replace current backup
technology with a solution more resilient to the threat of
ransomware. Tender expected to be published in January 2022.
The second planned IT health check assessment of 2021 was
completed by an external security partner. Remediation activities
are being coordinated by I&T Security Working Group.
The Council is aware of the current global Log4j cyber threat and
has taken appropriate action to ensure that corporate IT services
are not at risk. Both the situation and our systems continue to be
monitored.

103

If the Council does not manage
its exposure to cyber risk, then
decisions and controls cannot
be taken to mitigate the threat
of a successful cyber-attack.

Expected to
remain
high/red

4.

Commissioning & Procurement
E&T

4.2

If Arriva is successful in its
concessionary travel appeal, or
the City in its challenge on the
methodology of reimbursing
operators, then reimbursement
costs for the scheme could
increase.

15

Data has been provided to consultants to calculate both the City
and County’s final figures based on the agreed County Council’s
apportionment methodology.

I5/L3
The preliminary report from the consultant suggests that financially
the impact is likely to about £450k spread over 2017/18 to 2020/21.
There will be some increase in costs going forwards due to the
change in methodology of calculation, which is being maintained
artificially high due to the government guidance to essentially
continue to pay bus operators at pre-covid levels.

Expected to
move to
Medium/
Amber

There are other potential risks if the City Council does not agree
with the methodology, however looking at the preliminary report,
this is likely to be very low. The County Council will be getting
agreement from the City Council before going to Arriva and hoping
they (Arriva) will agree to the settlement.
E&T

4.3

20

I5/L4

The Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) was approved by
Cabinet on 26th October and published on 31st October. The
Council completed a statutory consultation with bus operators and
has now commenced a 4-week public consultation with other
statutory consultees and the public. The Council continues to be on
track to formalise the EPS by April 2022 in line with the Department
for Transport’s requirements. Whilst this will go some way to
mitigate the risk along with the DfT’s Bus recovery Grant (currently
available until end of March) there is still a very real risk of service
reductions and withdrawals given ongoing low levels of patronage,
with challenges compounded by driver shortages and increasing
fuel costs.

Expected to
remain
high/red

104

If as a result of the impacts of
the coronavirus pandemic bus
operators significantly change
their services, then there could
be substantial impacts on
communities accessing essential
services and lead to required
intervention under our
Passenger Transport Policy and
Strategy

Dept./
Function

CE/CR

5.

CRR
Risk
No

4.4

Risk Description

Risk of challenge and/or
financial penalty due to either an
actual or perceived breach of
procurement guidelines.

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

16

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during
December 2021

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12
months)

The internal audit work on processes and controls is now
scheduled to start in January.

I4/L4
Expected to
remain
high/red

Safeguarding – category retired

6.
7.

16
I4/L4

Corporate
In anticipation of increased absences (and self-isolations) the
Resilience Planning Group (RPG) ‘stood up’ the redeployment hub
to support areas with increased absence. Regular updates on
sickness data is to be provided for RPG meetings and for the
weekly situation report. All departments are to review Business
Continuity plans and consider measures to lessen the impact of
numerous staff absences. A Local Resilience Forum (LRF) wide
People Cell has also been set up to monitor sickness absence
impacts across the system, and to assess if and when partnership
measures may be appropriate.
CR - An exercise continues to re-establish missing work pattern
data in Fusion in order to be able to accurately report absence data
C&FS – no specific update provided

Expected to
move to
Medium/
Amber

105

Category retired
People
CR
7.1
If sickness absence is not
(ALL)
effectively managed then staff
costs, service delivery and staff
wellbeing will be impacted.

Dept./
Function

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

All

7.2

If departments are unable to
promptly recruit and retain staff
with the right skills and values
and in the numbers required to
fill the roles needed, then the
required/expected level and
standard of service may not be
delivered, and some services
will be over reliant on the use of
agency staff resulting in budget
overspends and lower service
delivery.

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

16
I4/L4

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during
December 2021

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12
months)

A&C
No change to Risk RAG rating or score. Additional measures being
implemented and starting to see signs of improvement in particular
for in-house and direct services, however significant issues still
exist. Management agreement to use a range of tools re
recruitment e.g. relocation package. Progression model is also
being explored as part of establishment review. ITC has been
supporting recruitment of LCC Direct Service staff. Approval for
post of resourcing assistant to support recruitment

Expected to
remain
high/red

C&FS
15

E&T
20
I4/L5

Recruitment incentives agreed and implemented for HGV drivers.
Effective from Nov 21, in place for 2 and 3 years.
CR

20
I4/L5

At the end of November, Chief Officers considered a presentation
which set out a series of options for consideration in response to
the current workforce issues facing the County Council. A further
report, setting out a complete, costed package of options, will be
submitted in due course. Career grade guidance for managers has
been developed and will be published in the New Year.

106

I5/L3

Continue to have a strong offer for Assessed and Supported Year
in Employment and appear to be able to recruit. C&FS focus is to
retain social workers and enhance our ability to recruit to more
experienced social work staff. Conversations with staff to develop
an offer are ongoing, further meetings planned in December - work
to review use of grade 12 and build a career structure for social
workers continues to be progressed towards a possible
implementation date April 2022. Market premia for key posts
agreed to continue

Dept./
Function

A&C

CRR
Risk
No

7.3

Risk Description

If the Department fails to
develop and maintain a stable,
sustainable, and quality social
care market to work with it may
be unable to meet its statutory
responsibilities.

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during

20

The Government has set out proposals for the future of adult social
care in England in a white paper title “People at the Heart of Care”
that was published on 1 December 2021. This aims to set out a
ten-year vision for the transformation of support and care. It also
provides some detail on funded proposals that the Government
plans to implement over the next three years, building on
announcement of £5.3 billion for social care in October’s Spending
Review.

I4/L5

December 2021

Aligned to this are the Government’s plans for social care charging
reform as set out in their policy paper “Build Back Better” published
in September 2021 and follow-up further details paper published in
November 2021.
The “People at the Heart of Care “ white paper sets out the
introduction of a duty for the Care Quality Commission (CQC) to
independently review and assess local authority performance and
put in place new legal powers for the Secretary of State for Health
and Social Care to intervene in local authorities to secure
improvement where there are significant failings

Expected to
remain high/red

107

So far, government has allocated a £1.6m grant to the County
Council for ‘Market Sustainability and Fair Cost of Care’. However,
there are stringent conditions announced for this such that the
Council will have to:  conduct (and publish) a cost of care exercise to determine
the sustainable rates and identify how close they are to it
 engage with local providers to improve data on operational
costs and number of self-funders to better understand the
impact of reform on the local market
 strengthen capacity to plan for, and execute, greater market
oversight and improved market management to ensure
markets are well positioned to deliver on our reform
ambitions
 use this additional funding to genuinely increase fee rates,
as appropriate to local circumstances.

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12
months)

A report on the contents and reaction to the White Paper will be
going to the A&C Scrutiny Committee in January

8. Business Continuity
CE

8.1

If suppliers of critical services do
not have robust business
continuity plans in place, the
Council may not be able to
deliver services.

15
I5/L3

The Commissioning Support Unit and the Business Continuity (BC)
team are reviewing processes to ensure more robust oversight of
departments’ roles in reviewing BC plans both at the time of
procurements and periodically thereafter.

Expected to
remain
high/red

108

Dept./
Function

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

Current
Risk
Score
(incl.
changes)

Update
Based on risks discussed at department’s management teams during
December 2021

20

Results of the 2021 survey show that ash dieback continues to
spread throughout Leicestershire. It has become apparent that
there are a number of groups of trees affected in difficult to manage
sites. These will require new processes and resource to manage.
Additional financial resources likely to be required but cannot yet be
quantified.

** Direction of
Travel
(Residual Risk
Score over the
next 12 months)

9. Environment
E&T

E&T

9.1

9.2

If the ash dieback disease
causes shedding branches or
falling trees, then there is a
possible risk to life and
disruption to the transport
network

20
I5/L4

The Recycling and Household Waste Sites have experienced
additional pressure of on-going staff shortages and a vacancy rate
(permanent staff) of over 20%. Some collection service disruption
has also been seen at District Level.
Construction of the Bardon Waste Transfer Station is progressing
and expected to be ready in Spring 2022.

E&T

9.4

If services do not take into
account current and future
climate change in their
planning, they may be unable
to respond adequately to the
predicted impacts, leading to
significantly higher financial
implications and service
disruption, as well as making
future adaptation more costly.

10. Category retired

20
I4/L5
(Increased
from 16)

Expected move to
Medium/
Amber

The Environment Policy & Strategy Team is working to update
Climate Change Risk Registers to help departments plan their
responses to the risk of climate change affecting the delivery of
Council services e.g. flooding and heatwaves. Services have been
classed as “high risk” if they (a) are a key community support
service that is vulnerable to severe weather events, (b) are part of
the County’s system of resilience to such events or (c) manage
infrastructure assets (Highways and Property). These services
have been assessed during 2019-2021, ahead of producing a
Climate Change Resilience Update report in early 2022. The report
will cover climate change projections, the direct risks to services,
and knock-on and compound risks. Based on results so far, and the
recent third national Climate Change Risk Assessment for the UK,
the risks of climate change for the Council are expected to have
increased since the last assessment

Expected move to
Medium/
Amber

Expected to
remain
high/red

109

If there was a major incident
which results in unplanned site
closure (e.g. fire) then the
Council may be unable to hold
or dispose of waste.

I5/L4

Department

A&C =

Adults & Communities

E&T = Environment and Transport

CE =

Chief Executives

PH = Public Health

CR =

Corporate Resources

All = Consolidated risk

C&FS =

Children and Family Services

**The arrows explain the direction of travel for the risk, i.e. where it is expected to be within the next twelve months after further mitigating
actions, so that:
o

A horizontal arrow shows that not much movement is expected in the risk.

o

A downward pointing arrow shows that there is an expectation that the risk will be mitigated towards ‘medium’ and would likely be
removed from the register.

o

An upwards pointing arrow would be less likely, but possible, since it would show an already high scoring risk is likely to be greater

110

RISKS REMOVED SINCE NOVEMBER 2019

CRR
Risk
No

CR

1.4

If claims relating to uninsured
risks materialise or continue to
increase then LCC will need to
find increased payments from
reserves, impacting on funds
available to support services

16

The level of reserves is sufficient to reduce the current risk
score from 16 to 12 and the risk will be managed and monitored
at Departmental level via the Risk Register - Corporate
Resources.

1 November
2019

All

3.5

If the Council fails to maintain
robust records management
processes to effectively manage
information under its
custodianship, personal data
may not be processed in
compliance with the Data
Protection Act 1998 resulting in
regulatory action and/or
reputational damage.

15

Resources to address highest assessed physical record risks
now being put in place (priorities agreed with Chief Officers in
summer 2019). Risk levels regularly monitored by central team.
Email storage / destruction approach agreed at Information
Governance Board (September 2019).

1 November
2019

If the Authority does not obtain
the required value and level of
performance from its providers
and suppliers, then the cost of
services will increase, and
service delivery will be impacted.

15

CR

4.1

Risk Description

Current
Risk Score

Reason

Date of
Removal

The current risk score has been reduced from 15 to 12 and the
risk will be managed and monitored at Departmental level
(Corporate Resources).
A review of the risk has resulted in the current risk score
reduced from 15 to 12 and the risk will be managed and
monitored at Departmental level (Corporate Resources).

1 November
2019

111

Dept.

Dept.

A&C

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

7.3

If the department does not have
a sustainable external workforce
to work with it may be unable to
meet its statutory responsibilities.

Current
Risk Score

16

Reason

Date of
Removal

The Department has reviewed the risk and reduced the current
risk score from 16 to 12. Planning and timescales for action
further progressed with domiciliary care to be re-commissioned
in 2021 and residential care fee increase coming into effect
from 2019/20.
The risk will continue to be monitored as part of the A&C
Departmental Risk Register.

Removed
1 November
2019
Re-instated
31 January
2020

3.2

If the Council has a GDPR
breach, then there could be a risk
of significant liability claims

15

Significant work has taken place to mitigate the risks around
GDPR. Compliance continues to be monitored and
strengthened governance arrangements are now fully
implemented to monitor and identify any emerging risks. The
Current Risk Score has been reduced from 15 to 12 and the
risk will continue to be monitored through the Corporate
Resources Departmental Register.

31 January
2020

E&T

4.2

If Arriva is successful in its
concessionary travel appeal,
then reimbursement costs for the
total scheme could increase
significantly.

15

Discussions with Arriva are ongoing. The risk will continue to
be monitored as part of the E&T Departmental Risk Register.

31 January
2020

All

6.1

EU Transition – If a formal trade
agreement between the UK and
EU is not in place at the end of
the transition period, the UK will
be treated by the EU as a third
country. Trade arrangements will
differ, and goods will be subject
to full third country controls and a
variety of border checks.

16

The Assistant Chief Executive is satisfied that the risks
identified in the Reasonable Worst-Case Scenario did not
materialise on transition as the UK and EU reached a trade deal

29 January
2021

112

CR

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

C&FS

10.1

E&T

9.3

If the Local Authority and its
partners do not succeed in
developing an inclusive culture
across all schools, education
providers and partner agencies
(including the Parent Carer
Forum), then it will be difficult to
secure parental confidence in the
ability of the ‘whole system’ to
meet the needs of the large
majority of children with SEND in
a mainstream school context
If the Council is not able to
deliver on the commitments it has
made in its climate emergency
declaration due to the complexity
and difficulty of some of the
decisions and actions that will
need to be made, then this will
impact on the Council’s ability to
fulfil its leadership role and have
financial and reputational
consequences.

All

2.2

Impact on County Council
services and MTFS of the Better
Care Together (medium term)
transformation plan in Leicester,
Leicestershire, and Rutland
(LLR), could lead to inability to
deliver improved outcomes and
financial sustainability

Current
Risk Score

Reason

Date of
Removal

16

The context of this risk is deemed to be covered within
corporate risk 1.6 - If demand for Education Health and Care
Plans continues to rise, and corrective action is not taken, there
is a risk that the high needs deficit will continue to increase.

29 January
2021

15

An updated Environment Strategy and Action Plan was agreed
by the Council on 8 July 2020. The Council now has an up to
date statement of its environmental priorities and objectives
which is aligned with its climate emergency declaration and its
framework for action to achieve the commitments on the
Council’s own carbon emissions and against which its
performance can be objectively assessed. The current risk
score has been reduced from 15 to 12 and the and the risk will
continue to be monitored through the E&T Dept Register.

29 January
2021

I5/L3

16
I4/L4

Existing risk is obsolete and has been replaced by new risks
which will be monitored in via the A&C, PH Departmental Risk
Registers. These new risks are currently rated Amber.

113

Dept.

4 June

2021

Dept.

All

CE

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

2.3

Challenges caused by the
Welfare Reform Act 2012 and the
Welfare Reform and Work Act
2016.

1.3

If the Council fails to maximise
developer contributions, then
there could be a failure to fund
corporate infrastructure projects.

Current
Risk Score

16

Reason

Date of
Removal

This will be managed at department level.

5 November
2021

Merge two similar individual risks into one owned by the Head
of Planning, Historic and Natural Environment.

5 November
2021

I4/L4
16
I4/L4

1.10

The Council is unable to meet the
16
Merge two similar individual risks into one owned by the Head
of Planning, Historic and Natural Environment.
financial investment required to
I4/L4
deliver infrastructure in support of
(Reduced
housing development committed
from 25)
in districts Local Plans and that
where this contribution can be
recouped through s106
agreements secured by District
Councils, the funding doesn’t
meet the full cost and is secured
long after the commitment is
made.

CR

3.6

If the ERP system cannot
accommodate all of the Council’s
requirements, then it may delay
implementation and extra
resources will be required to
develop work arounds

15
I5/L3

The system is live and although some teething problems remain
these are being worked though and the risk will remain in the
Department’s register.

5 November
2021

114

CE

5 November
2021

Dept.

CRR
Risk
No

Risk Description

C&FS

5.1

Historical: If as a result of a
concerted effort to explore abuse
by the Independent Inquiry into
Child Sexual Abuse (IICSA) and
Police Operations, then evidence
of previously unknown serious
historical issues of child sexual
exploitation (CSE) or abuse is
identified.

Current
Risk Score

25
I5/L5

Reason

The inquiry has not identified any new issues or concerns for
the council; The historic areas of concern referred to in the
report are all known to LCC.

Date of
Removal

5 November
2021

115

Risk Impact Measurement Criteria

Scale

1

2

3

5

Departmental Service Plan

Internal

Operations

People

Reputation

Negligible

Little impact to objectives in
service plan

Limited disruption to operations and
service quality satisfactory

Minor injuries

Public concern
restricted to local
complaints

<£50k

Minor

Minor impact to service as
objectives in service plan are
not met

Short term disruption to operations
resulting in a minor adverse impact
on partnerships and minimal
reduction in service quality.

Minor Injury to those in
the Council’s care

Minor adverse local /
public / media
attention and
complaints

£50k-£250k
Minimal effect on
budget/cost

Moderate

Considerable fall in service as
objectives in service plan are
not met

Sustained moderate level disruption
to operations / Relevant partnership
relationships strained / Service
quality not satisfactory

Potential for minor
physical injuries /
Stressful experience

Adverse local media
public attention

£250k - £500k
Small increase on
budget/cost:
Handled within the
team/service

Major impact to services as
objectives in service plan are
not met.

Serious disruption to operations with
relationships in major partnerships
affected / Service quality not
acceptable with adverse impact on
front line services. Significant
disruption of core activities. Key
targets missed.

Exposure to
dangerous conditions
creating potential for
serious physical or
mental harm

Serious negative
regional criticism, with
some national
coverage

£500-£750k.
Significant increase
in budget/cost.
Service budgets
exceeded

Exposure to
dangerous conditions
leading to potential
loss of life or
permanent
physical/mental
damage. Life
threatening or multiple
serious injuries

Prolonged regional
and national
condemnation, with
serious damage to the
reputation of the
organisation i.e. frontpage headlines, TV.
Possible criminal, or
high profile, civil
action against the
Council, members or
officers

>£750k Large
increase on
budget/cost. Impact
on whole council

Major

Very
High/Critical

Significant fall/failure in service
as objectives in service plan
are not met

Long term serious interruption to
operations / Major partnerships under
threat / Service quality not acceptable
with impact on front line services

* Note that a different financial rating is used for the pension fund investments

116

4

Description

Financial
per annum / per
loss *

Risk Likelihood Measurement Criteria
Rating
Scale

Likelihood

Example of Loss/Event Frequency

Probability %

1

Very rare/unlikely

EXCEPTIONAL event. This will probably never happen/recur.

<20%

2

Unlikely

Event NOT EXPECTED. Do not expect it to happen/recur, but it is possible it may
do so.

20-40%

3

Possible

LITTLE LIKELIHOOD of event occurring. It might happen or recur occasionally.

40-60%

4

Probable /Likely

Event is MORE THAN LIKELY to occur. Will probably happen/recur, but it is not a
persisting issue.

60-80%

5

Almost Certain

Reasonable to expect that the event WILL undoubtedly happen/recur, possibly
frequently.

>80%

Risk Scoring Matrix

117

Impact
5
Very High/Critical

5

10

15

20

25

Major

4

8

12

16

20

Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

4
3
2

Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1

Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

1

2

3

5

Very Rare/Unlikely

Unlikely

4
Probable/
Likely

Possible/Likely

Almost certain
Likelihood*

*(Likelihood of risk occurring
over lifetime of objective (i.e.12 mths)

This page is intentionally left blank

119
Appendix B

Risk Management
POLICY STATEMENT AND STRATEGY
Document Details:
Owner/Lead Officer

: Head of Internal Audit & Assurance Service, Corporate Resources
Department

Created

: December 2021

Review Arrangements

: Annually

Next Review Date

: December 2022

Ratified by

: Chief Officers (Annually)

Leicestershire County Council

Page 1

120
Risk Management Policy Statement
1. The coronavirus continues to impact on most facets of daily life, including a current issue of large scale
absences in key public services. In conjunction with its local stakeholders and partners, local government will
need to continue to respond to uncertainty and manage high demand on its services and resources well into
2022, and likely beyond should new variants or surges in caseloads arise. Managing staff wellbeing, hybrid
working, and demands for high quality IT is challenging. Historic local government funding and spending
pressures continue. The problem is exacerbated by continuing delays to the Government’s funding reforms and
uncertainty around sufficient funding to implement adult social care reforms along with the costs and impacts of
a new regulatory framework. Financial pressures supporting growth, infrastructure, and environmental
improvement continue to build and have accelerated with elevated inflation. Continuing public expectations
alongside concerns about councils having the capacity and capability to respond, are creating continuing
change.
2. Local authorities which stimulate effective and efficient risk management and strive to create an environment of
‘no surprises’ should be in a stronger position to deliver objectives, sustain services, achieve better value for
money, and promote good corporate governance both within the organisation itself and in tandem with
stakeholders and partners. Successful risk management should balance providing sufficient protection from
harm, without stifling development and recognising and grasping opportunity, where calculated risk is accepted
and even commended. As shown throughout the pandemic, new layers of complexity and risk will always arise,
but they bring new opportunities for innovation, collaboration, transformation, community engagement, and new
approaches to service delivery. These include prevention and integration strategies, collaborating with
communities and other partners, embracing digital technology, and investment in infrastructure to remain
sustainable. Authorities that have ventured into risky commercial property and income generating activities
continue to receive intense scrutiny.
3. ‘The Strategic Plan 2022-26’ (the Plan) sets out the County Council’s ambitions and priorities for the next four
years. It outlines what it aims to achieve and how it intends to do it. It is based on five strategic outcomes which
describe the Council’s vision for Leicestershire. The outcomes are broad and aspirational, reflecting the
Council’s significant and wide-ranging responsibilities and capacity to influence. To ensure that the Plan
provides a clear strategic direction for the Council, it includes specific aims and actions to deliver each outcome
over the next four years. The Plan also includes sections on the Council’s ‘enabling services’, its Medium Term
Financial Strategy and Strategic Change Portfolio. Through its leadership of the F20 Group (low funded local
authorities of different political controls) and its expression of interest in a County Deal (supported by all the
County’s MPs and the seven district councils), the Council hopes that positive responses from Government will
help to sustain and improve front line services and ensure housing and economic growth has the necessary
infrastructure to benefit individuals, communities and the wider population.
4. Whilst ensuring that the most vulnerable are protected, in order to continue its own fundamental transformation,
the Council will embrace an attitude to risk allowing a culture of creativity and innovation, in which in all areas of
the business, risks are identified, understood and proactively managed, rather than avoided. Risk management
is at the heart of the Council and its key partners. The Council will not shy away from risk but instead seek to
proactively manage it. This will allow it not only to meet the needs of the community today, but also be prepared
for future challenges.
5. This Policy Statement and supporting Strategy form an integrated framework that supports the Council to
effectively manage its risks. The framework provides assurance to its stakeholders, partners and customers that
a consistent approach to the management of risks and opportunities of those current, developing and as yet
unplanned activities, plays a key role in the delivery and achievement of the vision contained in its Strategic Plan
and all of its other plans, strategies and programmes. This Policy Statement and Strategy has the full support of
Members and Chief Officers, who are committed to embedding risk management throughout the Council and is
reliant upon the co-operation and commitment of all management and employees to ensure that resources are
utilised effectively.
Signed:

Leicestershire County Council

Title: Chief Executive

Date: January 2022

Page 2

121
Leicestershire County Council Risk Management Strategy
Coli
1.0

Defining Risk and Risk Management
Under ISO31000:2018 ‘Risk management – Principles and guidelines’
Risk is defined as:
The effect of uncertainty on objectives, (where effect is any deviation from the expected
positive or negative or both, and can address, create or result in opportunities and threats).
Risk Management is defined as:
Coordinated activities to direct and control an organisation with regards to risk

Leicestershire County Council (the Council) has adopted the following definitions of risk and
risk management:
Risk is “an uncertain event (or a set of events) that should it (they) occur, will have a (positive
or negative) effect on the achievement of the Council’s objectives and/or reputation.
A risk is measured in terms of a combination of the likelihood of a perceived threat or an
opportunity occurring and the magnitude of its impact on objectives.
Risk management is the “systematic application of principles, approach and processes to the
identification, assessment, monitoring and taking actions to manage/mitigate the likelihood
and/or impact of a risk.” By managing our risk process effectively, we will be in a better
position to safeguard against potential threats and exploit potential opportunities to improve
services and provide better value for money.
This Risk Management Strategy outlines how the Council will use risk management to
successfully deliver corporate, departmental, and service, objectives and priorities.
2.0

Why undertake risk management?
Statutory requirements
Part 2 of the Accounts and Audit Regulations 2015 (Internal Control) places explicit
requirements on the Council around risk, that is:  Paragraph 3 (c) - the Council must ensure that it has a sound system of internal control
which includes effective arrangements for the management of risk;
 Paragraph 4.4 (a - iii) – the Responsible Financial Officer (the Director of Corporate
Resources) must determine, on behalf of the Council financial control systems which
must include measures to ensure that risk is appropriately managed;
 Paragraph 5 (1) the Council must undertake an effective internal audit to evaluate the
effectiveness of its risk management processes.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 3

122
Constitutional requirements
The Council’s Corporate Governance Committee (the Committee) has delegated functions1
regarding risk management namely: 

Article 9.03 (Corporate Governance Matters) states at (a) that the Committee has a general
role for the promotion and maintenance within the Authority of high standards in relation to
the operation of the Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance2 and in particular to
ensure (i) that an adequate risk management framework and associated control
environment is in place.



Responsibility for functions states at 3(h) that the Committee has a responsibility to monitor
the arrangements for the identification, monitoring and management of strategic and
operational risk within the Council.

Additionally, Section D: General scheme of delegation to Chief Officers, states at section 5 (h)
that any exercise of delegated powers by officers, shall have identified and managed
appropriate strategic and operational risks within the officer’s area of responsibility.
1

These align to the oversight of risk management arrangements as being a core function of a local government
Audit Committee as referred to in CIPFA’s Guidance on Audit Committees 2018.
2

The Council’s Local Code of Corporate Governance (2019) complies with the ‘Delivering Good Governance in
Local Government; Framework’ (2016), specifically Principle F which advises that good governance is promoted
when there is management of risks and performance through robust internal control and strong public financial
management.

3.0

Benefits of risk management
Risk management is a tool that forms part of the governance system of the organisation.
When applied appropriately it can bring multiple benefits as set-out in the table below: -

Leicestershire County Council

Page 4

123
4.0

Risk Management Strategy objectives
The objectives of the Council’s Risk Management Strategy are to:
 Integrate risk management fully into the culture of the Council and into its corporate and
departmental service planning processes (including new ways of working following the
coronavirus pandemic). This will support the achievement of the Council’s outcomes;
 Ensure that there is an effective framework for identifying, assessing,
managing/mitigating, reviewing and reporting and communicating risks across the
Council;
 Improve the communication of the Council’s approach to and importance of risk
management;
 Improve the coordination of risk management activity across the Council;
 Ensure that Chief Officers, Members, Corporate Governance Committee and external
stakeholders can obtain necessary assurance that the Council is mitigating the risks of
not achieving key priorities and thus complying with corporate governance practice;

5.0



Manage risk in accordance with best practice and ensure compliance with statutory
requirements



Maintain clear roles, responsibility and reporting lines for risk management within the
Council.



Measure and partake in regular comparison and benchmarking activity.

Risk Appetite and Risk Tolerance
The Council recognises that only by taking risks can it achieve its aims and deliver beneficial
outcomes to its stakeholders.
The Institute of Risk Management (IRM) defines risk appetite as, “the amount of risk an
organisation is willing to take in order to meet its strategic objectives”. A range of appetites
exist for different risks and these may change over time.
Risk tolerance is defined as, “the boundaries of risk taking outside of which the organisation is
not prepared to venture in the pursuit of its strategic objectives”.
Risk appetite and risk tolerance help an organisation determine what high, medium and low
(i.e. red, amber and green zones on the risk matrix) risk is. In deciding this, the organisation
can:

More effectively prioritise risks for mitigating actions

Better allocate resources

Demonstrate consistent and more robust decision making

Clarify the thresholds above which risks need to be escalated in order that they are
brought to the attention of senior management and/or Members.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 5

124
The Chief Officers have collectively agreed that the Council exists in a high-risk environment
and that this is likely to continue. This will mean continuing to develop an understanding of
acceptable risk levels (high, medium or low), depending on their impact and likelihood.
Defining levels allows risks to be prioritised, and appropriate actions assigned so that the
management of identified risks will be proportionate to the decision being made, or the size of
the impact on service delivery.
The Council will take risks in a controlled manner, reducing exposure to a level deemed
acceptable. In order to take advantage of opportunities, the Council will support innovation and
the imaginative use of resources. However, the Council will seek to control all highly probable
risks which have the potential to:








Cause significant harm to service users, staff and the public;
Severely compromise the Council’s reputation;
Significantly impact on finances;
Significantly impact on the environment
Jeopardise the Council’s ability to undertake its core purpose;
Threaten the Council’s compliance with law and regulation
Create opportunity for fraud and corruption or inadvertent loss through error

Taking the above into consideration, the Council’s current overall risk appetite is defined as
‘Open’. This means that the Council is prepared to consider all delivery options and select
those with the highest probability of productive outcomes even where there are elevated levels
of associated risk. However, the Council’s risk appetite is determined by individual
circumstances depending on the activity. There will be areas where greater risk will be taken in
supporting innovation in service delivery. These occasions will be offset by times when it
maintains a lower than cautious appetite for example, in matters of compliance with law and
public confidence in the Council. Risk appetite can therefore be varied for specific risks,
provided this is approved by appropriate officers and/or Members.
The Council will review risk appetite and tolerance annually to ensure risks are being managed
adequately. Please refer to Annexes 1 and 2 for further details.
6.0

Risk Management Maturity
All organisations are on a risk management journey with differing levels of risk management
maturity. Risk management maturity refers to how well-established risk management is as a
discipline across the organisation.
The Council continues to review its current risk management capability to help it direct
resources in the areas that need improvement and further development, ensuring the risk
management arrangements remain fit for purpose in this changing environment.
The Association of Local Authority Risk Managers (ALARM) has developed and published a
National Performance Model for Risk Management in Public Services to illustrate what good
risk management looks like in a public service organisation. There are 5 levels.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 6

125
During 2018 an independent review of the Council’s risk management arrangements was
undertaken by a managing agent of the Council’s insurers. The overall conclusion reported
was: The Council continues to demonstrate a fundamental commitment to embrace risk
management as an essential management practice and embed it within the organisational
culture. This commitment is evident as many of the essential building blocks needed to
maximise the risk management potential of the organisation are now in place, including:




Risk architecture: defined roles and responsibilities, and robust communication and
reporting structures.
Risk strategy: a corporate risk strategy and policy.
Risk protocols: risk guidelines, rules and procedures, methodologies, tools and techniques

This report considers that the work undertaken by the Council since publication of the previous
independent review (2012) has further strengthened the Council’s position in respect of
risk management standards and practices, thus increasing the likelihood of it attaining
the higher grading of ‘risk management is embedded and integrated’ (4) if it were to
formally benchmark itself utilising the ALARM/CIPFA Benchmarking criteria’.
Progress continues to be made to implement the report recommendations.
The Council also networks and shares information with other similar organisations e.g. East
Midland Counties Risk Management Group (7 County Councils) which enables the Council to
benchmark its position.
The External Auditor Grant Thornton reported positively on the Council’s risk management
framework as part of its work on the 2020-21 Value for Money arrangements. The Council
plans to evaluate its risk maturity against ALARM guidance on a three-yearly frequency
(maximum1). The next review is planned for spring 2022.
1. Chief Officers have the opportunity at each annual policy review to determine if, because of future events, the tri-annual risk maturity
assessment should be more frequent.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 7

126
7.0

The Risk Management Approach and Process
Risk management is a continual process involving the identification and assessment of risks,
prioritisation of them and the implementation of actions to mitigate both the likelihood of them
occurring and the impact if they did. The Council’s approach to risk management will be
proportionate to the decision being made or the impact of the risk, to enable the Council to
manage risks in a consistent manner, at all levels.

The Risk Management Process

Set Objective(s) and Priorities

Identify
Risk

Assess
Risk

Manage
Risk

Monitor
Risk

Record in Risk Register

Review

Report to management and members

Review

Explanations of the stages within the risk management process: Identify risk

Clarify Objective(s) and Priorities from the Council’s Service Planning
process and identify risks (or opportunities) which might prevent, delay (or
alternatively escalate) achievement of the Council’s objectives and
determine what are the consequences if this occurs

Assess risk

Assess the inherent risk (Impact & Likelihood) using the Council’s risk
assessment criteria prior to the application of any existing/known controls
i.e. evaluate the “Original risk score”
Decide and agree the course of action – treat, tolerate, transfer, terminate
or take the opportunity.

Manage risk

Identification and assessment of the controls/actions already in place to
mitigate each risk to arrive at the “Current Risk score”. If Current Risk
score is still high even with controls:
 Is the score correct?
 Determine the best way to manage the risks e.g. terminate, treat,
transfer, tolerate or take the opportunity

Leicestershire County Council

Page 8

127



Monitor,
Review and
Report

Determine whether the cost of implementing further mitigating control
is merited when compared to the risk reduction benefits achieved.
Development of further SMART actions and assign target dates and
responsible officers to achieve the desired “Target Risk score”.

Use the Risk Management Matrix and Risk Tolerance levels to determine
the frequency of review, monitoring, risk escaluation and reporting.

Annex 2 provides details of the risk measurement criteria, risk map, risk escalation and
reporting arrangements.

8.0

Application - Service, Department, Corporate & Specialist Risks
It is essential that risk management is used as a tool to assist good management and to
provide assurances to relevant stakeholders that adequate measures have been taken to
manage risks. To support this, risk management has been integrated into the planning
process. By using the risk methodology, key risks facing the Council, or a particular service
area will be identified and managed. The escalation of risks ensures that Senior Management
has a clearer picture on risks facing service areas. This helps in overall decision-making
processes by allowing the allocation of resources or review of areas of concern.
There is an established framework in which consistent application of the process should
ensure the flow of appropriate risk information across the Council as follows:

Service

Department

Corporate

Emerging Risks
Service and Department Risks:
The Council’s Risk Management Strategy requires that risks linked to delivery of Service
and/or Departmental priorities are identified, along with appropriate mitigating actions. A risk
assessment exercise must be carried out on all new service/business plans. Risks which may
affect delivery of Departmental priorities must be logged in the Departmental Risk Register.
Heads of Service are responsible for identifying risks arising from their service plans,
assessing their likelihood of occurrence and potential impact using the Risk Matrix Criteria and
logging them, if necessary, in their Departmental Risk Registers for review at DMT regularly,
setting clear accountability for managing risks and undertaking further actions/additional
controls within the defined timescales. Departmental Risk Champions are available to support
the identification and assessment of risks.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 9

128
Corporate (and high ranking Departmental) risks - Corporate Risk Register
This process will provide Chief Officers and Members with a central record of corporate risks,
to ensure consideration is given to high ranking, strategic cross cutting (or Departmental) risks
that could impact the financial, political or reputational arena.





Each quarter, Departmental Risk Champions and management teams will review
Department Registers to identify and consider risks for escalation to the CRR, either
individually or consolidated from Departmental Risk Registers;
The Internal Audit Service will confirm that the quarterly reviews have been consistently
undertaken, provide a level of challenge to the outcomes and co-ordinate the production
and reporting of the CRR, through to Chief Officers and Corporate Governance
Committee.
Whilst most risks are expected to come through this route it might not capture all of the
strategic risks facing the Council. Therefore, horizon scanning, information from
relevant publications and minutes from key meetings will also provide a basis for
including additional risks on the CRR.

Specialist areas of risk
Covid19: Service Response & Recovery Risks
For 2021/22 the Corporate Strategic Planning Group (formerly the Recovery Group) developed
a Covid19 operational recovery strategy to ensure that the Council continued to operate in a
safe environment through the use of interim service recovery plans. For 2022/23, service
planning is anticipated to transition to a new Business as Usual approach, managed through
departments, whilst reflecting the ongoing need to respond to any service changes required by
the impacts of the pandemic.
This process is supported by an ongoing retention of the weekly Resilience Planning Group
(RPG) and the Crisis Management Group (CMG) to provide an immediate corporate response
to any emerging risks where required.
Project, Programme and Portfolio Risks
Risks which could impact on achieving the objectives of projects or programmes will be
managed through the appropriate Project or Programme Board and associated governance
structures. However, where Project or Programme risks impact upon strategic or departmental
objectives then consideration should be given as to whether those risks should be identified,
assessed and escalated to the appropriate, Departmental, Portfolio or Corporate Risk Register.
In the case of Projects and Programmes, the decision to escalate to a departmental, portfolio
or corporate level, is ultimately the responsibility of the relevant Senior Responsible Officer
(SRO) or Sponsor, supported by the appropriate Project or Programme Board.
When a project or programme is closed, the relevant closure report should identify any risks
(or issues) that need to transfer to Business as Usual (BAU) ensuring specific and appropriate
ownership is identified and clearly articulated. Where appropriate these risks may need to be
escalated to the relevant Departmental or Corporate Risk Register.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 10

129
Partnerships
Risks which could impact on achieving the partnerships objectives will be managed through
the appropriate Partnership Board and associated governance structures. However, where
partnership risks impact upon strategic or departmental objectives then consideration should
be given as to whether those risks should be identified, assessed, and escalated to the
appropriate Departmental or Corporate Risk Register. The Council’s approach for identifying,
assessing and managing risk within partnerships will be developed over the forthcoming year.
Health, Safety & Wellbeing Risks
The Health, Safety & Wellbeing Service provides advice and guidance to managers and staff
on all aspects of Health, Safety and Wellbeing. In addition to providing advice and support, the
Health, Safety & Wellbeing Service also helps to monitor the performance of the organisation
through audits and inspections, set targets for continual improvement, provide operational
training and awareness for staff and also respond to accidents / incidents in order to ensure
they are adequately investigated, and the likelihood of further harm is reduced. Regular reports
are provided to the Departmental Management Teams, the Chief Executive, Chief Officers,
and the relevant Scrutiny Board. A separate risk assessment process is in place.
Resilience and Business Continuity
Business Continuity Management (BCM) is complementary to a risk management framework
that sets out to understand the risks to the council, and the consequences of those risks.
By focusing on the impact of disruption, BCM identifies the services which the council must
deliver as a priority and can identify what is required for the council to continue to meet its
obligations. Through BCM, the council can recognise what needs to be done before an incident
occurs to protect its people, premises, technology, information, supply chain, stakeholders,
reputation and importantly the services that the council delivers to the people of Leicestershire.
With that recognition, the Council can then take a realistic view on the responses that are likely
to be needed as and when a disruption occurs, so that it can be confident that it will manage
any consequences without unacceptable delay in delivering its services.
The Resilience and Business Continuity Team co-ordinates the preparation of business
continuity and response plans both at the corporate, departmental and levels. Such plans aim
to minimise the likelihood and/or impact of a business interruption by identifying and prioritising
critical functions as well as the resource requirements, roles and responsibility requirements in
response to allow appropriate planning to take place.
The Resilience and Business Continuity Team presents an annual report to Corporate
Governance Committee
Risk Financing
Risk financing is the process which determines the optimal balance between retaining and
transferring risk within an organisation. It also addresses the financial management of retained
risk and may best be defined as money consumed in losses, funded either from internal
resources or from the purchase of ‘external’ insurance (such as the catastrophe cover provided
by the Council’s external insurers) which acts as a risk transfer mechanism which reduces the
financial risk to the Council. Simply put, it is how an organisation will pay for loss events in the
most effective and least costly way possible. Risk financing involves the identification of risks,
Leicestershire County Council

Page 11

130
determining how to finance them, and monitoring the effectiveness of the financing technique
chosen. Self-insurance and commercial insurance policies are options for risk transfer
schemes though the effectiveness of each depends on the size of the organisation, its financial
situation, the risks it faces, and its overall objectives. Risk financing seeks to choose the option
that is the least costly, but that also ensures that the organisation has the financial resources
available to continue its objectives after a loss event occurs.
Under normal circumstances the Council is largely self-insured but transfers the larger risks to
insurance companies by contributing premiums. In the event of a financial loss, the Council is
entitled to indemnity, subject to the terms and conditions that are in place.
The Insurance Service provides a comprehensive and professional insurance service including
arranging insurance provisions and other related insurance activities as well as managing new
and outstanding claims.
Insurance activity will be regularly reported to Corporate Governance Committee.
Property and Occupants Risk Management
Following the tragic events of both the Grenfell Tower fire and high-profile terrorism attacks
during 2017, a group was established, initially to review fire safety risk across the Council’s
owned and procured properties but was widened to incorporate the Council’s identification and
management of terrorism risk. The group contains a wide breadth of representatives from the
Council’s services and has regular inputs from the Council’s insurers, risk management
partners and brokers and links to the emergency ‘blue light’ services.
The Group reports to the Director of Corporate Resources (quarterly), Chief Officers as and
when required if a significant matter arises but also annually to note work undertaken, findings
and progress and agree the next year’s plan of work, and annually to the Corporate
Governance Committee.
Counter Fraud
The Internal Audit Service undertakes a biennial Fraud Risk Assessment (FRA). This process,
along with other intelligence received, acknowledges the risk of fraud throughout the Council
and is an integral step towards how countering the risk is developed and arranged. Scoring
(impact and likelihood) is derived through discussions with individual service leads to give them
the opportunity to consider whether scores remain reasonable or whether there have been any
changes during the previous year that may lead to necessity to amend scores, e.g. national
picture, known frauds, additional controls introduced, and increased or decreased
metrics/values. Recognising fraud in this manner ensures there is a comprehensive
understanding and knowledge about where potential fraud and bribery /corruption is more
likely to occur and the scale of potential losses. This in turn directs the Council’s overall AntiFraud and Corruption Strategy and further allows the Council to direct counter-fraud resources
accordingly. Consequently, this influences the internal audit annual planning process.
Furthermore, it reiterates responsibility to service managers for managing fraud risk in their
service areas.
Regular updates are provided to the Corporate Governance Committee on counter fraud and
related initiatives.
Leicestershire County Council

Page 12

131
Information & Technology (I&T) and Data Protection Risks
A safe and secure I&T infrastructure underpins the working of the Council, both technically and
in terms of data protection. To support this, I&T Service holds and maintains its own divisional
risk register which, where appropriate will feed through to the Departmental and Corporate
Registers. Regarding data protection, the Information Governance Team develop, maintain
and monitor compliance with a wide range of policies designed to protect information and data.
Regarding the ever increasing threat to cyber security, the Council has established a Technical
Security Officer role with responsibility for identifying emerging threats and risks, maintaining
the cyber risk register and planning and delivering ongoing activities to implement mitigations.
The Officer reports to the Information Security Controls Group which is a forum for cyber
security policy, risk, strategy and best practice. Active threats are shared with other councils
through Warning, Advisory and Reporting Points (WARPs) and takes guidance from the
National Cyber Security Centre (NCSC). Cyber security is integrated into the corporate risk
management process.
Climate Change Risks
The Climate Change Committee (CCC) is an independent, statutory body established under
the Climate Change Act 2008. Its purpose is to advise the UK on emissions targets and to
report to Parliament on progress made in reducing greenhouse gas emissions and preparing
for and adapting to the impacts of climate change. The CCC publishes an Independent
Assessment of UK Climate Risk (to inform Government). The Government then publishes its
own Climate Change Risk Assessment (known as CCRA) which endorses and summarises the
CCC’s independent assessment, sets out the overall government approach, responds in detail
to those priority risks identified by the CCC and finally it produces a National Adaptation
Programme. Officers in the Environment Policy & Strategy team refer to the CCC’s
Independent Assessment of UK Climate Risk and the Government’s corresponding risk
assessment in order to influence their work identifying high priority risks that have some
relevance to the County Council. Officers have identified three groups of services based on
their key functions in relation to climate and weather-related risks. They conduct interviews to
identify, review and assess risks, and review main policy documents and service risk registers.
Planned developments to help reduce identified risks will be reported in early 2022.
Support
The above processes will be supported by the following:







Ownership of risks (at appropriate levels) assigned to Chief Officers, managers and
partners, with clear roles, responsibilities and reporting lines within the Council;
Incorporating risk management into corporate, service and business planning and
strategic and partnership working;
Use of the Risk Management Toolkit throughout the Council
Providing relevant training on risk management to officers and Members of the Council
that supports the development of wider competencies;
Learning from best practice and continual improvement;
Seeking best practice through inter-authority groups and other professional bodes e.g.
the Association of Local Authority Risk Managers (ALARM).

Leicestershire County Council

Page 13

132
9.0

Risk Management Roles and Responsibilities - structure
The following structure is unique to the Council and is influenced by its risk management
maturity, resource capacities, skills sets, internal operations and existing operating structures.
The Council’s risk management framework aligns to existing structures and reporting lines.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 14

133
Full details of risk management roles and responsibilities can be found in Annex 3.
Leadership

 Cabinet
 Lead Members
 Chief Officers

Cabinet:


Understands the key risks
facing the Authority,
determines the level of risk
and ensures risk management
(RM) is delivered to mitigate
risks

Lead Members:
 Have responsibility for
understanding the risks facing
their areas of accountability
and how these risks are being
managed.
 Transformation Member
Board in managing Portfolio
Level risk

Corporate

Departmental

 Corporate
Governance
Committee
(CGC)
 Corporate Risk
Management
Group (CRMG)

 DMT
 Service
Managers
 Programme /
Project /
Partnership
Boards
 Risk Champions

CGC:

Ensures that an adequate
risk management
framework (RMF) and
associated control
environment is always in
place

Monitor’s the
arrangements for the
identification and
management of strategic
and operational risks.
CRMG:

Provides assurance that
the RMF and its processes
are effective.

Helps to deliver a
consistent approach

Chief Officers:
 Manage the level of risk the
Authority is prepared to
accept.
 Establish a control
environment in which risk can
be effectively identified,
assessed and managed
 Ensure progress against
mitigating actions / controls for
risks on the corporate risk
register.
 Role of Transformation
Delivery Board in managing
Portfolio Level risk
 Role of Crisis Management
Group during pandemic
response

Leicestershire County Council

Assurance Services

DMT:



Ensure the RMF is
implemented in line with the
Councils Risk Management
Strategy, and guidance
 Takes full ownership of risks
within their departmental
risk register. Agree risk
mitigation actions, assign
defined timescales and
responsibilities – including
any departmental risks that
are also in the Corporate
Risk Register (CRR)
Service Managers:
 Take ownership of all risks
(including recovery risks)
that fall within their remit
 Provide assurance to DMT’s
that these risks are being
managed effectively.
Programme / Partnerships:
 Providing assurance that
risks and their implications
are managed effectively and
escalated if appropriate.
Risk Champions:
 Ensure consistent
application of the RMF
within their dept. Provide
support and challenge to
DMT and Service Mgrs.
Staff:
 Responsibility for gaining an
understanding of risks
facing their area of
accountability and how they
are being managed.
 Report promptly perceived
failures in existing control
measures that could
increase risk

Page 15

Risk Management function *
 Review and challenge risk
actions
 Provide assurance that the
flow of risk information
throughout the Authority is
working effectively.
 Collates and co-ordinates,
RM updates for reporting to
Chief Officers and CGG
 Arranges the review of RM
maturity
Internal Audit function:
 Review and challenge the
effectiveness of the RMF
including controls in order to
form an independent
opinion.
Governance function:
 Review and provide
assurance within the Annual
Governance Statement that
the Authority’s Risk
Management Policy,
Strategy, Guidance and
Toolkit are being
implemented at all levels
* The Head of Internal Audit &
Assurance Services (HoIAS) is
responsible for the
administration and development
of, and reporting on, the
Council’s RMF. The Public
Sector Internal Audit Standards
(PSIAS), require that this
‘impairment’ to independence
and objectivity is recorded in the
Internal Audit Charter (approved
by CGC in November 2016) and
(to avoid any conflict of
interests) any audits of the RMF
are overseen from a manager
outside of the Service.

134
10.

Continuous Improvement
Regulators and risk management professionals indicate that it is good practice to continuously
improve risk management methodologies in line with recommendations from regular
assessments and adapt to changing economic conditions.
To this effect, the Council’s Risk Management Policy, Strategy, Guidance and related
documents will be reviewed at the specified frequency or after the release of new legislation or
government guidance that affects risk governance, internal controls, financial management or
the regulatory regime for public service organisations. They will also be reviewed following the
results of any audit /review by Internal Audit Service or an external third party.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 16

135
Annex 1

Risk Appetite
STAKEHOLDERS

BOARD

RISK APPETITE STATEMENT
What levels and types of risk do our stakeholders expect us to
accept (and not accept) in pursuance of our goals?

EITHER
Generic (Corporate) Risk
Appetite Statement

OR Individual Risk Appetite
Statements are applied to
each Objective

GENERIC (CORPORATE) RISK APPETITE STATEMENT AND RISK CATEGORY TYPES

AVOID

Risk Categories
Examples:

No appetite. Not prepared to accept any risks.

AVERSE

Prepared to accept only the very lowest levels of risk, with the
preference being for ultra-safe delivery options, while recognising
that these will have little or no potential for reward/return.

CAUTIOUS

Willing to accept some low risks, while maintaining an overall
preference for safe delivery options despite the probability of these
having mostly restricted potential for reward/return.

MODERATE

Tending always towards exposure to only modest levels of risk in
order to achieve acceptable, but possibly unambitious outcomes.

OPEN

Prepared to consider all delivery options and select those with the
highest probability of productive outcomes, even when there are
elevated levels of associated risk.

HUNGRY

Eager to seek original/creative/pioneering delivery options and to
accept the associated substantial risk levels in order to secure
successful outcomes and meaningful reward/return.

Leicestershire County Council

Health & Safety, Business
Critical systems,
Customers, Safeguarding,
Data Security, People,
Climate Change /Extreme
Weather
Delivery partners,
Non - critical systems,

Leadership; Devolution;
Growth and Infrastructure
Collaboration; Alternative
delivery models;
Integration;
Transformation; Digital;
Commercial trading,
Property investment,
Appendix 2
Suppliers.

Page 17

136
Annex 2
Risk Impact Measurement Criteria

Scale

1

2

3

4

5

Description

Departmental
Service Plan

Internal
Operations

Minor injuries

<£50k

Short term disruption to
operations resulting in a
minor adverse impact on
partnerships and minimal
reduction in service
quality.

Minor Injury to
those in the
Council’s care

Minor adverse
local / public /
media
attention and
complaints

£50k-£250k
Minimal
effect on
budget/cost

Considerable fall
in service as
objectives in
service plan are
not met

Sustained moderate level
disruption to operations /
Relevant partnership
relationships strained /
Service quality not
satisfactory

Potential for
minor physical
injuries /
Stressful
experience

Adverse local
media public
attention

£250k £500k Small
increase on
budget/cost:
Handled
within the
team/service

Major impact to
services as
objectives in
service plan are
not met.

Serious disruption to
operations with
relationships in major
partnerships affected /
Service quality not
acceptable with adverse
impact on front line
services. Significant
disruption of core
activities. Key targets
missed.

Exposure to
dangerous
conditions
creating
potential for
serious
physical or
mental harm

Serious
negative
regional
criticism, with
some national
coverage

£500-£750k.
Significant
increase in
budget/cost.
Service
budgets
exceeded

Exposure to
dangerous
conditions
leading to
potential loss
of life or
permanent
physical/mental
damage. Life
threatening or
multiple
serious injuries

Prolonged
regional and
national
condemnation,
with serious
damage to the
reputation of
the
organisation
i.e. front-page
headlines, TV.
Possible
criminal, or
high profile,
civil action
against the
Council,
members or
officers

>£750k
Large
increase on
budget/cost.
Impact on
whole
council

Negligible

Limited disruption to
operations and service
quality satisfactory

Minor

Minor impact to
service as
objectives in
service plan are
not met

Moderate

Very
High/Critical

Reputation
Public concern
restricted to
local
complaints

Little impact to
objectives in
service plan

Major

People

Financial
per annum /
per loss *

Significant
fall/failure in
service as
objectives in
service plan are
not met

Long term serious
interruption to operations
/ Major partnerships
under threat / Service
quality not acceptable
with impact on front line
services

* Note that a different financial rating is used for the pension fund investments
Leicestershire County Council

Page 18

137
Risk Likelihood Measurement Criteria

Rating Scale

Likelihood

Example of Loss/Event Frequency

Probability %

1

Very rare/unlikely

EXCEPTIONAL event. This will probably
never happen/recur.

<20%

2

Unlikely

20-40%

3

Possible

Event NOT EXPECTED. Do not expect it
to happen/recur, but it is possible it may do
so.
LITTLE LIKELIHOOD of event occurring. It
might happen or recur occasionally.

4

Probable /Likely

Event is MORE THAN LIKELY to occur.
Will probably happen/recur, but it is not a
persisting issue.

60-80%

5

Almost Certain

Reasonable to expect that the event WILL
undoubtedly happen/recur, possibly
frequently.

>80%

40-60%

Risk Scoring Matrix
Impact
5
Very High/Critical

5

10

15

20

25

4
Major

4

8

12

16

20

3
Moderate

3

6

9

12

15

2
Minor

2

4

6

8

10

1
Negligible

1

2

3

4

5

1

2

3

4

5

Very
Rare/Unlikely

Unlikely

Possible/Likely

Probable/
Likely

Almost
certain
Likelihood*

*(Likelihood of risk occurring
over lifetime of objective (i.e. 12 mths)

Leicestershire County Council

Page 19

138
Risk Tolerance/Reporting Criteria

Tolerance
Levels

Original
/Current
Risk Score

Expected Actions by
Risk and Action
Owners

White

1 to 2

Controls

No action required

Monitoring =

No action required

Escalation =

No action required

Accept Risk or Maintain
Controls

Existing controls may be sufficient. No additional controls are
required unless they can be implemented at very low cost (in terms
of time, money, and effort). Actions to further reduce these risks are
assigned low priority.

Monitoring =

Review six monthly /Reporting to Service Area

Escalation =

Service Area manager

Maintain Controls or
Further Controls to
reduce rating

Controls required but consider in light of 4 Ts-Consideration should
be as to whether the risks can be lowered, where applicable, to a
tolerable level, but the costs of additional risk reduction measures
should be taken into account (time, money and effort).

Low

Medium

3 to 6

8 to 12
Monitoring =
Escalation =

High

Continued Proactive Monitoring/Review at quarterly / Reporting to
DMT
Business Partners / Relevant AD / DMT

Further Action/Controls
to reduce rating

Controls and further actions necessary. Substantial efforts should
be made to reduce the risk. Arrangements should be made to
ensure that existing controls are maintained. The risk reduction
measures should be implemented within a defined time period.

Monitoring =

Continued Proactive Quarterly Monitoring / Report to CGC

Escalation =

Chief Officers /Lead Member

15 to 25

A Departmental risk with a current risk score of 15 or more must be escalated to the Chief Officers (either as
an addition to the Corporate Risk Register, or as an emerging risk for further debate). Risks with a current risk
score of 15 will still appear on Department’s registers but should only be excluded from the Corporate Risk
Register after debate and approval from Chief Officers.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 20

139
Annex 3
Risk Management Roles & Responsibilities – Detail

Leadership:
Cabinet
Understands the key risks facing the Council, determines the level of risk and ensures risk
management is delivered to mitigate risks by:




Ensuring that a risk management framework has been established and embedded;
Approving both the Council’s Risk Management and Risk Financing Policy Statements and
Strategies as part of the Medium-Term Financial Strategy;
Ensuring relevant risk considerations (if relevant) are included within reports which may have
significant strategic policy or operational implications

Lead Members


Responsibility for gaining an understanding of the risks facing their area of accountability (in
conjunction with the relevant Director) and how these risks are being managed
This also includes the role of the Transformation Member Board in managing Portfolio level risk.

Chief Officers
Leading and ensuring effective management, monitoring and review of risk management across the
Council by:












Establishing a control environment and culture in which risk can be effectively assessed and
managed;
Directing the level of risk, the Council is prepared to accept (appetite and tolerance levels);
Encouraging the promotion of risk awareness, rather than risk avoidance;
Reviewing and, approving the Council’s corporate and strategic risks on the CRR quarterly and
their importance against the Council’s vision and priorities;
Taking the role of Transformation Delivery Board in managing Portfolio Level risk
Taking the role of Crisis Management Group in managing the pandemic response
Assisting with the identification of significant new and emerging risks as they become known - for
consideration and addition to the CRR;
Following the review and approval of the CRR, Chief Officers to determine whether a potential
reputation or consultation matter needs to be forwarded to the Communication Unit
Providing challenge to the risk scoring mechanism to ensure risks are managed to add value by
aiming to achieve the balance between undermanaging risks (unaware and no control) and overmanaging them (over-control);
Ensuring that risk assessments (if appropriate) are detailed in Cabinet or Scrutiny reports upon
which decisions are based;
Reviewing annually both the Council’s Risk Management and Risk Financing Policy Statements
and Strategies.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 21

140
Corporate:
Corporate Governance Committee (CGC)
Provides assurance for the Council that risk management is undertaken and effective by:







Reviewing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control framework;
Reviewing the Council’s Risk Management Strategy and how it is being implemented
Receiving regular progress reports on the CRR and other risk management related initiatives;
Reviewing, scrutinising and challenging the performance of the Council’s risk management
framework; including reviewing progress against planned actions from the previous quarter;
Receiving presentations on specific areas of risk;
Receiving reports from Internal and External Audit to determine the extent to which they indicate
weaknesses in control, risk management and governance arrangements.

Corporate Risk Management Group (via Departmental Risk Champion)
Provides assurance that the risk management framework and its processes are working as intended
and are effective by:
















Acting as the main contact for their department and its management on risk matters (including
specialist risks (H&S, Insurance etc.);
Representing their department at the Corporate Risk Management Group;
Encouraging the promotion of risk awareness, rather than risk avoidance;
Assisting in the implementation of any revisions to the risk management framework and promoting
use of the Risk Management Toolkit;
Providing support and training on risk management to Chief Officers, Heads of Service and other
managers within their service/department;
Providing support to the other departments’ Risk Champions;
Maintaining on behalf of the service Chief Officers and Heads, a departmental risk register that
complies with corporate guidelines;
Providing regular risk updates to DMT's as per the agreed reporting criteria and risk timetable;
Providing challenge to the risk scoring mechanism to ensure risks are managed to add value by
aiming to achieve the balance between undermanaging risks (unaware and no control) and overmanaging them (over-control)
Ensuring that corporate risk information and requirements are communicated to their department;
Assessing the relevance of corporate, other departmental service, programme, project and
partnership risks and their impact on their department;
Reviewing cross cutting risk areas where risks of one department impacts on the risks of another;
Providing overview and scrutiny to the results of the Fraud Risk Assessment process, in relation
to departmental risks;
Providing regular updates to the Internal Audit Service for corporate risks to enable reporting to
the Chief Officers and Corporate Governance Committee;

Leicestershire County Council

Page 22

141
Departmental:
Departmental Management Teams (DMT)
Ensuring that risk management is implemented in line with the Council’s Risk Management Strategy
by:















Appointing a Risk Champion /Representative for the department and authorising him/her to
progress effective risk management that adheres to corporate guidelines, across their services;
Ensuring that risk management is integrated within the annual service planning process;
Taking full ownership of risks within their departmental risk register and agreeing risk mitigation
actions, with defined timescales and responsibilities – including those departmental risks that are
also in the CRR;
Reviewing and challenging risk registers for their Service Areas on a quarterly basis if appropriate
Adhering to the corporate risk reporting timetable so that DMT meetings and risk monitoring tasks
are aligned;
Ensuring that the CRR accurately reflects only those key strategic risks facing the Council. The
DMT scrutiny process should encompass a review of all departmentally identified corporate risks
(new and those already identified), to critically evaluate the following:
o Whether the risk is an ongoing corporate risk
o Are all mitigating actions identified, they are SMART (i.e. Current Controls in place) and
working adequately or are additional actions necessary?
o The Current Risk Score (Impact and Likelihood) is accurate and is not ‘over-scored’ in
terms of likelihood particularly if a range of current controls have been identified as
embedded and working adequately
o Only consider any further actions/ additional controls after determining whether any cost of
implementing further mitigating control is merited when compared to the risk reduction
benefits achieved. If required, further actions should be SMART and record ‘expected
timeframe/due date’ which should improve the robustness of the Target Risk impact and
likelihood scores
Receiving reports on risk management activity and review key risks regularly;
Undertaking regular departmental horizon scanning for new or emerging risks, ensuring
communication of these through appropriate channels and incorporation within the Departmental
Risk Register if appropriate;
Suggesting recommendations for the removal of current corporate risks that are considered as
lower levels of risk;
Taking ownership of identifying and managing project, partnership and business as usual risks
effectively, and escalating risks to the Portfolio, Departmental or Corporate risk register where
appropriate
Ensuring that risk management considerations are included in all Cabinet, Scrutiny and
Regulatory bodies reports in respect of strategic policy decisions;
Providing assurance on the effectiveness of risk management within their department as part of
the Annual Governance Statement process;
Following the review and approval of the Departmental Risk Register, DMTs to determine whether
a potential reputation or consultation matter needs to be forwarded to Communication Unit

Leicestershire County Council

Page 23

142
Service Managers
Providing assurance to DMT’s that risks within their service are being managed effectively by:











Ensuring that risk management within their area of responsibility is implemented in line with the
Council’s Risk Management Strategy (i.e. identify, assess, manage and monitor);
Managing risks on a day to day basis;
Adhering to the risk scoring mechanism (original, current and target risk scores) outlined in the
Strategy to ensure risks are managed to add value by aiming to achieve the balance between
undermanaging risks (unaware and no control) and over-managing them (over-control)
Communicating the results of their service risk assessment to the DMT via their Risk Champion,
demonstrating effectiveness of controls in place to mitigate/reduce service risks;
Managing risks from their areas of responsibility that have been included within the departmental
risk register. Where further actions/ additional controls are necessary, ensure they are completed
by the planned completion date;
Identifying new and emerging risks or problems with managing known risks and escalating to the
Risk Champion where appropriate;
Assessing fraud risk within their service areas as part of the Fraud Risk Assessment process;
Ensuring that they and their staff are aware of corporate requirements, seeking clarification from
their Risk Champions when required;
Identifying risk training needs of staff and informing this to Risk Champions;
Using the Risk Management Toolkit and guidance.

Programme/Project/Partnerships
Providing assurance that project, programme and partnership risks and their impact are managed
and communicated effectively by:







Ensuring risk management is a regular item on Partnership / Programme/Project Board agendas;
Reviewing and monitoring risks identified on programme/project/partnerships risks, ensuring that
suitable controls are in place and working, or that plans are being drawn up to strengthen existing
controls or put in place further controls;
Identifying new and emerging risks or problems with managing known risks, ensuring
communication of these through appropriate channels;
Escalating appropriate Project, Programme or Partnership risks to the relevant Departmental
Portfolio, or Corporate Risk Register where those risks may impact at a Departmental, Portfolio or
Corporate level – ultimately the project or programme SRO/Sponsor is accountable for ensuring
this happens;
Ensuring any ongoing risks or issues identified at Project/Programme closure are transferred to
the relevant business owner and where appropriate are escalated to Departmental or Corporate
Risk Registers.

Risk Champions - See Corporate section
Staff




Taking responsibility for gaining an understanding of the risks facing their area of accountability;
Report promptly perceived failures in existing control measures that could increase risk.
Take due care to understand and comply with the risk management processes and guidelines of
the Council.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 24

143
Assurance Services
Risk Management function (in conjunction with the Director of Corporate Resources):
Provide assurance that the flow of risk information throughout the Council is working and effective to
produce and maintain the Corporate Risk Register by:















Leading in the development and implementation of the risk management framework and
promoting use of the Risk Management Toolkit;
Meeting with departments as per the risk management timetable to review and challenge risk
registers and emerging risks;
Identify any potential future internal audit requirements to the Head of Internal Audit & Assurance
Service
Coordinating risk management activity across the Council with the support of Departmental Risk
Champions/Representatives
Collating the changes to departmental risks and ensure that the Corporate Risk Register is
amended to reflect current position;
Regular horizon scanning (in conjunction with Chief Officers, DMT Risk Champions and the Head
of Internal Audit & Assurance Service) of information from relevant publications and minutes from
key meetings to provide a basis for including additional risks on the Corporate Risk Register;
Reporting progress on the Corporate Risk Register and other risk management related initiatives
to the Chief Officers, Corporate Governance Committee and Cabinet as per the risk management
timetable;
Supporting Departmental Risk Champions/Representatives in their risk management role;
Communicating corporate risk management information and requirements;
Reviewing the Risk Management Policy Statement and Strategy at least annually to reflect best
practice and initiate improvements;
Arranging for the review of risk management maturity; benchmarking scrutiny and challenge
Establishing links with external groups and organisations in order to gain knowledge and share
best practice on risk management issues;
Agreeing mechanisms for identifying, assessing and managing risks in key partnerships;
Supporting the development and delivery of relevant risk training

Assurance function (Internal Audit Service)
Review and challenge the effectiveness of the risk management framework, providing independent
assurance about the quality of controls that managers have in place, by:







Creating a risk-based audit plan that is aligned wherever possible to the Corporate Risk Register
and the Departmental Risk Registers and other drivers, e.g. biennial Fraud Risk Assessment;
Testing and validating existing controls, with recommendations for improvement on identified
control weaknesses;
Reporting outcomes to Directors and Corporate Governance Committee;
Monitoring changing risk profiles based on audit work undertaken, to adapt future audit work to
reflect these changes;
Conduct relevant audits of the risk management framework and maturity but overseen by a
manager independent to the Service.
Take account of any commentary/improvements recommended by the External Auditor in its
annual review of Value for Money arrangements.

Leicestershire County Council

Page 25

144
Annex 4
Action Plan

This Strategy sets out the developments / actions the Council proposes over the short-term future to further
improve risk management maturity. These developments include the following actions: Action

Target
Implementation
Date

Complete

Ongoing annually

Yes

Annual
December 2021

Yes

Annual

February 2022

February/March
annually

Due after County
Council on 23
February 2022

Provision of support to Departmental Risk Champions if
necessary.
Develop options for Collaboration Office 365 space by
Department for updates to Departmental Risk Registers.

Ongoing

Yes

2022-23

Partly complete

Develop and introduce key performance indicator(s) for risk
management activity to maintain and improve the maturity rating.

Ongoing

Develop a training matrix to identify the levels of training that need
to be attained by staff at different levels in the organisation.
Explore differing options E.g. Face to face, external training.
Explore the free training offering from the Council’s Insurance
providers - Gallagher Bassett's risk management consultancy
service.

Ongoing

Partly –
Developed
dashboards on
Tableau
Partly

To liaise with ALARM and East Midlands Regional Group to
develop and implement guidance to ensure risks associated with
partnerships are captured, particularly where the Council is the
lead accountable body. Intranet to be updated accordingly.

2021-22

To review and revise the Council’s Risk Management Policy
Statement and Strategy and related guidance with endorsement
from Chief Officers and Corporate Governance Committee.


Assist Update of Departmental Service Planning Guidance
2021-22.



DMT and Risk Champions to align Risk Registers to the
Service Planning Process – 2022-23. To ensure risks
recorded link back to departmental and service planning
objectives.

Update and communicate through Manager’s Digest, the
Council’s intranet Risk Management pages to include;





Revised Risk Management Policy & Strategy
All relevant guidance on methodologies and processes,
including the revised Risk Assessment Criteria and Map
Who to contact: details of the risk management “network”,
Links to further information and guidance e.g. ALARM website

Leicestershire County Council

Page 26

No c/fwd. to
2022-23

145
Maintain effective horizon scanning process and communication
of new/emerging risks to Risk Champions for assessment and
consideration.

Ongoing

Yes

Develop E Learning for Risk Management

2021-22

No c/fwd. to
2022-23

Input to regional East Midlands Risk Management Group.

Ongoing

Regular meetings with the Corporate Risk Management Group to
share and communicate information.

Ongoing

Undertake Risk Maturity Assessment and implement an Action
Plan to address any recommendations.

Leicestershire County Council

December 2021

Page 27

No
Spring 2022

This page is intentionally left blank

147

APPENDIX C
INSURANCE POLICY 2022-26
Leicestershire County Council’s (the Council’s) insurance programme is arranged in
conjunction with its appointed Insurance Brokers (currently Aon UK Ltd).
Potential losses are covered by a combination of self-insurance and a range of
policies held with insurance companies, which are renewed on an annual basis. The
process to identify the level of self-insured retention against the insurance required is
based on several factors. These include the reduction in premium to be achieved by
altering the excess levels weighed up against the Council’s ability to meet an
increased exposure, for example by way of a spike in claims received due to external
factors like the weather and for one-off large losses.
‘Aggregate stop limits’ are in place which cap the potential exposure to the Council on
an annual basis by reducing the self-insured retention levels (excess) significantly
once the limit has been breached.
The Council’s Insurance Programme is currently insured via Risk Management
Partners with liability and motor risks underwritten by QBE and property risks
underwritten by AIG.
The current insurance arrangements have been in place since 2014 following an
OJEU compliant Tender. The tender was awarded based on a long-term agreement
covering a maximum 10-year period with various break points during the contract.
The following policies are currently in place as of 1st October 2021:
Class of Insurance

Limit of Indemnity /
Basis of Cover

Aggregate Stop
Limit if
applicable

Excess

Employers’ Liability

£50m – Cover written on
an any one occurrence
basis via QBE.

£3.5m

£425,000

Public Liability

£50m - Cover written on
an any one occurrence
basis

£3.5m

£425,000

Officials Indemnity

£10m – Cover written on
an aggregate basis

£3.5m

£250,000

Professional
Indemnity

£10m - Cover written on
an aggregate basis

£3.5m

£75,000

Fidelity Guarantee

£10m - Cover written on
an aggregate basis

N/A

£100,000

148

Motor

Comprehensive

N/A £1,250 (only applying
to own vehicle
damage)

Material Damage &
Business Interruption
(Non-Education)

Day One Reinstatement

£1m

£500,000

Material Damage &
Business Interruption
(Education)

Day One Reinstatement

£1m

£500,000

Material Damage &
Business Interruption
(Commercial
including Industrial
Units)

Day One Reinstatement

N/A

£250

Material Damage &
Business Interruption
(Farms)

Day One Reinstatement

N/A

£500

Terrorism

Select properties

N/A

Nil

Business Interruption
£25m Increased Cost of
Working (ICOW) (48
months)

Business Interruption
£25m ICOW (48 months)

Business Interruption
£25m ICOW (48 months)

Business Interruption
£25m ICOW (48 months)

Business Interruption
£25m (48 months)

An annual revenue contribution is required to allow the Council to fund claims within
the self-insured retention limits, thus aiming to prevent a detrimental impact on service
budgets. The level required is assessed annually as part of the MTFS, based upon a
number of factors including the current claims experience and anticipated future
changes. For example, new heads of claims which may emerge.
The amount of funding required from the Council, can vary significantly each year.
This can be due to one off catastrophic incidents occurring, such as a large building
fire, or simply the timing of when claims are reported culminating in an increased
volume of claims covering one particular period.
For own property damage claims, and fidelity claims, there is usually a short delay
between incident and notification. It is therefore a more straightforward process to set
aside appropriate funding for annual losses but retaining a focus on catastrophic
events which occur on a less regular basis, but which have a greater financial impact.

149

Assessing liability claim levels are more difficult, due to the nature of claims that the
Council receives, claims will have been incurred but not reported within the financial
year of the incident. A number of years can elapse before a liability claim is concluded.
Earmarked funds are held to allow for years of exceptionally high claims, both in terms
of volume and value, to be covered without detriment on the annual revenue budget.
The earmarked funds for these classes are subject to an annual internal assessment
and periodic actuarial review to ensure that they are maintained at suitable levels in
order to meet ongoing financial commitments. In addition, provisions are held for
claims received that are awaiting settlement, the level being based on an assessment
of the likely liability.
The Insurance Service employs experienced claims negotiators who handle all liability
claims brought against Leicestershire County Council up to the delegated authority
limits as agreed with the insurer.
The claims handling delegated authority extends to cover investigations into
allegations of negligence and provides authority to take decisions on liability. The
Council’s claims negotiators, its Legal Services team and external solicitors and other
approved experts, work in partnership to defend litigated claims.
The Insurance Service has traditionally been subject to annual audits undertaken on
behalf of the Insurance Company. The outcome of these audits could ultimately have
implications on the agreed delegated authority limits resulting in reduced autonomy
over decisions of liability and settlement negotiations. Outcomes have generally been
exceptional (highest rating).
More details on the principles of risk financing are to be found in the Council’s Risk
Management Policy Statement and Strategy 2022.

Revised December 2021
Next due December 2022

This page is intentionally left blank

151

Agenda Item 12

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 28 JANUARY
2022
REGULATION OF INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2000 AND
THE INVESTIGATORY POWERS ACT 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF LAW AND GOVERNANCE
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to:
(a)

to advise the Committee on the Authority’s use of the Regulation of
Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) and the Investigatory Powers
Act 2016 (IPA) for the period from 1 January 2021 to 31 December
2021; and

(b)

to ask the Committee to review the Covert Surveillance and the
Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Statement relating to RIPA
which is attached to this report.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Codes of Practice made under RIPA require elected members of a local
authority to review the authority’s use of RIPA and the policy at least once a
year. The Corporate Governance Committee as the relevant committee for
this purpose is also required to consider internal reports on the use of
surveillance to ensure that it is being applied consistently with the local
authority’s policy and that the policy remains fit for purpose. The Code
makes it clear that elected members should not be involved in making
decisions on specific authorisations.

3.

On 29 January 2021 this Committee agreed that the Council’s Covert
Surveillance and the Acquisition of Communications Data Policy Statement
(relating to the use of RIPA) remained fit for purpose and the Cabinet
subsequently approved the Policy Statement at its meeting on 23 March
2021. As there are no proposed changes to the Policy Statement there is no
requirement for further review by Cabinet.

Background

152

4.

RIPA provides a framework to ensure investigatory techniques are used in a
way that is compatible with Article 8 (right to respect for private and family
life) of the European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR). RIPA ensures
that these techniques are used in a regulated way and it includes safeguards
to prevent abuse of such methods. Use of these covert techniques will only
be authorised if considered lawful, necessary and proportionate.

5.

The Trading Standards Service is the primary user of RIPA and IPA within
the County Council and it mainly undertakes the following three activities:
i.

ii.

iii.

6.

Directed Surveillance – the pre-planned covert surveillance of
individuals, sometimes involving the use of hidden visual and audio
equipment.
Covert Human Intelligence Sources – the use of County Council
officers, who act as consumers to purchase goods and services, e.g.
in person, by telephone or via the internet.
Communications data – the acquisition of communications data, for
example, subscriber details relating to an internet account, a mobile
phone or fixed line numbers, but such data does not include the
contents of the communication itself.

The Investigatory Powers Commissioner’s Office (IPCO) oversee the use of
covert investigatory powers by more than 600 public authorities, including the
UK’s intelligence agencies, law enforcement agencies, police, councils and
prisons.

Communications Data
7.

The Data Retention and Acquisition Regulations (SI 2018/1123) amended
both RIPA and IPA and provide an authorisation process for public bodies
that seek to obtain communications data for a specific criminal investigation.

8.

Judicial oversight of local authorities seeking to covertly obtain
communications data has transferred from the Magistrates’ Court to the
Office of Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA).

9.

The legislation requires local authorities to enter into a formal collaboration
agreement with the National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN) an organisation,
hosted by Tameside Metropolitan Borough Council which specialises in
providing data and intelligence services to enforcement agencies. NAFN act
as the single point of contact between any communications service provider
and the Council and prepare, on the Council’s behalf, any applications to the
OCDA.

10.

An application to obtain communications data must first receive senior
internal approval by the designated person (currently the Council’s Head of
Regulatory Services and Assistant Head of Law) before it can be submitted
to the OCDA for consideration. An application will therefore only be referred
to the OCDA if it first meets the Council’s own necessity and proportionality

153

test.
11.

Local authorities will be permitted via NAFN to acquire the less intrusive
types of communications data, now referred to as ‘entity’ data (e.g. the
identity of the person to whom services are provided) and ‘events’ data (e.g.
the date and type of communications, time sent, and duration, frequency of
communications). However, it will remain the case that under no
circumstances will it be permitted to obtain or intercept the content of any
communications.

12.

In order to obtain either type of data, in addition to satisfying the necessity
and proportionality test, an authority previously had to show that the purpose
of the application was for the prevention and detection of a crime. This
remains the same for ‘entity’ data. However, for ‘events’ data, the threshold
has been raised and the purpose must now be for the prevention or detection
of a ‘serious’ crime (e.g. an offence for which an individual could be
sentenced to imprisonment for a term of 12 months or more, or offences
which involve, as an integral part, the sending of a communication or a
breach of a person’s privacy).

13.

Any application to the OCDA will be guided by the Council’s Policy Statement
attached, current best practice and the Communications Data Code.

Surveillance activities
14.

For the period of 1 January – 31 December 2021, the following
authorisations were approved:



Three relating to cover human intelligence sources (CHIS)
Three applications to obtain communications data.

15.

All authorisations were granted and all were associated with criminal
investigations undertaken by the Trading Standards Service.

16.

The County Council’s Intranet continues to be the primary source of
information and advice to ensure all County Council managers are aware of
the authorisation, necessity and proportionality requirements when deploying
covert surveillance. The Policy Statement is also referenced with the
requirement for managers to liaise with an authorising officer before
deploying any covert activity, which may include systematically accessing
open source material including social media material.

Recommendations
17.

The Committee is asked to:
i.

note the use of the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA)
and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA) for the period from 1
January to 31 December 2021;

154

ii.

review the Council’s Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of
Communications Data Policy Statement (which is unchanged since
approval by Cabinet in March 2021) and confirm that this remains fit for
purpose;

iii.

agree to continue to receive an annual report on the use of RIPA and
IPA powers.

Background Papers
Report to the Corporate Governance Committee on 29 January 2021 Regulation of Investigatory powers Act 2000 and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6492&Ver=4
Report to the Cabinet on 23 March 2021 Regulation of Investigatory powers Act
2000 and the Investigatory Powers Act 2016 - review of Policy statement
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6441&Ver=4
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
None.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
None arising from this report.
Officers to Contact
Lauren Haslam
Director of Law and Governance
Tel: 0116 305 6240
Email: lauren.haslam@leics.gov.uk
Appendices
Appendix

-

Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of Communications Data
Policy Statement.

155
Appendix
Covert Surveillance and the Acquisition of “Communications
Data” Policy Statement
1.

This policy sets out how Leicestershire County Council (the Council) will
comply with the Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA), the
Investigatory Powers Act 2016 (IPA), the Human Rights Act 1998 and the
European Convention on Human Rights (ECHR) - Article 8, when carrying
out any covert investigatory techniques. If such covert investigatory
techniques are conducted by the Council, RIPA and the IPA regulates them
in a manner that is compatible with ECHR, particularly the right to respect
for private and family life (Article 8). The use of covert investigatory
techniques is an interference with the rights protected by the ECHR (Article
8) and there may be a potential violation of those rights, unless the
interference is in accordance with the law and is necessary in a democratic
society in the interests of:







national security;
public safety;
economic well–being of the country;
the prevention of disorder or crime;
protecting of health or morals; or
the protection of the rights and freedoms of others.

Any such interference must be proportionate requiring a balancing of the
seriousness of the intrusion against the seriousness of the offence and
consideration of whether there are other means to obtain the required
information.
The Council has several specific core functions requiring it to investigate the
activities of private individuals, groups and organisations within its
jurisdiction, for the benefit and protection of the greater public. Such
investigations may require the Council to undertake covert investigatory
techniques.
2.

In accordance with RIPA and the IPA the Council will only use three
covert investigatory techniques for its core functions (details set out
below).
” Directed Surveillance” will only be used for the purposes of the
Council’s investigations. This is covert non-intrusive surveillance,
which is carried out in such a way that the persons subject to the
surveillance are unaware that it is or may be taking place. It is
undertaken for the purposes of a specific investigation or operation
and is conducted in such a manner, that it is likely to result in the
obtaining of private information about a person and in circumstances
other than by way of an immediate response to events, where it would
not be reasonably practicable to seek authorisation for the
surveillance. The Council will not undertake surveillance in residential
properties or private vehicles.

156

“Covert Human Intelligence Source” (CHIS) will only be used for the
purposes of the Council’s investigations. This is an individual, who
may or may not reveal their identity, establishes or maintains a
personal or other relationship with another person(s), for the covert
purpose of obtaining information and disclosing the information to the
Council. It is immaterial whether information provided by the source is
given voluntarily or the source is tasked by a public authority to obtain
the information. A CHIS activity is determined by the manner in which
the information was covertly obtained and then subsequently passed
on to the Council.
“Communications Data” (CD) includes the ‘who’, ‘when’, ‘where’, and
‘how’ of a communication, but not the content i.e. what was said or
written. The Council may only acquire less intrusive types of CD; “Entity
data” (e.g. the identity of the person to whom services are provided) or
“Events Data” (e.g. the date and time sent, duration, frequency of
communications). The location of the entity or events data at the time
the communication is sent or received may also be obtained in
appropriate cases.
The Council is prohibited from obtaining “Content Data”, the meaning
of the communication, (e.g. what the communication says or contains).
3.

Applications for CD are subject to independent examination, scrutiny and
approval by the Investigatory Powers Commissioner (IPC) through the
“Office of Communications Data Authorisations” (OCDA)

4.

The Council will continue to maintain a collaboration agreement with the
National Anti-Fraud Network (NAFN), to comply with IPA and to ensure any
investigation follows best practice. The Council will consult and work with
NAFN throughout the application process to ensure the legal basis for all
applications are met. NAFN will act as a single point of contact between
both the communications service providers and the Council concerning the
request and provision of CD

5.

The Council will not acquire CD unless an application for authorisation is
approved both internally, by designated senior officers and externally, by
the Office for Communications Data Authorisations (OCDA).

6.

An authorisation to acquire CD will remain in force for 1 month, unless a
further application is made by the Council through NAFN and approved by
OCDA. The authorisation may be cancelled at any time, by either OCDA or
the Council.

7.

In respect to applications for communications data made under the IPA, the
“applicable crime purpose” must be met concerning all applications for both
Entity Data and Events Data. The applicable crime purpose is defined
differently in relation to each of these data types. Where the CD sought is

157

Entity Data, the applicable crime purpose is the prevention or detection of
crime or the prevention of disorder. Where the CD is wholly or partly Events
Data, the applicable crime purpose is defined as preventing or detecting
serious crime (the serious crime threshold). Data relating to Events has the
potential to be more intrusive than data relating to Entities.
8.

The Council will not utilise a RIPA “Directed Surveillance” or “Covert Human
Intelligence Source” authorisation, until an order approving the grant or
renewal of an authorisation and/or notice(s) has been granted by a
Magistrates’ Court.

9.

Digital investigation, in particular, the review of ‘open source’ material which
has been placed in the public domain without the expectation of privacy, will
not normally require a RIPA authorisation. However, the Council will seek
an authorisation to undertake repeated or systematic examinations of open
source sites, if such examination is undertaken to build up a picture of a
person’s activities or lifestyle. The Council will seek a CHIS authorisation if
there is to be any interaction with the site host, for example, sending
messages and/or making covert enquiries of any kind.

10.

Before an authorisation is submitted to a Magistrates’ Court it must be
internally authorised by an “Authorising Officer” or a “Designated Person” of
the Council. Such covert investigatory techniques will only be used where it
is considered necessary (e.g. to investigate a suspected crime) and
proportionate (e.g. balancing the seriousness of the intrusion into privacy
against the seriousness of the offence and whether the information can be
obtained by other means). The Council will follow the relevant Codes of
Practice on the scope of powers, necessity and proportionality.
In accordance with the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 the Council will
only submit a “Directed Surveillance” authorisation to the Magistrates’ Court
for authorisation, for the purpose of preventing crime, where a criminal
offence(s) is punishable (whether on summary conviction or indictment) by
a maximum term of at least 6 months' imprisonment, is suspected, or if the
offence relates to the underage sale of alcohol tobacco or nicotine inhaling
products and where the necessity and proportionality tests are met. The
Council will ensure that any authorisations and/or notices, which are
granted and/or renewed by the Magistrates’ Court or by the Council’s
Authorising Officers, are not utilised beyond the statutory time limits
prescribed.

11.

The Council will maintain a list of senior officers, who are designated to
oversee the covert investigatory techniques specified in paragraph 2, in
respect of the Council’s internal procedures for authorisations under RIPA
and IPA, prior to the authorisations and/or notice(s) being approved by a
Magistrates’ Court or the IPC/ OCDA, and to oversee the process following
such approvals until cancellation. A record of approved authorisations and
notices will be kept by the Council. The Council’s Monitoring Officer, being
the Senior Responsible Officer under RIPA, will ensure that the senior
officers with responsibility for overseeing any covert investigatory

158

techniques are at Director, Head of Service, Service Manager or equivalent
level of seniority and are aware of the Council’s obligations to comply with
RIPA and with this policy. Furthermore, all officers who are required to
undertake covert techniques will receive appropriate training or be
appropriately supervised.
12.

The Council may undertake any of the covert investigatory techniques
specified in paragraph 2 above, in respect to the prevention and detection of
illegal sales of the following age restricted products: Butane, Knives and
Fireworks, even though these products do not meet the criteria specified in
the Protection of Freedoms Act 2012 and therefore do not attract the
protections of RIPA, in respect to these covert investigatory techniques. The
Council believes that it is important that the Council’s Trading Standards
Service is authorised to use any of the aforementioned covert investigatory
techniques, in order to undertake enforcement activities in respect of the
aforementioned products, even though the Council will not be afforded the
protection of RIPA. The Council will ensure that it continues to comply with
its obligations under the ECHR (Article 8), by requiring its Trading Standards
Service to adhere to the same authorisation procedures for RIPA
authorisations and/or notices, except for the requirement to seek the
approval of a Magistrates’ Court.

13.

The Council will ensure that any other covert investigatory techniques,
not requiring the approval of a Magistrates’ Court, will be subject to the
same internal authorisation processes as referred to above.

14.

This policy and the procedures for the proper approval of
authorisations and/or notice(s), the recording of covert investigatory
techniques, will be reviewed when it is considered appropriate to do
so.

Reviewed: January 2021.
Approved by Cabinet: March 2021

159

Agenda Item 13

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE – 28 JANUARY 2022
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL
INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2022/23
Purpose of the Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Corporate Governance Committee
with an opportunity to review the treasury management strategy statement and
annual investment strategy for 2022/23.

Background
2.

The Treasury Management Strategy statement and Annual Investment Strategy
form part of the Medium Term Financial Strategy which will be considered by the
Council at its meeting on 23 February 2022.

3.

Any comments that are made by the Corporate Governance Committee will be
included in the report to the Council on this matter.

4.

In December 2017, the Chartered Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy
(CIPFA) issued a revised Treasury Management Code of Practice and a revised
Prudential Code. The changes to the Codes reflect concern within Central
Government about a trend towards authorities making investments in assets which
are not required for service reasons, in an attempt to generate additional resources
to assist the revenue budget. Most (but not all) of these investments have been in
commercial property and many have been funded by external borrowing. There is a
view that some of these investments have been made without authorities having the
requisite skills to fully understand the investment. The requirements of the 2017
Code are to ensure that members are fully informed of the details of these types of
investments, and in particular that they have a better understanding of the
associated risks.

5.

Subsequent guidance produced by the Secretary of State supports the code in
requiring local authorities to prepare at least one investment strategy that will
contain certain disclosures around risk, security, liquidity and yield when making
these types of ‘commercial’ investments. The Council has had in place for some
time its Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) Strategy which it first produced in
2014 prior to this guidance being produced. This has been updated annually since
then, the most recent version is scheduled to be reported to the Scrutiny
Commission in January 2022, and the Cabinet in February 2022, and when read in

160

conjunction with the Treasury Management Strategy and Statement; this fulfils the
Council’s obligations set out within this guidance.
6.

The Council’s Corporate Asset Investment Fund (CAIF) Strategy sets out the
approach the Council will follow when considering the acquisition investments for
the purposes of inclusion within the CAIF. It specifically documents the Council’s
requirements for ensuring effective due diligence, risk appetite, independent and
expert advice and scrutiny arrangements, and performance monitoring by the
Corporate Asset Investment Board, the Cabinet and the Scrutiny Commission as
part of the regular monitoring of the MTFS.

7.

The period covered by the Strategy has been aligned to the MTFS, but like the
MTFS this will continue to be reviewed and refreshed on an annual basis and
reported to the Cabinet and the Scrutiny Commission as appropriate. The CAIF
Strategy will therefore be considered by the Cabinet and the County Council as part
of the MTFS 2022-26 in February 2022.

8.

The County Council has not and does not intend to borrow to fund the investments
within the CAIF programme. The proposed investments in CAIF included with the
MTFS 2022-26 are entirely funded from revenue reserves. Decisions on the
availability and proportionality of funding to fund the Capital Programme, are made
through the Capital Strategy (which includes funding for CAIF) are reviewed
annually as part of the MTFS, and the Treasury Management Strategy Statement
and Annual Investment Strategy. These documents take into account the statutory
guidance issued by the Secretary of State under the Local Government Act 2003.

9.

On 20th December 2021 CIPFA published revised Treasury Management and
Prudential Codes of Practice with formal adoption not until the 2023/24 financial
year. Further details are provided in Annex 5 of the Appendix. The updated Codes
will be reviewed to assess the impacts to the current approach and any changes
required will be formally adopted within the 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy
Statement (TMSS) report.

Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy
10. The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic has reduced the number of lending options
open to the council. Whereas the economic crisis of 2008 was characterised by a
lack of liquidity in financial markets. The opposite is true of the current crisis.
Regulatory requirements for increased capitalisation, coupled with unprecedented
fiscal and monetary stimulus from central governments, have resulted in subdued
demand for capital. Further to this, ratings actions, including the downgrade of the
UK sovereign rating, have reduced the list of acceptable counterparties available.
11. In order to maintain a flexible, risk averse approach to treasury management, the
limit for lending to overseas banks domiciled within a single country (other than the
UK) has been increased from £30m to £50m. Although the maximum amount that
can invested in a single country has increased, the amount that can be invested in
an individual institution will remain the same. This serves to expand the Council’s
lending capacity without increasing exposure to any individual institution.

161

12. Following the lasting implications of the COVID-19 pandemic, in particular, the way
the pandemic demonstrated that unforeseeable events can very quickly cause
significant uncertainty and shock financial markets, it is recognised that in
exceptional circumstances the Director of Corporate Resources, in order to protect
capital balances and liquidity, may have to take immediate action that breaches the
limits within the policy on a temporary basis. The Committee noted at its meeting in
January 2021 that action would only be taken as a last resort and that any such
action taken would be reported, along with the rationale behind it, to the Corporate
Governance Committee at the first opportunity. It was also agreed at the meeting
that ideally the decision should be made in consultation with the Chairman of the
Corporate Governance Committee and if immediate action was required and it was
not possible to consult with the Chairman, the Chairman would be informed as soon
as practicable afterwards.
Resource Implications
13. The interest earned on revenue balances and the interest paid on external debt
(which are directly correlated to the Treasury Management Strategy Statement
and Annual Investment Strategy) will impact onto the resources available to the
Council.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
14. There are no discernible equality and human rights implications.
Recommendation
15. The Committee is asked to comment on this report.
Background Papers
Report to Corporate Governance Committee on 29 January 2021 – Treasury Management
Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2021/22:
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=434&MId=6492&Ver=4
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
16.

None

Officers to Contact
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 6199 E-mail Chris.Tambini@leics.gov.uk
Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning)
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk

162

Appendices
Appendix - Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy
2022/23

163

APPENDIX N
TREASURY MANAGEMENT STRATEGY STATEMENT AND ANNUAL
INVESTMENT STRATEGY 2022/26
1.

This strategy statement has been prepared in accordance with the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy (CIPFA) Treasury Management in the
Public Services Code of Practice (the Code). Accordingly, the Council’s Treasury
Management Strategy will be approved annually by the full Council and there will
be quarterly reports to the Corporate Governance Committee. The Corporate
Governance Committee considered the contents of the Treasury Management
Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy at its meeting on 28 January
2022. The aim of these reporting arrangements is to ensure that those with
ultimate responsibility for the treasury management function appreciate fully the
implications of treasury management policies and activities, and that those
implementing policies and executing transactions have properly fulfilled their
responsibilities with regard to delegation and reporting.

2.

On 20th December 2021 CIPFA published revised Treasury Management and
Prudential Codes of Practice with formal adoption not until the 2023/24 financial
year. Further details are provided in Annex 5. The updated Codes will be
reviewed to assess the impacts to the current approach and any changes required
will be formally adopted within the 2023/24 Treasury Management Strategy
Statement (TMSS) report.

3.

The Council has adopted the following reporting arrangements in accordance with
the requirements of the Code:-

Area of Responsibility
Treasury Management
Policy Statement
Treasury Management
Strategy/Annual Investment
Strategy
Quarterly Treasury
Management updates
Updates or revisions to
Treasury Management
Strategy/Annual Investment
Strategy during year
Annual Treasury Outturn
Report
Treasury Management
Practices
Review of Treasury
Management
Strategy/Annual Investment
Strategy
Review of Treasury
Management Performance

Council/Committee/Officer
Full Council
Full Council

Corporate Governance
Committee
Cabinet (following
consideration by Corporate
Governance Committee,
wherever practical)
Cabinet
Director of Corporate
Resources
Corporate Governance
Committee

Corporate Governance
Committee

Frequency
Annually before start of
financial year
Annually before start of
financial year
Quarterly
Ad hoc

Annually by end of
September following year end

Annually before start of
financial year and before
consideration by full Council,
wherever practical
Annually by end of
September following year end

164

Treasury Management Strategy 2022/26
4.

The Local Government Act 2003 (the Act) and supporting regulations requires the
Council to ‘have regard to’ the CIPFA Prudential Code and the CIPFA Treasury
Management Code of Practice to set Prudential and Treasury Indicators for the
next three years to ensure that the Council’s capital investment plans are
affordable, prudent and sustainable.
The Act requires the Council to set its treasury strategy for borrowing and to
prepare an Annual Investment strategy (for Treasury Management investments) this is included in later paragraphs of this strategy. It sets out the Council’s policies
for managing its Treasury Management investments and for giving priority to the
security and liquidity of those investments.
This Strategy should be read in conjunction with the Corporate Asset Investment
Fund (CAIF) strategy, which sets out the Councils approach when considering the
acquisition of investments for the purposes of inclusion within the CAIF, and the
Capital Strategy, which sets out the Councils approach to determining its medium
term capital requirements. These documents form part of the Medium Term
Financial Strategy (MTFS) and together take into account the statutory guidance
issued by the Secretary of State under the Local Government Act 2003.
This proposed strategy for 2022/23 in respect of the treasury management
function is based upon Officers’ views on interest rates, supplemented with leading
market forecasts provided by the Council’s treasury adviser, Link Asset Services.
Balanced Budget Requirement

5.

It is a statutory requirement under Section 33 of the Local Government Finance
Act 1992, for the Council to produce a balanced budget. In particular, Section 32
requires a local authority to calculate its budget requirement for each financial year
to include the revenue costs that flow from capital financing decisions. This means
that increases in capital expenditure must be limited to a level whereby the
increase in charges to the revenue budget from:
i)
ii)

increase in interest charges caused by increased borrowing to finance
additional capital expenditure, and
any increases in running costs from new capital projects

are limited to a level which is affordable within the projected income of the Council
for the foreseeable future.
Treasury Limits for 2022/23 to 2025/26
6.

It is a statutory duty under Section 3 of the Act and supporting regulations, for the
Council to determine and keep under review how much it can afford to borrow. The
amount so determined is termed the “Affordable Borrowing Limit”. In England and
Wales the Authorised Limit represents the legislative limit specified in the Act.

165

The Council must have regard to the Prudential Code when setting the Authorised
Limit, which essentially requires it to ensure that total capital investment remains
within sustainable limits and, in particular, that the impact upon its future council
tax level is ‘acceptable’.
Whilst termed an “Affordable Borrowing Limit” the capital plans to be considered
for inclusion incorporate financing by both borrowing and other forms of liability,
such as credit arrangements. The Authorised Limit is to be set, on a rolling basis,
for the forthcoming financial year and three successive financial years. Details of
the Authorised Limit can be found in Annex 2 to this Strategy.
Current Portfolio Position
7.

The Council’s treasury portfolio position at 31st December 2021 was:
Principal
£m
Fixed Rate Funding
(borrowing)

Average Rate
%

PWLB
Market

159.1
103.5

6.22
4.37

Total Borrowing

262.6

5.84

356.8
94.2

0.19

Total Investments
Net Investment

The market debt relates to structures referred to as LOBOs (Lenders Option,
Borrowers Option), where the lender has certain dates when they can increase the
interest rate payable and, if they do, the borrower has the option of accepting the
new rate or repaying the loan. All of these LOBOs have passed the first
opportunity for the lender to change the rate and as a result they are all classed as
fixed rate funding, even though, in theory, the rate could change in the future.
The Council’s average rate of return on its treasury investments is 0.19% (as at 30
Sep 21). This compares favourably to the average of other English Counties
(0.17%).
Capital Financing Requirement
8.

The Council is forecast to be overborrowed as at 31 March 2022 by £37m. There
are a number of reasons that the Council is in an ‘overborrowed’ position but
among them are the lack of unsupported borrowing within it, a move by Central
Government to switch capital approvals (which required external debt to be raised)
to grants and the meaningful levels of voluntary Minimum Revenue Provision
(MRP) that have been applied in recent years. In essence this is a natural position
to be in if new external debt is not required, as an annual provision is made to set
aside cash in advance of loans maturing. The advantage this provides the County
Council is flexibility in the use of cash resources in advance of the debt becoming
due.

166

The new MTFS includes a requirement to increase the Capital Financing
Requirement (CFR) by £143m by 2025/26. This will fund essential investment in
service improvement, investment for growth and invest to save projects. Due to
the levels of internal cash balances, which would otherwise be available to lend to
banks, no new external loans are forecast to be required in the short to medium
term. By the end of the MTFS, 2025/26, the position will move from being overborrowed to under borrowed by £84m.
The majority of the cash requirement includes forward funding of infrastructure in
advance of developer contributions through section 106 agreements or land sales,
and spend to save schemes. The expectation is that this will allow cash balances
to be replenished in the next 5-10 years.
9.

The table below shows how the Capital Financing Requirement is expected to
change over the period of the MTFS, and how this compares to the expected level
of external debt. Although the level of actual debt exceeds the Capital Financing
Requirement it is currently prohibitively expensive to prematurely repay existing
debt. If there are cost-effective opportunities to avoid, or reduce, an overborrowed
position they will be considered as long as they are in the best long-term financial
interests of the Council. This will probably require both short and long-term
borrowing rates to increase meaningfully from their current level.
2022/23
£000

Opening Capital Financing
Requirement
New Borrowing
Statutory Minimum Revenue
Provision (MRP)
Voluntary MRP

2023/24
£000

2024/25
£000

2025/26
£000

226,040

219,814

259,721

311,418

0

46,135

59,082

37,630

-6,226

-6,229

-7,385

-8,865

0

0

0

0

Closing Capital Financing
Requirement

219,814

259,721

311,418

340,183

Opening external debt

262,600

262,100

261,600

256,264

-500

-500

-5,336

-500

262,100

261,600

256,264

255,764

42,286

1,879

(55,154)

(84,419)

Loans maturing
Closing external debt
Overborrowed/(borrowing
requirement)

Minimum Revenue Provision
10. Capital financing costs are forecast to be £19.5m in 2022/23 and then rise to £22.5m in
2025/26, mainly as a result of increasing financing requirements for the capital
requirement. This assumes the required new borrowing is from internal cash balances.
The capital financing costs do not include the cost of interest returns foregone by using

167
internal cash balances, this will be reflected in a reduction to the bank and other interest
budget.
11. The Local Authorities (Capital Finance and Accounting) Regulations 2003 require local
authorities to charge to their revenue account in each financial year a minimum amount
to finance capital expenditure. This referred to as Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP).
In the context of significant medium term financial pressures the council continues to
review the efficiency and effectiveness of all aspects of spend. In 2019/20 the Council
reassessed the expenditure that is required under statute relating to a prudent Minimum
Revenue Provision. Based on the average economic remaining life of assets held it
amended the MRP calculation for supported and unsupported borrowing to a period of
40 years, which reduced the MRP charge to around £6m per annum.
The ‘asset life’ method is in line with the Capital Finance and Accounting Regulations
2003 and is consistent with many reviews undertaken by other Local Authorities when
reviewing their MRP policy / methodology. This approach provides; a lower charge in
the earlier years and is prudent as it is built on asset life, and a straight line charge,
rather than reducing balance.
It should be noted that the revised approach does not change the overall amount of
MRP payable; the same amount is simply repaid over a different time period, but is
more aligned with the period over which the underlying assets provide benefit. Further
details can be found in Annex 1 to this Strategy.
Prudential and Treasury Indicators for 2022/23 – 2025/26
12. Prudential and Treasury Indicators (as set out in the tables in Annex 2 to this Strategy)
are relevant for the purpose of setting an integrated treasury management strategy. The
Council is also required to indicate that it has adopted the CIPFA Code of Practice on
Treasury Management, this was adopted in February 2010.
Prospects for Interest Rates
13. The Council has appointed Link Group as its treasury advisor and part of their
service is to assist the Council to formulate a view on interest rates. Link provided
the following forecasts on 20th December 2021. These are forecasts for certainty
rates, gilt yields plus 80 bps

Additional notes by Link on this forecast table: • LIBOR and LIBID rates will cease from the end of 2021. Work is currently progressing to replace LIBOR
with a rate based on SONIA (Sterling Overnight Index Average). In the meantime, our forecasts are
based on expected average earnings by local authorities for 3 to 12 months.

168
• Our forecasts for average earnings are averages i.e., rates offered by individual banks may differ
significantly from these averages, reflecting their different needs for borrowing short term cash at any one
point in time.

14.

Over the last two years, the coronavirus outbreak has done huge economic damage to
the UK and to economies around the world. After the Bank of England took emergency
action in March 2020 to cut Bank Rate to 0.10%, it left Bank Rate unchanged at its
subsequent meetings until raising it to 0.25% at its meeting on 16th December 2021.

15.

It is not expected that Bank Rate will go up fast after the initial rate rise as the supply
potential of the economy is not likely to have taken a major hit during the pandemic: it
should, therefore, be able to cope well with meeting demand after supply shortages
subside over the next year, without causing inflation to remain elevated in the mediumterm, or to inhibit inflation from falling back towards the MPC’s 2% target after the spike
up to around 5%. The forecast includes four increases in Bank Rate over the threeyear forecast period to March 2025, ending at 1.25%. However, it is likely that these
forecasts will need changing within a relatively short timeframe for the following
reasons: 

We do not know how severe an impact Omicron could have on the economy and
whether there will be another lockdown or similar and, if there is, whether there
would be significant fiscal support from the Government for businesses and jobs.



There were already increasing grounds for viewing the economic recovery as
running out of steam during the autumn and now into the winter. And then along
came Omicron to pose a significant downside threat to economic activity. This
could lead into stagflation, or even into recession, which would then pose a
dilemma for the MPC as to whether to focus on combating inflation or supporting
economic growth through keeping interest rates low.



Will some current key supply shortages spill over into causing economic activity in
some sectors to take a significant hit?



Rising gas and electricity prices in October and next April and increases in other
prices caused by supply shortages and increases in taxation next April, are
already going to deflate consumer spending power without the MPC having to take
any action on Bank Rate to cool inflation.



On the other hand, consumers are sitting on over £160bn of excess savings left
over from the pandemic so when will they spend this sum, in part or in total?



It looks as if the economy coped well with the end of furlough on 30 th September. It
is estimated that there were around 1 million people who came off furlough then
and there was not a significant increase in unemployment. The other side of the
coin is that vacancies have been hitting record levels so there is a continuing
acute shortage of workers. This is a potential danger area if this shortage drives
up wages which then feed through into producer prices and the prices of services
i.e., a second-round effect that the MPC would have to act against if it looked like
gaining significant momentum.



We also recognise there could be further nasty surprises on the Covid front
beyond the Omicron mutation.

169
16.

In summary, with the high level of uncertainty prevailing on several different fronts, we
expect to have to revise our forecasts again - in line with whatever the new news is.
Borrowing Strategy

17. Since the start of 2021, there has been a lot of volatility in gilt yields, and hence PWLB
rates. As the interest forecast table for PWLB certainty rates above shows, there is
forecast to be a steady, but slow, rise in both Bank Rate and gilt yields during the
forecast period to March 2025, though there will doubtless be a lot of unpredictable
volatility during this forecast period.
18.

This unpredictability in respect of gilt yields and PWLB rates due to the following
factors: 

How strongly will changes in gilt yields be correlated to changes in US treasury
yields (see below). Over 10 years since 2011 there has been an average 75%
correlation between movements in US treasury yields and gilt yields. However,
from time to time these two yields can diverge. Lack of spare economic capacity
and rising inflationary pressures are viewed as being much greater dangers in the
US than in the UK. This could mean that central bank rates will end up rising
earlier and higher in the US than in the UK if inflationary pressures were to
escalate; the consequent increases in treasury yields could well spill over to cause
(lesser) increases in gilt yields. There is, therefore, an upside risk to forecasts for
gilt yields due to this correlation. The Link Group forecasts have included a risk of
a 75% correlation between the two yields.



Will the Fed take action to counter increasing treasury yields if they rise beyond a
yet unspecified level?



Would the MPC act to counter increasing gilt yields if they rise beyond a yet
unspecified level?



How strong will inflationary pressures actually turn out to be in both the US and the
UK and so put upward pressure on treasury and gilt yields?



How will central banks implement their new average or sustainable level inflation
monetary policies?



How well will central banks manage the withdrawal of QE purchases of their
national bonds i.e., without causing a panic reaction in financial markets as
happened in the “taper tantrums” in the US in 2013?

19. As the US financial markets are, by far, the biggest financial markets in the world, any
upward trend in treasury yields will invariably impact and influence financial markets in
other countries. Inflationary pressures and erosion of surplus economic capacity look
much stronger in the US compared to those in the UK, which would suggest that Fed
rate increases eventually needed to suppress inflation, are likely to be faster and
stronger than Bank Rate increases in the UK. This is likely to put upward pressure on
treasury yields which could then spill over into putting upward pressure on UK gilt
yields.

170
20. Although borrowing from the Public Works Loans Board (PWLB) is still generally the
most attractive external option available to the authority, the current overborrowed
position makes the use of external borrowing unlikely. Even as the position changes
from overborrowed to under borrowed there is not currently a requirement to take on
external debt.
21. Borrowing rates very rarely move in one direction without there being periods of
volatility, and it is sensible to maintain a flexible and proactive stance towards when
borrowing should be carried out (if, indeed, any borrowing is taken). Likewise it is
sensible to retain flexibility over whether short, medium or long-term funding will be
taken and whether some element of variable rate funding might be attractive. Any
borrowing carried out will take into account the medium term costs and risks and will not
be based on minimising short term costs if this is felt to compromise the medium term
financial position of the Council.
External v Internal Borrowing
22. The Council currently has significant cash balances invested, and at the end of
December 2021 these stood at £357m. These balances relate to a number of different
items – earmarked funds, provisions, grants received in advance of expenditure and
simple cash flow are some of them. A growing source of cash balances relates to the
overborrowed position outlined earlier.
As mentioned earlier the new MTFS capital programme includes a funding requirement
of £161m. Due to the levels of internal cash balances and the interest return compared
with the cost of raising new external debt it is more economical to temporarily utilise
internal cash balances
23. The Council has over the last 10 years repaid almost £100m more of external loans
than has been borrowed. There has also been no new borrowing to finance the capital
programme in this period. The position is that the Council has more external borrowing
than is required to fund the historic capital programme. In an ideal world action would be
taken to ensure that an overborrowed position does not occur, but the reality is that this
could only happen by the premature repayment of existing debt and this is currently not
a cost-effective option. If an opportunity to repay debt occurs that is sensible from a
financial perspective, it will be taken.
24. The balance between internal and external borrowing will be managed proactively, with
the intention of minimising long-term financing costs.
Policy on borrowing in advance of need
25. The Council will not borrow in advance of need simply to benefit from earning more
interest on investing the cash than is being paid on the loan. Where borrowing is
required in the approved capital programme and value for money can be demonstrated
by borrowing in advance this option may be taken, but only if it is felt that the money can
be invested securely until the cash is required. This allows borrowing to be taken out at
an opportune time rather than at the time expenditure is incurred.
26. In determining whether borrowing will be taken in advance of the need the Council will;
-

ensure that there is a clear link between the capital programme and maturity profile
of existing debt which supports taking financing in advance of need

171
-

ensure that the revenue implications of the borrowing, and the impact on future
plans and budgets have been considered
evaluate the economic and market factors which might influence the manner and
timing of any decision to borrow
consider the merits (or otherwise) of other forms of funding
consider a range of periods and repayment profiles for the borrowing.

-

Debt Rescheduling/Premature Debt Repayment
27. Debt rescheduling usually involves the premature repayment of debt and its
replacement with debt for a different period, to take advantage of differences in the
interest rate yield curve. The repayment and replacement do not necessarily have to
happen simultaneously, but would be expected to have occurred within a relatively short
period of time.
28. If medium and long-term loan rates rise substantially in the coming years, there may be
opportunities to adjust the portfolio to take advantage of lower rates in shorter periods. It
is important that the debt portfolio is not managed to maximise short-term interest
savings if this is felt to be overly risky, and a maturity profile that is overly focussed into
a single year will be avoided. Changes to the way that PWLB rates are set, and the
introduction of a significant gap between new borrowing costs and the rate used in
calculating premia/discounts for premature debt repayments, significantly reduces the
probability of debt rescheduling being attractive in the future.
29. If there is a meaningful increase in medium and long-term premature repayment rates
there is a possibility that premature repayment of existing debt (without any
replacement) might become attractive, particularly given the current overborrowed
position. This type of action would only be carried out if it was considered likely to be
beneficial in the medium term.
30. All debt rescheduling or premature repayments will be reported to the Corporate
Governance Committee at the earliest meeting following the action.

Annual Investment Strategy
Investment Policy
31. The Council will have regard to the MHCLG’s Guidance on Local Authority Investments
(“the Investment Guidance”) and the CIPFA Treasury Management in Public Services
Code of Practice and Cross Sectoral Guidance Notes (“the CIPFA TM Code”). The
Council’s investment priorities are:-

the security of capital and
the liquidity of its investments

32. The Council will aim to achieve an optimal return on its investments that is
commensurate with proper level of security and liquidity. The risk appetite of this
Council is low in order to give priority to security of its investments.
33. The Council’s policy in respect of deciding which counterparties are acceptable has
always been stringent.

172

34. In broad terms the list of acceptable counterparties uses the list produced by Link Asset
Services (the Council’s treasury management advisor) but excludes any party that is
included in the Link list with a maximum loan maturity period of 100 days or less. All
counterparties are also restricted to a maximum loan period of one year.
35. Inflation has been and is expected to consistently exceed the interest rates offered by
acceptable counterparties resulting in the value of capital being eroded in real terms.
Hence, the investment strategy recognises that alternative higher risk investments could
be required to mitigate this erosion. Providing this is undertaken in a measured way the
impact upon liquidity will be minimal
Creditworthiness Policy
36. Link’s methodology includes the use of credit ratings from S & P, Fitch and Moody’s,
factors such as credit outlook reports from the credit rating agencies, the rating of the
sovereign government in which the counterparty is domiciled and the level of Credit
Default Swap spreads within the market (effectively the market cost of insuring against
default). The general economic climate is also considered and will, on occasions, have
an impact onto the list of suggested counterparties.
37. Link Asset Services issue timely information in respect of changes to credit ratings or
outlooks, and changes to their suggested counterparty list are also issued. These
reports are monitored within a short time of receipt and any relevant changes to the
counterparty list are actioned as quickly as is practical. A weekly summary of the credit
ratings etc. of counterparties is also issued and this gives an opportunity to ensure that
no important information has been missed.
Country Limits
38. The Link criteria includes a requirement for the country of domicile of any counterparty
to be very highly rated. This is a requirement on the basis that it will probably be the
national government which will offer financial support to a failing bank, but the country
must itself be financially able to afford the support. The Council’s list of acceptable
counterparties will include a limit on the maximum amount that can be invested in all
counterparties domiciled in a single country (except for the UK) in order to mitigate
sovereign risk.
UK Local Authorities
39. The counterparty list from Link does not include Local Authorities, due to credit ratings
not being available for the majority of organisations. Having never defaulted in history,
UK Local authorities and levying authorities are and have always been regarded as safe
counterparties.
40. Despite the difficult financial situation that many organisations find themselves in the
legal basis underpinning local authorities and their requirement to repay loans has not
changed. It is considered very unlikely that one will be allowed to collapse and default
on its debt. The language used to describe the financial position of Local authorities and
companies is very similar. However, the actual position is very different. Despite
Government cuts to grants Local Authorities are in control of the majority of their
income, due to their tax-raising powers. To regain a balanced budget service reduction
can take place without a corresponding income reduction. Companies do not have this

173
ability and if a service is cut by them, all of the related income stops. Historically when
public sector re-organisations have taken place, resulting in the cessation of one or
more entities, government has nominated successor organisations. These organisations
take on all of the historic assets and liabilities of the original entities. If a limited
company ceases trading the known liabilities can only be settled out of the assets held
by the company at that time.
41. Local authorities remain very low risk counterparties and it is extremely unlikely that
loans would not be repaid in full, on time and with full interest. The Council’s treasury
management advisors are aware of local authorities being on the list of authorised
counterparties and are supportive of it, and comfortable that they remain low-risk
counterparties. There is evidence that lending between local authorities continues to
happen, including to those that have been highlighted as in very difficult financial
positions.
Counterparty List
42. The combination of all these factors produces a counterparty list, for the County
Council, which comprises only very secure financial institutions, and a list that is
managed pro-actively as new information is available.
43. The investment instruments identified for use in the financial year are listed below. The
limits for both maximum loan periods and amounts will be set in line with the criteria
shown in Annex 3. This list has been updated for 2022-23; the maximum amount that
can be invested in all counterparties domiciled within a single country (other than the
UK) has been increased from £30m to £50m.
44. Although the maximum amount that can invested in a single country has increased, the
amount that can be invested in an individual institution will remain the same. This
serves to expand the Council’s lending capacity without increasing exposure to any
individual institution.
45. There is a requirement within the Annual Investment Strategy to state which of the
approved methods of lending are specified, and which are non-specified. In broad terms
a specified investment will be capable of repayment within one year and be made to a
counterparty with a high credit rating; by implication non-specified investments are more
risky than specified investments as they are either for longer periods of time or to lowerquality counterparties. Anything that does not meet either of these ‘tests’ is, by default,
non-specified and must be highlighted as such within the Strategy. The long-term nature
of the ‘LOBO-offset’ loan to Danske Bank means that it is non-specified investment,
although the off-setting nature of the borrowing and the loan actually makes it low risk.
Investment in pooled private debt funds is also non-specified, primarily due to the illiquid
and medium-term nature of the investment.
Investment

Repayment
within 12
months

Term deposits with the Debt
Management Office
UK Government Treasury Bills

Yes

Term deposits with credit-rated
institutions with maturities up to 1

Yes

Yes

Level of Security

GovernmentBacked
GovernmentBacked
Varied acceptable
credit ratings, but

Maximum Period

Maximum % of
Portfolio or cash
1
sum

1 year

100%

1 year

100%

1 year

100%

174
2

year (including both ring fenced
and non-ring fenced banks)
Term deposits with overseas banks
domiciled within a single country.

high security
Yes

Private Term deposits that are
legally capable of offset against
existing LOBO borrowing that the
3
Council has

No

Money Market Funds:
4
Constant NAV
5
Low Volatility NAV

Yes

Variable NAV Money Market Funds

6

Yes

Pooled private debt funds

No

Term Deposits with UK Local
Authorities up to 1 year

Yes

Certificates of Deposit with creditrated institutions with maturities of
up to 1 year

Yes

(1)

(2)

(3)
(4)

(5)

(6)

Varied acceptable
credit ratings, but
high security
Varied, but offsetting nature of
borrowing against
loan gives a very
low risk
At least as high as
acceptable credit –
rated banks

1 year

£50m

20 years

25%

Daily, same-day
redemptions and
subscriptions

£125m (includes
any investment
in variable NAV
MMFs)
At least as high as
Same day
£125m (includes
acceptable credit – subscriptions, 2 – 3 any investment
rated banks
day redemption
in other MMFs)
period
Diversification within Varies across funds
£40m
pooled fund and
– likely to be at least (£20m plus temp
historic loss rate
a three year
£20m overlap at
suggests high
investment period,
renewal)
security
followed by a further
three years to
redeem all loans
LA’s do not have
1 year
50%
credit ratings, but
high security
Varied acceptable
1 year
100%
credit ratings, but
high security

As the value of the investment portfolio is variable, the limit applies at time of agreeing the
investment. Subsequent changes in the level of the portfolio will not be classed as a breach of
any limits.
For administrative purposes a commitment may need to be made in advance of the investment
period commencing. To avoid being overexposed with a counterparty this will be kept to a few
days.
Non-specified investment
Funds where the capital value of a unit will always be maintained at £1. These funds have to
maintain at least 99.5% of their assets in government backed assets.
Funds are permitted to maintain the unit price at £1 as long as the net asset value does not
deviate by more than 0.20% from this level.
Funds will value their units on the basis of the underlying value of the assets that they hold; the
unit price will not necessarily always be exactly £1

46. Following the lasting implications of the COVID-19 pandemic, in particular, the
demonstration that unforeseeable events can very quickly cause significant uncertainty
and shock financial markets. It is recognised that in exceptional circumstances the
Director of Corporate Resources, in order to protect capital balances and liquidity, may
have to take immediate action that breaches the above policy on a temporary basis.
The action will only be taken as a last resort and will be reported, along with the
rationale behind it, to the Corporate Governance Committee at the first opportunity.

Pooled Property Fund Investment

175

47. As at the end of December 2021 £25m had been invested. This is classified as a
service investment, rather than a treasury management investment. Following approval
by the Cabinet on 19th November 2021 the Council intends to divest £7.5m from one or
more pooled property funds and reinvest the funds into pooled infrastructure funds. This
is expected to take place during 2022/23. Types of pooled infrastructure include, energy
infrastructure, including renewables, water treatment works and transport infrastructure
such as rail and air terminals. The infrastructure investment will also be classified as a
service investment, rather than a treasury management investment
Investment Strategy
48. The investment strategy shall be to only invest in those institutions and/or asset types
that are included in the counterparty list, and only to lend up to the limit set for each
counterparty. Periods for which loans are placed will take into account the outlook for
interest rates and, to a lesser extent, the need to retain cash flows. There may be
occasions when it is necessary to borrow to fund short-term cashflow issues, but there
will generally be no deliberate intention to make regular borrowing necessary.
Policy on the use of External Service Providers
49. External investment managers will not be used, except to the extent that a Money
Market Fund or the managers of pooled property or private debt funds can be
considered as an external manager.
50. The Council uses Link Asset Services as its external treasury management adviser, but
recognises that responsibility for treasury management decisions remains with the
Council at all times. Undue reliance on the Councils external advisers will be avoided,
although the value of employing an external adviser and accessing specialist skills and
resources is recognised.
Scheme of Delegation
51.

(i)

Full Council
- Approval of annual strategy
- Other matters where full Council approval is required under guidance or
statutory requirement

(ii)

Cabinet
- Approval of updates or revisions to strategy during the year
- Approval of Annual Treasury Outturn report

(iii)

Corporate Governance Committee
- Mid-year treasury management updates (usually quarterly)
- Review of treasury management policy and procedures, including making
recommendations to responsible body
- Scrutiny of Treasury Management Strategy/Annual Investment Strategy and
Annual Treasury Outturn report.

(iv)

Director of Corporate Resources
- Day-to-day management of treasury management, within agreed policy
- Appointment of external advisers, within existing Council procurement
procedures

176

Role of Section 151 Officer
52. The Section 151 Officer is the Director of Corporate Resources, who has responsibility
for the day-to-day running of the treasury management function.
Pension Fund Cash
53. The Council will comply with the requirements of The Local Government Pension
Scheme (Management and Investment of Funds) Regulations 2009, which were
implemented on 1st January 2010, and will not pool pension fund cash with its own cash
balances for investment purposes. Any investments made by the pension fund directly
with the County Council after 1st April 2010 will comply with the requirements of SI 2009
No 3093. From time to time the Council will manage short term cash flow requirements
for either the County Council or the Pension Fund on a non-beneficial basis.
Eastern Shires Purchasing Organisation (ESPO)
54. As part of the service level agreement with ESPO, the council provides a treasury
management service on behalf of ESPO for investment of surplus balances. This
service is carried out with due regard to this policy and responsibility for day to day
management lies with the Director of Corporate Resources. Surplus balances are
invested in their own right and not pooled with the county council.

177
ANNEX 1

ANNUAL STATEMENT FOR THE DETERMINATION OF THE ANNUAL MINIMUM
REVENUE PROVISION (MRP)

Statutory regulations introduced in 2008 require local authorities to make prudent provision
for the repayment of debt raised to finance capital expenditure. In addition a statement of the
level of MRP has to be submitted to the County Council for approval before the start of the
next financial year.
Prudent Provision.
The definition of what is prudent provision is determined by each local authority based on
guidance rather than statutory regulation
It is proposed that provision is made on the following basis:
Government supported borrowing:
Provision to be based on the estimated life of the asset to be financed from government
borrowing with repayments by equal annual instalments.
The extent of borrowing required to finance the capital programme is not directly linked to any
specific projects thus in determining the average life of assets an average of 40 years has
been taken as a proxy for the average life of assets.
Prudential (unsupported) borrowing and expenditure capitalised by direction of the Secretary
of State and certain other expenditure classified as capital incurred after 1st April 2008:
Provision to be based on the estimated life of the asset to be financed by that borrowing, with
repayment by equal annual instalments.
The extent of borrowing required to finance the capital programme is not directly linked to any
specific projects thus in determining the average life of assets an average of 40 years has
been taken as a proxy for the average life of assets.
The County Council will also look to take opportunities to use general underspends and oneoff balances to make additional (voluntary) revenue provision where possible to reduce
ongoing capital financing costs. As at 31 March 2022, the cumulative amount of voluntary
MRP paid in advance is £47.8m.
Financial Implications
MRP is a constituent of the Financing of Capital budget shown within Central Items
component of the revenue budget and for 2022/23 totals £6.2m. This comprises £5.8m in
respect of supported borrowing and £0.4m in respect of unsupported borrowing incurred
since 2008/09.

178
ANNEX 2
PRUDENTIAL AND TREASURY INDICATORS
In line with the requirements of the CIPFA Prudential Code for Capital Finance in local
authorities, the various indicators that inform authorities whether their capital investment
plans are affordable, prudent and sustainable, are set out below.
A further key objective of the code is to ensure that treasury management decisions are
taken in accordance with good professional practice and in a manner that supports prudence,
affordability and sustainability. The indicators for Treasury management are set out in this
paper.
Compliance with the Code is required under Part I of the Local Government Act 2003.
2020/21
Actual

2021/22
Estimate

2022/23
Estimate

2023/24
Estimate

2024/25
Estimate

2025/26
Estimate

Capital Expenditure

£105m

£109m

£139m

£170m

£142m

£103m

Capital financing requirement

£232m

£226m

£220m

£260m

£311m

£340m

3.8%

3.9%

3.8%

3.8%

4.0%

4.2%

Ratio of total financing costs to
net revenue stream

The projected level of capital expenditure shown above differs from the total of the detailed
four year programme presented in this report as an allowance has been provided to cover
estimated additional expenditure that may occur during the course of a year, for instance
projects funded by government grants, section 106 contributions and projects funded from
the future developments programme.
The capital financing requirement (CFR) measures the Authority’s need to borrow for capital
purposes and as such is influenced by the availability of capital receipts and income from
third parties, e.g. grants and developer contributions. The CFR is increasing during the
MTFS period for essential investment in services, investment for growth and invest to save
projects.
The prudential code includes the following as a key indicator of prudence:
‘In order to ensure that over the medium term net borrowing will only be for a capital purpose,
the local authority should ensure that net external borrowing does not, except in the short
term, exceed the total of capital financing requirement in the preceding year plus the
estimates of any additional capital financing requirement for the current and next two financial
years’. In the short term this indicator will not be met due to the reduction in the capital
financing requirement in recent years and the currently prohibitively expensive premiums to
repay existing debt. The Council will consider options to reduce this position where they are
in the long term financial interests of the Council. Further details are included in the main
Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy 2022/23.
In respect of external debt, it is recommended that the Council approves the limits detailed in
the tables below for its total external debt for the next four financial years. These limits
separately identify borrowing from other long term liabilities such as finance leases. The
Council is asked to approve these limits and to delegate authority to the Director of Corporate
Resources, within the total limit for any individual year, to effect movement between the

179
separately agreed limits for borrowing and other long term liabilities. Any such changes
made will be reported to the Cabinet at its next meeting following the change.
There are two limits on external debt: the ‘Operational Boundary’ and the ‘Authorised Limit’.
Both are consistent with the current commitments, existing plans and the proposals in the
budget report for capital expenditure and financing, and with approved treasury management
policy statement and practices. They are both based on estimates of most likely, but not
worst case, scenario. The key difference is that the Authorised Limit cannot be breached
without prior approval of the County Council. It therefore includes more headroom to take
account of eventualities such as delays in generating capital receipts, forward borrowing to
take advantage of attractive interest rates, use of borrowing in place of operational leasing,
“invest to save” projects, occasional short term borrowing to cover temporary revenue cash
flow shortfalls as well as an assessment of risks involved in managing cash flows. The
Operational Boundary is a more realistic indicator of the likely position.
Operational boundary for external debt

Borrowing
Other long term liabilities
Total

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

263
1
264

263
1
264

2022/23
£m

2023/24
£m

273
1
274

273
1
274

2024/25
£m

2025/26
£m

311
1
312

340
1
341

2024/25
£m

2025/26
£m

321
1
322

350
1
351

Authorised limit for external debt

Borrowing
Other long term liabilities
Total

In agreeing these limits, the Council is asked to note that the authorised limit determined for
2022/23 will be the statutory limit determined under Section 3(1) of the Local Government Act
2003.
Comparison of original 2021/22 indicators with the latest forecast
In February 2021 the County Council approved certain prudential limits and indicators, the
latest projections of which are shown below:

Actual Capital Financing Costs as a % of Net Revenue Stream
Capital Expenditure
Operational Boundary for External Debt
Authorised Limit for External Debt
Interest Rate Exposure – Fixed
Interest Rate Exposure – Variable
Capital Financing Requirement

Prudential
Indicator
2021/22
4.10%
£145m
£264.1m
£274.1m
50-100%
0-50%
£237m

Latest
Projection
17/01/22
3.90%
£111m
£264.1m
£274.1m
100%
0%
£226m

180
All of the indicators are within the targets set. The latest forecast of external debt, £262.6m,
shows that it is within both the authorised borrowing limit and the operational boundary set for
2021/22. The maturity structure of debt is within the indicators set. The latest projection for
capital expenditure is below the indicator set, due to the refresh of the capital programme in
September 2021 and slippage in forecast spend within the capital programme.
Treasury Management Indicators
The Local Government Act 2003 requires the County Council to ensure that treasury
management is carried out with good professional practice. The Prudential Code includes
the following as the required indicators in respect of treasury management:
a)
b)
c)

Upper limits on fixed interest and variable rate external borrowing.
Upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of borrowings.
Upper limit for principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days.

After reviewing the current situation and assessing the likely position next year, the following
limits are recommended:
a)

An upper limit on fixed interest rate exposures for 2022/23 to 2025/26 of 100% of its net
outstanding principal sums and an upper limit on its variable interest rate exposures for
2022/23 to 2025/26 of 50% of its net outstanding principal sums.

b)

Upper and lower limits for the maturity structure of its borrowings as follows:
Amount of projected borrowing that is fixed rate maturing in each period as a
percentage of total projected borrowing that is fixed rate:
under 12 months
12 months and within 24 months
24 months and within 5 years
5 years and within 10 years
10 years and above

c)

Upper Limit %
30
30
50
70
100

Lower Limit%
0
0
0
0
25

An upper limit for principal sums invested for periods longer than 364 days is 10% of the
portfolio.

The County Council has adopted the CIPFA code of Practice for Treasury Management in
the Public Services.

181
ANNEX 3
POLICY ON APPROVED ORGANISATIONS FOR LENDING
APPROVED ORGANISATIONS/ LIMITS FOR LENDING
Institution*

Maximum Sum Outstanding/Period of
Loan

UK Clearing Banks and UK Building
Societies**

£30m/6 months up to
£50m/12months (Not special Institutions)
£70m/12months (special Institutions)
‘Special’ = significant element of UK
government ownership.

UK Debt Management Office

No maximum sum outstanding/12 months

UK Government Treasury Bills

No maximum sum outstanding/12 months

Overseas Banks

£10m/6 months
£20m/12 months

Money Market Funds

£30m limit within any AAA-rated fund.
£125m maximum exposure to all Money
Market Funds

UK Local Authorities

£10m/12 months

Pooled Private Debt Funds

£40m/variable 3-6 years

* includes ring fenced and non-ring fenced banks.
**In the event that an investment is entered into which is legally offset against borrowing in the form of a LOBO (Lender’s
Option, Borrower’s Option) from the same counterparty, the maximum period will be 20 years and the maximum sum will
be the amount of the LOBO deal against which the legal offset exists.

The list of acceptable institutions will mirror the list of suggested counterparties maintained by
Link Asset Services, except the maximum maturity period will be restricted to 1 year and any
institution with a suggested maturity period of 100 days or less will be excluded.
Some financial institutions have both a parent company and a subsidiary that are licensed
deposit takers in the UK. Where this is the case a ‘group limit’ will apply, and this will be the
limit that is given to the parent company.
In some cases the parent company will be an overseas institution and they will have UKregistered subsidiaries. Where this is the case the parent company limit will apply at a total
group level, even if this limit is less than would be given to the UK subsidiary on a standalone basis. Any money invested with a UK subsidiary of an overseas institution will be
classed as being invested in the country of domicile of the parent if the parent is an overseas
institution for country-maximum purposes.
If the credit rating of an individual financial institution decreases to a level which no longer
makes them an acceptable counterparty the Director of Corporate Resources will take action
to bring this back into line at the earliest opportunity. It should be noted that there will be no
legal right to cancel a loan early, and any premature repayment can only be made with the

182
approval of the counterparty and may include financial penalties. Similar actions will be
taken if a counterparty is downgraded to a level which allows them to remain on the list of
acceptable counterparties, but where the unexpired term of any loan is longer than the
maximum period for which a new loan could be placed with them.
In the event that the circumstances highlighted above occur, the Director of Corporate
Resources will report to the Corporate Governance Committee.

183
ANNEX 4
TREASURY MANAGEMENT POLICY STATEMENT (TMPS)
1.

This organisation defines its treasury management activities as:
“The management of the authority’s investments and cash flows, its banking,
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent
with those risks”

2.

This organisation regards the successful identification, monitoring and control of risk to
be the prime criteria by which the effectiveness of its treasury management activities will
be measured. Accordingly, the analysis and reporting of treasury management activities
will focus on their risk implications for the organisation.

3.

This organisation acknowledges that effective treasury management will provide
support towards the achievement of its business and service objectives. It is therefore
committed to the principles of achieving value for money in treasury management, and
to employing suitable comprehensive performance measurement techniques, within the
context of effective risk management.

184
ANNEX 5
2021 REVISED CIPFA TREASURY MANAGEMENT CODE AND PRUDENTIAL CODE
CIPFA published the revised codes on 20th December 2021 and has stated that formal
adoption is not required until the 2023/24 financial year.
The revised codes will have the following implications:
1.

a requirement for the Council to adopt a new debt liability benchmark treasury indicator
to support the financing risk management of the capital financing requirement;

2.

clarify what CIPFA expects a local authority to borrow for and what they do not view as
appropriate. This will include the requirement to set a proportionate approach to
commercial and service capital investment;

3.

address ESG issues within the Capital Strategy;

4.

require implementation of a policy to review commercial property, with a view to divest
where appropriate;

5.

create new Investment Practices to manage risks associated with non-treasury
investment (similar to the current Treasury Management Practices);

6.

ensure that any long term treasury investment is supported by a business model;

7.

a requirement to effectively manage liquidity and longer term cash flow requirements;

8.

amendment to TMP1 to address ESG policy within the treasury management risk
framework;

9.

amendment to the knowledge and skills register for individuals involved in the treasury
management function - to be proportionate to the size and complexity of the treasury
management conducted by each council;

10. a new requirement to clarify reporting requirements for service and commercial
investment, (especially where supported by borrowing/leverage).
In addition, all investments and investment income must be attributed to one of the following
three purposes: Treasury management
Arising from the organisation’s cash flows or treasury risk management activity, this type of
investment represents balances which are only held until the cash is required for
use. Treasury investments may also arise from other treasury risk management activity
which seeks to prudently manage the risks, costs or income relating to existing or forecast
debt or treasury investments.
Service delivery
Investments held primarily and directly for the delivery of public services including housing,
regeneration and local infrastructure. Returns on this category of investment which are
funded by borrowing are permitted only in cases where the income is “either related to the
financial viability of the project in question or otherwise incidental to the primary purpose”.
Commercial return
Investments held primarily for financial return with no treasury management or direct service
provision purpose. Risks on such investments should be proportionate to a council’s

185
financial capacity – i.e., that ‘plausible losses’ could be absorbed in budgets or reserves
without unmanageable detriment to local services. An authority must not borrow to invest
primarily for financial return.
As this Treasury Management Strategy Statement and Annual Investment Strategy deals
soley with treasury management investments, the categories of service delivery and
commercial investments will be dealt with as part of the Capital Strategy report.
These changes will be reviewed for their impact on the County Councils current approach
and any changes required will be formally adopted within the 2023/24 TMSS report.

This page is intentionally left blank

187

Agenda Item 14

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE: 28 JANUARY 2022
QUARTERLY TREASURY MANAGEMENT REPORT
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CORPORATE RESOURCES

Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to update the Committee on the actions taken in respect
of treasury management for the quarter ending 31 December 2021 (Quarter 3).

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Annual Investment Strategy for 2021/22 forms part of the Council’s medium term
financial strategy (MTFS) and was approved by full council in February 2021.

3.

An update in respect of Quarter 2 2021/22 was provided to the Committee on 5th
November 2021.

Background
4.

Treasury Management is defined as:
“The management of the organisation’s investments and cash flows, its banking,
money market and capital market transactions; the effective control of the risks
associated with those activities; and the pursuit of optimum performance consistent
with those risks”.

5.

A quarterly report is produced for the Committee to provide an update on any
significant events in treasury management.

Economic Background
6.

The Council’s treasury management adviser, Link Asset Management (Link),
provides a quarterly update outlining the global economic outlook and monetary
policy positions. An extract from this report is attached as an Appendix to this report.
The key points are summarised overleaf.

188
7.

The Bank of England’s (BoE) Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) surprised markets
in successive months during this quarter. Firstly, by not raising interest rates as
expected at its meeting in November 2021. Then, in December, by raising rates from
0.10% to 0.25%.

8.

During its meeting on 16th December, the MPC voted 8-1 in favour of an interest rate
rise. This, coupled with a hawkish tone of comments, indicates the MPC is now
concerned that inflationary pressures are building and that concerted action will be
needed to counter these pressures. This suggestion of more increases to come has
financial markets predicting a rise to 1% by the end of 2022.

9.

However, the MPC also commented to the threat of the Omicron variant of Covid-19
to short term economic activity and retained its guidance that only a ‘modest
tightening’ in policy will be required. This action therefore suggests that it is possible
that markets have gone too far in expecting a 1% interest rate rise by the end of 2022
and that the likelihood of the MPC raising base rate at its next meeting (on 3
February 2022) will depend on how adversely the Omicron variant has affected the
economy.

Action Taken During Quarter 3 to December 2021
10. The balance of the investment portfolio decreased from £369.5m to £356.8m. Within
the portfolio, £212.1m of investment loans matured at an average rate of 0.15%
(excluding Private Debt), and £192.4m of new loans were placed, at an average rate
of 0.30%. The Council also received principal repayments for the partners private
debt investment totalling £1.3m, whilst £8.2m was invested in the new partners
private debt vintage.
11. To date the Council has received fourteen distributions from the private debt
investment totalling £11.5m. Of this £8.8m represents return on invested capital, with
the remaining £2.7m representing interest received. This means from an initial
investment of £20m the Council has £11.2m remaining capital committed and the
current market value of the investment is £11.5m. The private debt investment
represents only a small portion of the total portfolio, but, with a current internal rate of
return (IRR) of 4.58%, it is contributing significantly to the total portfolio annual
percentage rate (APR). The APR including private debt is 0.47% versus a loans only
APR of 0.24%.
12. The average rate achieved on new loans was higher than the average rate of loans
maturing, reflecting market expectations of the base rate rise. As a result, the
portfolio weighted APR increased from 0.32% in Q2 21-22 to 0.47% in Q3 21-22.
13. The chart overleaf shows the weighted APR achieved by the treasury portfolio
compared to the BoE base rate:

189

14. The loan portfolio at the end of December was invested with the counterparties
shown in the table below, listed by original investment date:
£m

Maturity Date

Instant Access
Money Market Funds

52.4

January 2022

6 Months
Nationwide Building Society
Australia and New Zealand Bank
Santander
Nationwide Building Society
Close Brothers
Close Brothers
Landesbank Baden Wurtemberg
Santander
Landesbank Hessen Thuringen
Goldman Sachs

15.0
20.0
20.0
15.0
10.0
20.0
10.0
10.0
10.0
30.0

January 2022
February 2022
February 2022
February 2022
March 2022
April 2022
April 2022
April 2022
May 2022
May 2022

9 Months
National Westminster Bank Plc

10.0

February 2022

12 Months
Toronto Dominion Bank
National Westminster Bank Plc
National Westminster Bank Plc
National Westminster Bank Plc
HSBC

20.0
10.0
15.0
20.0
40.0

May 2022
August 2022
September 2022
October 2022
September 2022

Beyond 12 Months
Partners Group (Private Debt) 2017
Partners Group (Private Debt) 2021
Danske Bank

11.2
8.2
10.0

Estimated 2024
Estimated 2026
September 2027

190
Total Portfolio Balance at
31 December 2021

356.8

Loans to Counterparties that breached authorised lending list
15. There were no loans active during the period that breached the authorised
counterparty list at the time that the loan was made.
Further Investment - Private Debt
16. Following approval from the Cabinet on 19 November 2021, £20m has been
committed to the latest Partners Private Debt Fund (MAC VI). As the fund had
reached its final close, the first capital call (£8m) was paid on 17th December 2021.
As part of this capital call the Council also paid £147,000 in interest true-up
payments. Interest true-up serves to compensate existing investors for the
opportunity cost associated with their earlier contributions. The Council was fully
aware of this cost prior to commitment and this cost was factored into the investment
appraisal.
Transition from LIBOR to SONIA
17. On 5 March 2021 the Financial Conduct Authority (FCA) officially announced that
immediately after the 31 December 2021 all Sterling London Inter-Bank Offered Rate
(LIBOR) settings will either cease to be provided by any administrator or will no
longer be representative.
18. The BoE and the FCA have made it clear over a number of years that the lack of an
active underlying market makes LIBOR unsustainable and unsuitable for the
widespread reliance that had been placed upon it. Accordingly, both have worked
closely with market participants and regulatory authorities around the world to ensure
that robust alternatives to LIBOR are available and that existing contracts can be
transitioned onto these alternatives to safeguard financial stability and market
integrity.
19. The alternative reference rate in the UK for GBP transactions will be SONIA (Sterling
Overnight Index Average), which will be published daily by the BoE. SONIA
measures the rates paid by banks on overnight funds. It is calculated as a trimmed
mean of rates paid on overnight unsecured wholesale funds and is considered very
robust because it is anchored in active liquid underlying markets. LIBOR, in contrast,
is a forward-looking rate which measures the average rate at which banks are willing
to borrow wholesale unsecured funds. The underlying market LIBOR measures is no
longer liquid and is inefficient at measuring the general level of interest rates as it
includes a term bank credit component.
20. As SONIA is calculated and set differently to LIBOR, historically the rates for each
have been at different levels. Historically, SONIA has been set at a lower level than
LIBOR, as LIBOR includes a credit risk premium. The FCA has stated that
organisations are “not expected to give up the difference between LIBOR and SONIA
(or other alternative rates), which results from the term credit risk premium built into
the LIBOR rate but not built into other rates such as SONIA.”

191
21. To ensure the transition from LIBOR is fair for everyone, an adjustment needs to be
made to account for the difference between LIBOR and SONIA. This adjustment is
known as a Credit Adjustment Spread (CAS).
22. The Council has one loan in its portfolio that uses LIBOR as a reference rate and
therefore needs to be transitioned to SONIA. This is the 10 year LOBO offset loan
made to Danske in 2017. This loan for £10m has a refixing of interest rate every six
months at 0.45% plus six month Average LIBOR.
23. In order to transition the reference rate to SONIA it was necessary for the Council to
agree a CAS with Danske Bank. Following recommendations from the Working
Group on Sterling Risk-Free Reference Rates, and given that the loan has six years
left, it was agreed to use the forward approach and set the CAS at the six year swap
rate between the six month SONIA and six month LIBOR rates, this equated to
0.25%.
24. From the next fixing of the loan after March 2022 the rate of this loan will now be
0.70% plus a six month average SONIA.
Resource Implications
25. The interest earned on revenue balances and the interest paid on external debt will
impact directly onto the resources available to the Council. The budgeted income for
interest generated by treasury management activities (including private debt and
pooled property investments) for 2021/2022 is £1.3m. Current forecasting suggests
that actual interest earned will be in the region of £2.9m. This overperformance can
be entirely explained by the partners private debt investment distributing income
sooner than originally anticipated.

Recommendations
26. The Committee is asked to note this report.

Background papers
Report to the Cabinet on 19 November 2021 – Recommended Investment into Partners
Group Private Debt Fund and JP Morgan Infrastructure Investment Fund:
https://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=6448&Ver=4
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
27. None.
Equality and Human Rights Implications
28. There are no discernible equality and human rights implications.

192
Appendix
29. Economic Overview (December 2021)
Officers to Contact
Chris Tambini, Director of Corporate Resources,
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 6199 E-mail: chris.tambini@leics.gov.uk
Declan Keegan, Assistant Director (Finance, Strategic Property and Commissioning)
Corporate Resources Department,
Tel: 0116 305 7668 Email: declan.keegan@leics.gov.uk

193
Appendix
Economic Overview (December 2021) – Provided by Link Asset Services

MPC meeting 16th December 2021


The Monetary Policy Committee (MPC) voted 8-1 to raise Bank Rate by 0.15% from 0.10% to
0.25% and unanimously decided to make no changes to its programme of quantitative easing
purchases due to finish in December 2021 at a total of £895bn.



The MPC disappointed financial markets by not raising Bank Rate at its November meeting. Until
Omicron burst on the scene, most forecasters, therefore, viewed a Bank Rate increase as being
near certain at this December meeting due to the way that inflationary pressures have been
comprehensively building in both producer and consumer prices, and in wage rates. However, at
the November meeting, the MPC decided it wanted to have assurance that the labour market
th
would get over the end of the furlough scheme on 30 September without unemployment
increasing sharply; their decision was, therefore, to wait until statistics were available to show how
the economy had fared at this time.



On 10 December we learnt of the disappointing 0.1% m/m rise in GDP in October which
suggested that economic growth had already slowed to a crawl even before the Omicron variant
was discovered in late November. Early evidence suggests growth in November might have been
marginally better. Nonetheless, at such low rates of growth, the government’s “Plan B” COVID-19
restrictions could cause the economy to contract in December.



On 14 December, the labour market statistics for the three months to October and the single
month of October were released. The fallout after the furlough scheme ended on 3oth September,
(about one million people were still on furlough), was smaller and shorter than the Bank of
England had feared: unemployment did not increase hugely in October. Indeed, vacancies rose to
a record 1.219m in the three months to November showing there were acute shortages of labour.



These figures by themselves, would probably have been enough to give the MPC the assurance
that it could press ahead to raise Bank Rate at this December meeting. However, the advent of
Omicron in late November potentially threw a spanner into the works as it poses a major
headwind to the economy which, of itself, will help to cool the economy. The financial markets,
therefore, swung round to expecting no change in Bank Rate.



On 15th December we had the CPI inflation figure for November which spiked up further from
4.2% to 5.1%, confirming again how inflationary pressures have been building sharply. However,
Omicron also caused a sharp fall in world oil and other commodity prices; (gas and electricity
inflation has generally accounted on average for about 60% of the increase in inflation in
advanced western economies).



Other elements of inflation are also transitory e.g., prices of goods being forced up by supply
shortages, and shortages of shipping containers due to ports being clogged have caused huge
increases in shipping costs. But these issues have reduced during the second half of 2021 and
are likely to clear during 2022 when prices would be expected to subside back to more normal
levels. Gas prices and electricity prices will also fall back once winter is passed and demand for
these falls away.



The Government has stepped in with some fiscal support for the economy, targeted mainly at
the hospitality sector. Due to the huge cost of such support to date, it is likely to remain being
limited and targeted on narrow sectors. The Government may well, therefore, effectively leave it
to the MPC, and to monetary policy, to support economic growth – but at a time when the threat
posed by rising inflation is near to peaking!



This is the adverse set of factors against which the MPC had to decide on Bank Rate. For the
second month in a row, the MPC blind-sided financial markets, this time with a surprise increase
in Bank Rate from 0.10% to 0.25%. What’s more, the hawkish tone of comments indicated that
the MPC is now concerned that inflationary pressures are indeed building and need concerted
action by the MPC to counter. This indicates that there will be more increases to come with
financial markets predicting 1% by the end of 2022. The 8-1 vote to raise the rate shows that
there is firm agreement that inflation now poses a threat, especially after the CPI figure hit a 10year high. The MPC commented that “there has been significant upside news” and that “there
were some signs of greater persistence in domestic costs and price pressures”.

th

th

Page 1 of 3

194
Appendix


On the other hand, it did also comment that “the Omicron variant is likely to weigh on nearterm activity”. But it stressed that at the November meeting it had said it would raise rates if the
economy evolved as it expected and that now “these conditions had been met”. It also appeared
more worried about the possible boost to inflation form Omicron itself. It said that “the current
position of the global and UK economies was materially different compared with prior to the onset
of the pandemic, including elevated levels of consumer price inflation”. It also noted the possibility
that renewed social distancing would boost demand for goods again, (as demand for services
would fall), meaning “global price pressures might persist for longer”. (Recent news is that the
largest port in the world in China has come down with an Omicron outbreak which is not only
affecting the port but also factories in the region.)



On top of that, there were no references in December to inflation being expected to be below the
2% target in two years’ time, which at November’s meeting the MPC referenced to suggest the
markets had gone too far in expecting interest rates to rise to over 1.00% by the end of the year.



These comments indicate that there has been a material reappraisal by the MPC of the
inflationary pressures since their last meeting and the Bank also increased its forecast for inflation
to peak at 6% next April, rather than at 5% as of a month ago. However, as the Bank retained its
guidance that only a “modest tightening” in policy will be required, it cannot be thinking that it
will need to increase interest rates that much more. A typical policy tightening cycle has usually
involved rates rising by 0.25% four times in a year. “Modest” seems slower than that. As such, the
Bank could be thinking about raising interest rates two or three times in 2022 to 0.75% or
1.00%.



In as much as a considerable part of the inflationary pressures at the current time are indeed
transitory, and will naturally subside, and since economic growth is likely to be weak over the
next few months, this would appear to indicate that this tightening cycle is likely to be
comparatively short.



As for the timing of the next increase in Bank Rate, the MPC dropped the comment from
November’s statement that Bank Rate would be raised “in the coming months”. That may imply
another rise is unlikely at the next meeting in February and that May is more likely. However,
much could depend on how adversely, or not, the economy is affected by Omicron in the run up
rd
to the next meeting on 3 February. Once 0.50% is reached, the Bank would act to start
shrinking its stock of QE, (gilts purchased by the Bank would not be replaced when they mature).



The MPC’s forward guidance on its intended monetary policy on raising Bank Rate versus
selling (quantitative easing) holdings of bonds is as follows: 1. Placing the focus on raising Bank Rate as “the active instrument in most circumstances”.
2. Raising Bank Rate to 0.50% before starting on reducing its holdings.
3. Once Bank Rate is at 0.50% it would stop reinvesting maturing gilts.
4. Once Bank Rate had risen to at least 1%, it would start selling its holdings.



COVID-19 vaccines. These have been the game changer which had enormously boosted
confidence that life in the UK could largely return to normal during the second half of 2021
after a third wave of the virus threatened to overwhelm hospitals in the spring. The bursting onto
the scene of the Omicron mutation at the end of November had threatened to cancel the
Christmas holidays, but the Government decided not to impose more severe restrictions in the
hope that this mild, but highly contagious variant, would not overwhelm hospitals. The big
question is whether further mutations of the virus could develop which render current vaccines
ineffective, as opposed to how quickly vaccines can be modified to deal with them and enhanced
testing programmes be implemented to contain their spread.

US. See comments below on US treasury yields.
EU. The ECB joined with the Fed by also announcing on 16th December that it will be reducing its QE
purchases - by half from October 2022, i.e., it will still be providing significant stimulus via QE
purchases during the first half of 2022. Although headline inflation reached 4.9% in November, over
half of that was due to energy but oil and gas prices are expected to fall sharply after the winter. As

Page 2 of 3

195
Appendix
overall inflation will fall back sharply during 2022, it is likely that the ECB will leave its central rate
below zero, (currently -0.50%), over the next two years. The main struggle that the ECB has had in
recent years is that inflation has been doggedly anaemic in sticking below its target rate of 2% despite
all the ECB’s major programmes of monetary easing by cutting rates into negative territory and
providing QE support.
China. The pace of economic growth has now fallen back after the initial surge of recovery from the
pandemic and China has been struggling to contain the spread of the Delta variant through using
sharp local lockdowns - which depress economic growth. However, with Omicron having now spread
to China and being much more easily transmissible, this strategy of sharp local lockdowns to stop the
virus may not prove so successful in future; this strategy poses a potential renewed threat to world
supply chains. The People’s Bank of China made a start in December 2021 on cutting its key interest
rate to encourage flagging economic growth.
Japan. 2021 has been a patchy year in combating Covid. However, recent business surveys indicate
that the economy is rebounding rapidly now that the bulk of the population is fully vaccinated, and
new virus cases have plunged. However, Omicron could reverse the success of 2021 in combating
Covid. The Bank of Japan is continuing its very loose monetary policy but with little prospect of getting
inflation back above 1% towards its target of 2%, any time soon.
World growth. World growth was in recession in 2020 but recovered during 2021 until starting to
lose momentum more recently. Inflation has been rising due to increases in gas and electricity prices,
shipping costs and supply shortages, although these should subside during 2022. It is likely that we
are heading into a period where there will be a reversal of world globalisation and a decoupling of
western countries from dependence on China to supply products, and vice versa. This is likely to
reduce world growth rates from those in prior decades.

Page 3 of 3

This page is intentionally left blank

